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Foreword from the Clinical Chair 
and Accountable Officer 
 
Welcome to the NHS Hastings and Rother Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG) 
Annual Report 2018/19, which provides a comprehensive overview of our 
performance, progress, and challenges during the last twelve months. 
 
Our CCG has experienced some important challenges and changes during 2018/19. 
After four years of delivering a required financial surplus, we faced a challenging 
financial position, ending 2017/18 with a combined financial deficit of £37m with our 
partners in NHS Eastbourne, Hailsham and Seaford CCG. As a consequence, and in 
line with regulatory frameworks, NHS England published legal directions for both 
CCGs in July 2018. 
 
Since then we have been working very hard, with the valued support of NHS 
England and other partners, to develop and implement a recovery plan that will help 
us address the CCGs’ financial deficit, and make sure we build on the 
many successes we have achieved locally so far. We’re making good progress in 
bringing things back on track and are on course to meet our financial targets. We will 
continue our efforts to make improvements in services for the people of East Sussex 
in a way that makes the very best use of available resources.   
 
The CCG has also benefitted from working much more closely with our CCG 
partners across Sussex on larger scale projects such as Clinically Effective 
Commissioning (where we have been working together to review and standardise 
non-emergency treatments and procedures available to patients across the area and 
address the issue, often referred to as a “postcode lottery”, where some patients are 
not receiving treatment when they should purely because of where they live, while 
others receive NHS-funded procedures that offer little or no clinical benefit). 
 
This collaborative working has been enhanced by shared leadership across the eight 
CCGs in Sussex and East Surrey over the last twelve months. This is helping us to 
work more effectively and efficiently as commissioners across our wider system to 
ensure our patients and populations receive care in a more joined-up and improved 
way. 
 
We continue to work closely with our local GPs to support them in delivering the safe 
and high quality healthcare services that local people need, while also investing in 
services that are delivered in the community such as One You East Sussex. This 
integrated lifestyle service continues to change behaviour and has seen real 
success, alongside other innovative projects to support healthy lifestyles.  
In addition, our Healthy Hastings and Rother programme continues to make a real 
difference to some of our most deprived communities, tackling health inequalities by 
improving local services and supporting people to live healthy and happy lives. 
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As we come to the end of 2018/19, we are looking forward to the year ahead and the 
opportunities for our CCG, for the health and care system, and for our local 
population. Our CCG has worked very hard to make improvements over the last 
twelve months, and we will continue this development over the coming year to 
ensure we continue to meet the needs of our local communities.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Dr David Warden Adam Doyle 
Clinical Chair  Chief Executive Officer 
NHS Hastings and Rother Sussex and East Surrey 
Clinical Commissioning Group Clinical Commissioning Groups  
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Section 1:  Performance Report 
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Who we are and what we do 

 
This performance report provides a comprehensive overview of the work of NHS 
Hastings and Rother CCG and an analysis of our performance during the year and 
our position at year end. It also describes how we have identified the risks and 
uncertainties facing the CCG and how we have managed them. 
 
NHS Hastings and Rother Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG) is responsible for 
planning and buying (‘commissioning’) healthcare services for local people. 
 
The CCG is a membership organisation made up of 23 GP practices and is 
responsible for the health and wellbeing of more than 187,000 people. 
 
We have a leadership team of doctors, hospital consultants and nurses who are 
working alongside an experienced management team to make sure that services are 
providing the best possible care for local people. Each year we are allocated 
government money to spend on behalf of our population and our purpose is to 
improve the health of the people living in Hastings and Rother and the surrounding 
area, and to make sure people have the services they need. 
 
As well as planning and buying services we also monitor the quality of many local 
NHS services. This includes the care and treatment people may need in hospital and 
in the community such as prescribing, mental health services, and services for 
people living with learning disabilities. 
 
We are committed to ensuring that our public, patients and carers are at the heart of 
what we do. We aim to be an organisation that takes account of their views and 
experiences and use what we have heard to inform our plans and influence our 
commissioning of local health services. 
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Our partnership working 
 
Our CCG has worked closely with its neighbour, NHS Eastbourne, Hailsham and 
Seaford CCG, since clinical commissioning groups were created in 2013. Since then, 
we have been able to share good practice with each other, most noticeably through 
the Healthy Hastings and Rother programme. Learning from the programme around 
initiatives such as social prescribing are now helping to improve and shape services 
in NHS Hastings and Rother CCG. 
 
Joining up health and care brings many benefits for local people – not least making 
services easier and simpler to access – and our East Sussex Better Together 
(ESBT) Alliance continues to lead the way through its integration programmes.  This 
involved NHS Hastings and Rother CCG, NHS Eastbourne, Hailsham and Seaford 
CCG, East Sussex Healthcare NHS Trust, East Sussex County Council and 
associate partner Sussex Partnership NHS Foundation Trust. We work very closely 
with GP practices, providers in the independent care sector and voluntary sector, 
local people, patients and carers. 
 
ESBT has made great progress in breaking down barriers between health and care 
to deliver the right services, in the right places, at the right time, which has improved 
the quality of care and experiences for local people.  
 
This means that more treatment, care and support is now being delivered in the 
community, alleviating pressure on our hospitals and freeing them up to concentrate 
on providing the specialist, urgent and emergency services which they are best 
placed to do. 
 
With an increasing and ageing population, and pockets of health inequality and 
deprivation in our CCG areas, there is still much to do, making the work of ESBT 
even more important than ever. Going forward, we will continue to monitor and 
develop our established projects, initiatives and services, and we will also work on 
new ideas to further improve the health and wellbeing of local people right across 
East Sussex. 
 
The CCG’s main provider organisations are: 
 

• Brighton and Sussex University Hospitals NHS Trust (BSUH) Provides 
some general and specialist hospital services for our population 

• East Sussex Healthcare NHS Trust (ESHT) The main provider of hospital 
and community services for our population 

• Integrated Care 24 (IC24) Providers of our Out Of Hours GP services and 
Walk-in Centres 

• Patient Transport Service (PTS) – South Central Ambulance NHS 
Foundation Trust (SCAS) This service is provided by SCAS to the residents 
of East Sussex, offering free, non-emergency transport for people who cannot 
use public or other transport to get to their appointments owing to medical 
conditions 

• Primary Care Providers Our GP practices 
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• South East Coast Ambulance Service NHS Foundation Trust (SECAmb) 
Provides 999 services for our population, and 

• Sussex Partnership NHS Foundation Trust (SPFT) The main provider of 
mental health services for our population. 

 

 

 
  

1.8m 
People 

8 
CCGs 

£2.7bn 
Healthcare 

spend 
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Sussex and East Surrey Sustainability and 
Transformation Partnership (STP) 
 
The CCG is part of the Sussex and East Surrey Sustainability and Transformation 
Partnership (STP) and our local plans support the wider aims to improve health and 
social care services for our local populations. 
 
The STP is made up of 24 organisations including CCGs, local authorities, hospitals, 
and mental health and community trusts. By working together we have the 
opportunity to ensure services remain sustainable and can cope with future 
challenges. Adam Doyle has been appointed as Chief Executive Officer for the STP 
to support this collaborative working approach.  
 
The STP is a partnership within which there are different ‘place-based’ plans that 
focus on places and populations. The aim of these plans is to create new ways of 
working that will bring hospital, community, mental health, social care, and GP 
services closer together and bring care closer to people’s homes. 
 
The publication by NHS England of the NHS Long Term Plan in January 2019 
represents an opportunity to build on the integrated and collaborative work that the 
STP has achieved so far. The NHS Long Term Plan sets the target of having 
Integrated Care Systems (ICS) across the country by 2021 and our STP will be 
working towards achieving this aim. Becoming an ICS will allow health and care 
organisations to work more closely as a ‘system’ and to look at commissioning and 
providing services for populations more effectively. The CCGs across the STP will 
play an integral part in shaping how our health and care system will work in the 
future and the progress we have already made over the last year in working closer 
with our partner CCGs has laid strong foundations for us to build upon.  
 
Following the publication of the NHS Long Term Plan, all STPs 
across the country have been asked to set out how the national 
plan will work across local systems.  To help develop this local 
plan doctors, specialists, and clinicians came together from 
across Sussex and East Surrey during the year to develop a 
Population Health Check. They looked at clinical evidence, 
patient experience, and local knowledge and have provided a 
diagnosis of what needs to change from their expert point of 
view.   
 
The Population Health Check was published in January 2019. 
A period of engagement has taken place with the public, 
patients, staff, carers, volunteers, and other stakeholders 
to get their views and experiences. This engagement 
exercise was called ‘Our Health and Care…Our Future’ 
and it will inform and influence the local STP plan. 
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Looking forward to the year ahead 
 
The NHS Long Term Plan, published in 
January 2019, outlined how the NHS will 
change in the future. Most notably it sets the 
target of having Integrated Care Systems 
(ICSs) covering the whole country by April 
2021 which will involve a fundamental shift in 
how CCGs will work and how future 
commissioning will be done. 
 
The formation of ICSs aims to build on the 
work that has already been established 
across the country through Sustainability and 
Transformation Partnerships (STP). They will involve NHS organisations, in 
partnership with local councils, taking a collective responsibility for managing 
resources, delivering NHS standards, and improving the health of the populations 
they serve.  
 
Along with the formation of ICSs, the Long Term Plan also sets out the future 
formation of Integrated Care Partnerships (ICPs) and Primary Care Networks 
(PCNs). Both represent a transformation of how health and care services will be 
provided and will also involve some commissioning requirements at a more local 
level.  
 
Integrated Care Partnerships will be alliances of NHS providers that work together 
alongside local authorities and the third sector to provide care for populations of 
around 250,000 to 500,000 people. To support the formation of an ICP a new 
contract will be made available from this year that will allow the contractual 
integration of primary medical services with other services.  
 
Primary Care Networks will involve GP practices and community teams working 
together to serve communities of around 30,000 to 50,000. They will involve 
multidisciplinary teams with a range of staff such as GPs, pharmacists, district 
nurses, dementia workers, physiotherapists, and social care and the voluntary sector 
workers.  
 
It is recognised that the future of commissioning needs to focus on Population 
Health. This is a term used to describe the health outcomes and needs of a defined 
group of people and involves having a focus on reducing variation and inequality of 
care for people living across an area. 
 
To be able to commission for population health, it is recognised that there needs to 
be a joined-up approach between NHS organisations and partners, particularly local 
authorities. We will, therefore, be looking at how we can best commission in this way 
for our populations over the coming year.  
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Our local population 
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Performance Overview:  
A year in the life of the CCG 
 

This section of the Annual Report provides our Chief Executive Officer’s 
perspective on the performance of the CCG over the last twelve months. It 
includes information about the CCG, our main objectives and strategies, the 
principal risks that we face, and how we have performed during the year. 

 

Performance summary 
 
NHS Hastings and Rother CCG is measured against national and local health 
priorities to ensure patients are receiving a high standard of care within key services. 
We are continuously assessed by the Department of Health and Social Care and 
NHS England on a number of financial and performance measures within various 
national standards and frameworks. These include the NHS Constitution and the 
NHS England Improvement and Assessment Framework (IAF) which rates CCGs on 
key areas.  
 
In summer 2018 the CCG received a rating of ‘Inadequate’ against the IAF which 
was due to the performance of key services and the finances of the organisation. 
 
The CCG (along with NHS Eastbourne, Hailsham and Seaford CCG) is the lead 
Commissioner for East Sussex Healthcare NHS Trust (ESHT), with its two main 
general hospitals being within the NHS Eastbourne, Hailsham and Seaford CCG 
area and NHS Hastings and Rother CCG area.  NHS Hastings and Rother CCG, 
therefore, works closely with the Trust on their performance. 
 
Accident & Emergency Department 
Performance at ESHT had maintained a consistent level of performance up to and 
including December 2018, and showed a marked improvement in performance 
compared to the same time in 2017.  However, in keeping with seasonal trends, in 
January 2019 and February 2019 performance has dropped, with both months 
experiencing higher volumes of patient activity and patient flow through the hospital. 
ESHT are reporting a 9% increase in A&E attendances (year to date) and non-
elective spells are up 10.4% (year to date).  
 
February 2019 performance finished at 83.80% against a target of 95%.  There has 
been a huge amount of work undertaken across the health and social care system to 
improve the position and there has been a marked improvement in March 2019 
(although the final performance position has yet to be validated).  Over all, 
performance has improved by 1.9% compared to the same time last year. 
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Delayed Transfers of Care 
As part of the patient flow performance, Delayed Transfers of Care (DToCs) are 
closely monitored, with the local system working to a target of keeping DToCs under 
3.5%.  In line with the increase in A&E activity and reduction in A&E performance, 
DToCs were above the expected target of 3.5% in February 2019, at 4.9%.  The 
Operational Executive team continue to meet on a very regular basis each week to 
review and agree actions to mitigate risks and improve performance. 

 
Referral to Treatment (RTT) 
Referral to Treatment (RTT) has maintained a steady state during 2018/19 and East 
Sussex Healthcare Trust’s waiting list has reduced overall to an agreed level.  
February 2019’s position was at 91.1% (target 92%). 

 
Improving Access to Psychological Therapies (IAPT) also has an RTT target and this 
has been consistently met throughout 2018/19, as has the RTT target for Early 
Intervention in Psychosis (EIP).   

 
The national standard for the delivery of dementia diagnosis has seen an 
improvement and subsequent delivery in NHS Hastings and Rother CCG, which now 
appears to be a maintained position. 
 
Cancer 
Performance overall at ESHT has found meeting the 62 day standard challenging for 
a number of reasons.  January 2019’s performance was at 72.9% (target 85%). 
However, it must be noted that this performance is a 7.4% improvement on the same 
time in 2018.  Historically performance decreases in January as a result of the 
impact of Christmas and New Year and the delays that result in the pathways being 
pushed into January (and February).  Performance was still above the Trust recovery 
trajectory. 
 
The CCG and ESHT are working together on a recovery plan, which will see the 
Trust delivering against the 62 day standard 
 
Diagnostics 
ESHT has met this standard for the last four months, with February 2019’s 
performance at 0.4%.  Work continues on sustaining this position. 
 
More information on the CCG’s performance can be found on MyNHS 
https://www.nhs.uk/service-search/Performance/Search.  
 

Key issues and risks 
 
Risk Management is integral to the organisation’s philosophy and the identification, 
assessment and treatment of risk is the responsibility for staff at all levels of the 
organisation. 
 
The key risks and control issues that posed threats to NHS Hastings and Rother 
CCG’s objectives are set out in detail within the Accountability Report.  

https://www.nhs.uk/service-search/Performance/Search
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Going concern  
 
The annual accounts have been prepared on the going concern basis. 
 
Public sector bodies are assumed to be going concerns where the continuation of 
the provision of a service in the future is anticipated, as evidenced by inclusion of 
financial provision for that service in published documents. There is no evidence that 
that services provided by NHS Hastings and Rother CCG will cease in the future. 
The CCG has been given notification of a five year allocation, which is fixed to 
2018/19 and indicative for the two following years and, in addition, has an operating 
plan agreed by NHS England, which provides evidence that ‘going concern’ is an 
appropriate basis for the preparation of financial statements 
 
Where a clinical commissioning group ceases to exist, it considers whether or not its 
services will continue to be provided (using the same assets, by another public 
sector entity) in determining whether to use the concept of going concern for the final 
set of Financial Statements.  If services will continue to be provided the financial 
statements are prepared on the going concern basis. 
 
The CCG works closely with NHS Eastbourne, Hailsham and Seaford CCG, NHS 
Coastal West Sussex CCG and the commissioning alliance of NHS Crawley CCG, 
NHS Horsham and Mid Sussex CCG, NHS East Surrey CCG and NHS Brighton and 
Hove CCG.  Therefore, as we enter 2019/20 it is likely that we will seek greater 
alignment of our commissioning arrangements to support population health. 
 
In addition, the CCG has identified no threats to operational stability, from finance or 
income that has not yet been approved, and services will continue to be provided, 
which supports preparing the financial statements on a going concern basis. 
 

Financial summary 
 

Our financial performance for 2018/19 is set 
out in the annual accounts. In summary the 
CCG delivered a £0.165m surplus position 
against allocation after receiving 
Commissioner Sustainability Funding (CSF) 
of £11.986m.  
 
A number of factors contributed to the pre-
CSF £20m deficit position in 2018/19. Key 
drivers were the continuation of the 
increased pressure on local acute and 

mental health services which more than offset the demand management initiatives 
that were implemented. The CCG also saw pressure on primary care prescribing 
costs as a result of national sourcing issues. 
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In response to the financial deficit in 2017/18 NHS England placed the CCG under 
legal directions in July 2018. The legal directions required the CCG to undertake a 
number of reviews, produce action plans for governance, capacity and capability and 
a system financial recovery plan.  
 
The System Financial Recovery Plan was developed with East Sussex Healthcare 
NHS Trust (ESHT) and based on a thorough and comprehensive financial 
diagnostic. It sits within the context of a shared system ambition to deliver 
sustainable integrated health and care services for the local population. The plan 
returns the system to financial balance by 2022/23. 
 
To support the transformation agenda the CCG is implementing a different approach 
to contracting with its main providers by shifting the focus away from transactional 
payment by results towards a more collaborative approach to reducing overall 
system costs. 
 
The Governing Body notes that the underlying position indicates on-going risk 
because the CCG will start the 2019/20 financial year with a forecast underlying 
deficit for the year before CSF. 
 
The chart below shows how the £323.2m expenditure was shared across the 
services that the CCG commissioned in 2018/19. 
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CCG’s Net Expenditure 2018/19 (£m) 

NHS Hastings and Rother CCG will receive £18.7m growth in 2019/20. Demand 
growth and cost pressures for 2019/20, plus the requirement of the CCG to 
contribute £14m to the Better Care Fund (BCF), means that a net savings target of 
£12.2m is required to deliver a control total deficit of £8.6m. 
 
In keeping with relevant principles of the provider financial framework, the CSF 
allocation for all eligible CCGs has been capped at 4% of allocation for 2019/20. The 
CCG will therefore be eligible for £8.6m Commissioner Sustainability Funding. 
 
The CCG will contribute £14m to the Better Care Fund (BCF), the purpose of which 
is to improve the experience and outcomes of people who use our services by 
integrating health and social care to meet the needs of our population in an 
integrated, joined up way.  
 
From 1 April 2016, the Section 75 BCF pooled budget has operated between NHS 
Hastings and Rother CCG, NHS Eastbourne, Hailsham and Seaford CCG, and East 
Sussex County Council. The ESBT Programme Board reports to the East Sussex 
Health and Wellbeing Board (HWB), which receives updates on health and social 
care transformation through reports on the ESBT programme, including, when 
appropriate, details about the BCF. The pooled budgets are approved by the HWB 
and national reporting of the BCF is via HWB areas, so information is combined with 
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£27.0
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the NHS High Weald, Lewes Havens CCG Section 75 BCF pooled budget to meet 
reporting requirements. 
 
For 2017/19, there are four national conditions in the BCF: 
 

• Plans to be jointly agreed 
• NHS contribution to Adult Social Care is maintained in line with inflation;  
• Agreement to invest in NHS commissioned out-of-hospital services, which 

may include seven-day services and Adult Social Care, and  
• Managing Transfers of Care (a new condition to ensure people’s care). 

 
Ensuring financial recovery  
The CCG has been notified of a £18.7m (6%) increase in allocation in 2019/20 but 
will still need to deliver challenging and significant efficiency programmes to release 
funding for anticipated growth in demand for acute services, and to invest to deliver 
the transformational changes set out in the NHS Long Term Plan.  
 
The CCG has been notified of its 2019/20 control total which is a deficit of £8.6m 
before CSF. This represents a reduced deficit of £3.4m compared to 2018/19 and is 
broadly in line with the Financial Recovery Plan trajectory. The CCG Commissioner 
Sustainability Funding available is £8.6m. 
 
The financial plans are consistent with the notified control total and national planning 
guidance and contain broad assumptions about levels of future activity growth. 
Efficiency schemes of c£12.2m (3.8%) need to be delivered in 2019/20 to meet the 
control total. 
 
  



18    ANNUAL REPORT 2018/19 | NHS Hastings and Rother Clinical Commissioning Group 

Our savings plan 
To identify the 2019/20 schemes the CCGs are working in close collaboration with 
health and social care partners as part of the East Sussex Health and Care 
Transformation Programme. Shared efficiency schemes are in development across 
three joint work streams underpinned by robust governance and new ways of 
working.  
  
In addition the CCGs have well-developed plans to continue to build on the success 
of Medicines Optimisation such as changes to diabetic medication linked to the wider 
diabetes pathway transformation, improving Continuing Healthcare reviews, and 
savings with other providers. Our plans to reduce corporate costs to deliver the 
national headline 20% reduction by 2020/21 are also in development.  
  
We have also identified opportunities to tackle unwarranted clinical variation which 
are supported by national benchmarking data and these schemes have the support 
of the broader health system. 
  
We will focus further on identifying and delivering savings by only commissioning 
proven and cost-effective services. Nationally recognised evidence-based 
interventions will be incorporated within 2019/20 contracts and clinically-led panels 
will review any evidence published for further changes in commissioned services. 
  
In developing our savings plans we aim to:  
 

• Eliminate waste and duplication 
• Ensure delivery of quality and innovation plans addressing demand and 

capacity, and 
• Ensure our contracting process is efficient and effective and aligns incentives 

across the system.  
  
We will also put in place new ways of commissioning and paying for services that will 
incentivise improved outcomes for patients at an affordable cost. It is recognised that 
where commissioners and providers have agreed to move away from transaction 
contracting models, there is an opportunity to develop a transformation programme 
that focusses on active shifts and improved pathways of care for patients whilst 
seeking to reduce costs to the whole health system.  
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Performance Analysis: 
A year in Performance 
 

This section of the Annual Report provides a more detailed performance analysis 
and reports on key performance measures and how the CCG checks itself against 
them.  The section is structured to cover our key activities into: 

• A year in performance 
• A year in quality and safety 
• A year in commissioning: our programmes 
• Engaging people and communities 
• Reducing health inequalities 
• Health and wellbeing strategy. 

 

How the CCG measures performance 
 
NHS Hastings and Rother CCG monitors performance through a monthly Integrated 
Performance and Quality Report. This comprehensive report has been developed in 
line with the CCG’s ambition to create a health intelligence system to ensure that 
timely, accurate and appropriate information is available to all relevant staff that will: 
 

• Support the CCG in delivering its constitutional requirements 
• Provide an appropriate assurance framework to serve internal and external 

performance management regimes, and  
• Inform how the CCG commissions and delivers services by understanding 

about the health (and social) care needs and wants of patients and their 
experience of the services they use. 

 
The report acts as the intelligent tool that drives the way we commission, contract 
manage, improve, and sustain performance.  The tool also supports the CCG to 
deliver value for money and work within its defined financial envelope. The report 
summarises performance against the key areas outlined below and forms the basis 
of NHS England assurance:  
 

• CCG Operating Plan 
• Continuing Healthcare 
• Digital Targets 
• Improvement and Assessment Framework (IAF) 
• NHS Constitution 
• NHS Outcomes Framework, and 
• Quality and Patient Safety. 

 
The Integrated Contracting Performance and Quality Report also publishes local 
contractual key performance indicators for our main providers as well as any other 
exceptional risks or issues at other providers.  
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The bringing together of information, actions and risks allows the CCG to utilise this 
report at an operational level through the Local Management Team Meetings, Joint 
Management Team Meetings (Sussex and East Surrey Commissioners) and as an 
assurance tool through the monthly Performance and Delivery Committee, Quality 
and Governance Committee and the Governing Body.  
 

CCG performance rating 
 
The Improvement and Assessment Framework (IAF) was introduced by NHS 
England in 2014. It provides a framework of measures against which CCGs are 
assessed. 
 
Six areas were identified by NHS England and Public Health England as clinical 
priorities. They are listed in the table below along with the current rating for NHS 
Hastings and Rother CCG. This rating is based on published data (a number of 
measures are issued annually and a number of them are three year rolling averages 
such as the infant mortality figures). 
 
IAF Ratings 2017/18 

  
NHS Hastings and Rother CCG 

Cancer 2017/18 Inadequate 

Mental health 2017/18 Requires Improvement 

Dementia 2017/18 Inadequate 

Diabetes 2017/18 Requires Improvement 

Learning disabilities 2017/18 Requires Improvement 

Maternity 2017/18 Requires Improvement 
 
Each of the clinical priority areas are included in the Integrated Performance, 
Contracting, and Quality Report and scrutinised as part of the performance 
governance process described above.  
 
NHS Constitution  
The NHS Constitution establishes the principles and values of the NHS in England; it 
sets out the legal rights of patients, the public, and staff and further pledges that the 
NHS is committed to achieving these. It also sets out the responsibilities of public, 
patients and staff. There are a number of core standards against which we are 
measured which are shown in the next table. 
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Current Performance against NHS Constitution Standards 
 

Measure Target/ 
Threshold 

NHS HR 
CCG 

Period of 
performance 

reported 

RTT and Diagnosis 

RTT 18 weeks incomplete >= 92.0% 90.3% Mar-19 

RTT 52+ week waiters 0 1 Mar-19 

Diagnostic 6 weeks <= 1.0% 0.6% Mar-19 

Cancer Access 

Cancer – 2 Week Wait >= 93.0% 96.1% Mar-19 

Cancer - 2 Week Wait (Breast) >= 93.0% 94.9% Mar-19 

Cancer - 31 Day First Treatment >= 96.0% 98.2% Mar-19 

Cancer - 31 Day Surgery >= 94.0% 97.1% Mar-19 

Cancer - 31 Day Drugs >= 98.0% 100.0% Mar-19 

Cancer - 31 Day Radiotherapy >= 94.0% 96.7% Mar-19 

Cancer - 62 Day GP Referral >= 85.0% 77.2% Mar-19 

Cancer - 62 Day Screening >= 90.0% 69.2% Mar-19 

Cancer - 62 Day Upgrade >= 86.0% 83.3% Mar-19 

Mental Health and Dementia 

CPA 7 day follow-up >= 95.0% 97.5% Q4 18/19 

Dementia Estimated Diagnosis Rate >= 66.7% 69.1% Mar-19 

IAPT roll-out >= 4.2% 4.1% Rolling 3m  
(to Feb19) 

IAPT Recovery >= 50% 47.5% Rolling 3m  
(to Feb19) 

IAPT Waiting Times - 6 Weeks >= 75% 86.1% Feb-19 

IAPT Waiting Times - 18 Weeks >= 95% 97.2% Feb-19 

Psychosis treated within two weeks 
of referral >= 53% 100.0% Mar-19 

Improve access rate to CYPMH >= 32% 29.6% 18/19 YTD 
(to Feb19) 
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Measure Target/ 
Threshold 

NHS HR 
CCG 

Period of 
performance 

reported 

Routine Referrals to CYP EDS (4 
Weeks) 

95% by 
2020 n/a Q4 18/19 

Urgent Referrals to CYP EDS (1 
Week) 

95% by 
2020 n/a Q4 18/19 

Urgent Care (provider - ESHT) 

A&E 4hrs excluding mapped >= 95.0% 93.1% Mar-19 

A&E 4hrs including mapped >= 95.0% 94.7% Mar-19 

A&E 12hrs waiters 0 0 Mar-19 

DToC bed days as a % of occupied 
beds <=3.5% 5.3% Feb-19 

 
There are a number of NHS Constitutional targets where the CCG has not achieved 
the required standards. These are described in the sections below.  
 
Four-hour Accident & Emergency (A&E) Standard 
The NHS Constitution standard states that 95 per cent of patients should be seen 
and either treated and discharged or admitted within a maximum four hours of arrival 
in A&E. 
 
Whilst this measure focusses on time spent in A&E, it is an excellent indicator of 
performance across a hospital. This is because where it is achieved it indicates good 
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ESHT percentage in 4 hours or less 
(Trust total - before mapping)

National Standard Percentage in 4 hours or less
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patient flow, bed management, and timely discharge. This target is the primary 
indicator used to assess and report the performance of a trust in the national 
performance tables. 
 
Performance at East Sussex Healthcare NHS Trust (ESHT) had maintained a 
consistent level up to and including December 2018, and showed a marked 
improvement compared to the same time in 2017.  However, in keeping with 
seasonal trends, January 2019 and February 2019 performance has dropped, with 
both months experiencing higher volumes of patient activity and patient flow through 
the hospital being more challenging.  ESHT are reporting a 9% increase in A&E 
attendances (year to date) and non-elective spells are up 10.4% (year to date).  
 
February 2019 performance finished at 83.80% (the target being 95%).  There has 
been a huge amount of work undertaken across the health and social care system to 
improve the position and there has been a marked improvement in March 2019 
(although the final performance position has yet to be validated).  Over all, 
performance has improved by 1.9% compared to the same time last year. 
 
Referral to Treatment (RTT) 
The NHS Constitution states that 92% of patients should wait no longer than 18 
weeks from a GP referral to starting treatment. This is known as the 18 week RTT 
standard and it has not been met locally during the last twelve months.  

 
Whilst East Sussex Healthcare NHS Trust (ESHT) have shown improvement in their 
performance, the above NHS Hastings and Rother CCG performance includes all 
providers.  Brighton Sussex University Hospital Trust (BSUH) has consistently 
struggled to meet their targets and this has had a negative impact on the CCG’s 
aggregated position.  The CCG is working with neighbouring Lead Commissioner 
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NHS Hastings and Rother CCG
percentage incomplete within 18 weeks

National Standard Percentage incomplete within 18 weeks
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colleagues to better understand the performance challenges and to ensure there are 
plans in place to address the issues and enable improvements.  This work is 
undertaken via the CCG’s contractual processes. 
 
Diagnostic waiting times 
The diagnostic waiting time standard states that no more than 1% of patients should 
wait longer than six weeks for a diagnostic test.  

 

 
 

Cancer Access 
The NHS Constitution standards for cancer treatment are: 
 

• Patients should be seen by a specialist doctor within two weeks of a referral 
by their GP for suspected cancer 

• Patients should be seen within 31 days from when a decision is made to treat, 
and 

• Patients should be seen within 62 days from an urgent referral to the first 
definitive treatment for all cancers. 
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percentage diagnostics waits  >6 weeks
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Performance overall at ESHT has found meeting the 62 day standard challenging for 
a number of reasons.  January 2019’s performance was at 72.9% (target 85%). 
However, it must be noted that this performance is a 7.4% improvement on the same 
time in 2018.  Historically performance decreases in January as a result of the 
impact of Christmas and New Year and the delays that result in the pathways being 
pushed into January (and February).  Performance was still above the Trust recovery 
trajectory. 
 
The CCG and ESHT are working together on a recovery plan, which will see the 
Trust delivering against the 62 day standard 
 
As with RTT and Diagnostics – BSUH are also facing challenges in delivering this 
standard.  The CCG is working with the BSUH lead Commissioner on understanding 
the issues and the actions in place to recover their position. 
  
Mental Health Access Targets 
Sussex Partnership Trust 
NHS Hastings and Rother CCG is party to the Sussex-wide contract with Sussex 
Partnership Foundation Trust (SPFT) for the provision of specialist Mental Health 
services in 2018/19.  
 
The most recent CQC published inspection report into the Trust is dated January 
2018 when improvements were acknowledged and the Trust was awarded an overall 
rating of “Good” and “Outstanding” for caring for patients. 
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As a Foundation Trust, SPFT is obliged to meet standards set both by the NHS 
Constitution and by NHS Improvement. These standards include:  
 

• Patient follow-up within seven days of discharge from in-patient care 
• Home-treatment team-based gate-keeping of access to in-patient beds 
• Prevention of avoidable admissions 
• Effective evidence-based treatment provision for first episodes of psychosis, 

and  
• Annual reviews of all patients on case-loads managed under the Care 

Programme Approach. 
 
The trust is continuing to work well in achieving these standards and develop and 
implement action plans to address areas where and when further improvement is 
required. Other mental health services include psychological therapies for people 
with common mental health problems such as anxiety and depression, for which new 
waiting time standards were introduced and met in 2018/19. Similarly the aim of 
diagnosing at least two-thirds of those with dementia in our population was achieved 
this year. 
 
The following charts show the CCG’s performance for Improving Access to 
Psychological Therapies (IAPT). 
 
 

 
Third sector organisations also provide important mental health services which 
promote and support greater independence including through employment. These 
were further expanded in 2018/19 with the introduction of a crisis café and services 
for people with personality disorders.  
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All providers are required to have arrangements in place to engage their service 
users in how services are developed and delivered. Through CCG funded facilitation 
of such engagement processes, a thriving Mental Health Action Group has been 
established which invites all local stakeholders to three events per year at which 
performance and priorities for services are discussed and fed back in to 
commissioning cycles.  
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A year in quality and safety 
 
The delivery of high quality care is at the centre of NHS Hastings and Rother CCG’s 
Vision and Values. We are dedicated to ensuring all commissioned services, on 
behalf of the resident populations, are of the highest quality, are delivered with 
respect and compassion and provide a positive patient experience. 
 
During 2018/19, to continue to ensure that quality, safety and safeguarding are at the 
forefront of the development of new services and to provide robust assurance of our 
patient services, the CCG Quality teams across the Sussex and East Surrey 
Sustainability and Transformation Partnership (STP) area have been aligned as one 
team lead by the Chief Nurse.  
 
The alignment of these teams will enable our staff to use their extensive clinical 
knowledge and skills to influence providers and inform the commissioning cycle.  
 
This quality report describes the key responsibilities and work which has delivered 
improvements to quality and safety and outcomes for our population.  
 

Quality improvement 
 
Our vision for NHS Hastings and Rother CCG has always been to reach out to the 
communities we care for and our patient experience lay members have been 
reaching out to engage actively with the local communities. 
 
The main NHS organisations providing services to CCG residents in 2018/19 were: 
 

• Brighton and Sussex University Hospitals NHS Trust (BSUH) 
• East Sussex Healthcare NHS Trust (ESHT) 
• Maidstone and Tunbridge Wells NHS Trust (MTW) 
• Sussex Partnership NHS Foundation Trust (SPFT), and 
• South East Coast Ambulance Service NHS Foundation Trust (SECAmb). 

 
NHS Hastings and Rother CCG also supports other health and social organisations 
such as independent providers and care / residential homes to improve the quality 
and safety of the care delivered to our population. In 2018/19 the CCG has 
continued to work with external regulators to monitor improvement across all 
organisations.  
 
Please note: Where it is not the Lead Commissioner, the CCG works closely with 
neighbouring CCGs to monitor performance and to ensure patients receive high 
quality care. NHS Hastings and Rother CCG is joint Lead Commissioner together 
with NHS Eastbourne, Hailsham and Seaford CCG for ESHT. 
 
The CCG is committed to the NHS England ‘Sign up to Safety’ campaign and 
continues to work with key stakeholders and support the Kent, Surrey and Sussex 
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(KSS) Patient Safety Collaborative (PSC) with the identified safety work streams, 
such as pressure damage and medication errors. 
 
Examples of activities and achievements this year in relation to the improvement of 
services provided to CCG residents include: 
 
“East Sussex Healthcare NHS Trust (ESHT) has focussed upon reducing avoidable 
mortality (that is, deaths from causes that are considered avoidable in the presence 
of timely and effective healthcare or public health interventions) within inpatient 
areas and has worked with Commissioners to help identify areas for improvement.   
 
This approach during 2018/19 has been successful and ESHT is no longer an outlier 
(far outside the normal range) for avoidable mortality when compared with similar 
organisations providing similar services.  There has been a significant improvement 
particularly in relation to sepsis. The trust has ensured that all staff, where required, 
have had training in sepsis and has implemented a range of improvement measures 
based upon the findings of both national audits and national guidance.  This area 
continues to be monitored closely by Commissioners in conjunction with the trust. 
 
East Sussex Healthcare NHS Trust (ESHT) 
ESHT have seen significant improvement in the following key areas which have 
been subject to assurance reviews via the CCG / trust monthly Clinical Quality 
Review Group (CQRG): 
 

• The Summary Hospital Mortality Indicator (SHMI) is now at the lowest 
recorded rate within the trust since its implementation 

• The trust has improved its position in relation to the identification of sepsis 
and as a result is no longer a negative mortality outlier in relation to the 
condition when compared with peer organisations 

• The trust complaints rate per 1,000 bed days has reduced significantly and 
the trust is no longer reporting a complaints backlog 

• The number of reported trust falls has continued to reduce during the 2018/19 
year with a corresponding reduction in the level of harm occurring to patients  

• The trust has seen an improvement in relation to maternity services following 
the publication of the CQC national maternity survey (2018), and, 

• The trust has seen a significant improvement in its overall stroke performance 
in relation to the latest results published via the Stroke Sentinel National Audit 
Programme (SSNAP).  

 
The CCG continues to work with the trust to ensure that the services provided to 
residents to residents is of the highest possible standard.  For the 2019/20 year the 
CCG will work with the trust to ensure that: 
 

• Improvements noted above continue to be sustained 
• The quality of cancer services provided to patients is improved in relation to 

the 62 and 104 day treatment wait standards 
• The trust effectively implements the requirements of the “seven day service “ 

programme 
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• The provision of out of hours mental health provision via the trust Emergency 
Departments (EDs)  for vulnerable children and young people are redesigned 
with ESHT involvement on a system-wide basis 

• Infection control performance is improved to eradicate avoidable CDI and 
MRSA acquisitions, and 

• The improvement is identified in relation to the ED Friends and Family Test 
(FFT).  

 
NHS Hastings and Rother CCG General Practice 
The key points to note for the 2018/19 year include:  
 
• All CCG member GP practices have been rated as “good” by the end of the 

2018/19 year which is an improvement on the 2017/18 end of year position by the 
Care Quality Commission (CQC), other than the below: 

- Churchwood (rated inadequate), and 
- Hastings Old Town Surgery (rated inadequate) 

• A ‘primary care support matrix’ has been adopted by the CCG’s primary care 
commissioning committee as a tool to help identify any areas where support is 
needed.  This tool is based upon the principles of the Quality and Outcomes 
Framework (QOF), CQC assessment and GP patient surveys, and 

• The CCG Quality team continues to support GPs with improving Quality as 
required and providing expertise in preparation for CQC reviews.  

 
Serious Incidents (SIs) 
NHS Hastings and Rother CCG has a statutory responsibility for management of 
serious incidents reported by commissioned services.  This process is hosted by a 
Patient Safety Team based at NHS Brighton and Hove CCG and they provide 
oversight and effective management of serious incidents for all providers across 
Sussex and East Surrey CCGs.  
 
This includes holding a fortnightly serious incident scrutiny group, and in 2018/19 an 
internal audit of serious incident management gave a rating of ‘significant 
assurance’. The CCG has been given very positive feedback from external partners 
(including NHS England) on the robustness of the scrutiny process.  
 
The CCG has focussed in 2018/19 in providing more assurance that lessons learned 
have been embedded in practice following closure of SIs at the panel and will 
continue to focus on this in 2019/20 by ensuring this is a standard agenda item at 
contractual quality review meetings with providers. This STP approach to scrutiny of 
SIs also ensures any learning can be shared more widely across the provider 
landscape.  
 
The CCG has reported on a number of serious incidents declared across all 
providers commissioned by the CCG. The themes for NHS Hastings and Rother 
CCG are:  
 

• Apparent / actual / suspected self-inflicted harm 
• Diagnostic incident (including delayed diagnosis), and 
• Slips / trips / falls and treatment delay. 
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Infection prevention and control 
NHS Hastings and Rother CCG jointly with NHS 
Eastbourne, Hailsham and Seaford CCG and 
providers continue to have reduction targets for 
incidence of Clostridium difficile (C.dif) infections in 
2018/19.   
 
The CCGs have established forums where 
learning from community acquired and hospital 
acquired infections is shared, jointly understood as 
a whole system, and mitigated through improved 
practice, communications and clinical 
engagement. The net result has reduced the 
number of incidents. 

 
As part of the national drive to reduce gram-negative bacteraemia by 50% by 
2020/21 the CCGs have been developing local plans to reduce Escherichia coli (E. 
coli) bacteraemia within their place-based organisations. There remains a zero 
tolerance approach nationally and locally for methicillin resistant Staphylococcus 
aureus blood stream infections (MRSA BSI) which continue to be investigated by 
providers and CCGs. 
 
Primary and Community Care Workforce development 
The beginning of the year saw two key developments in primary and community care 
workforce. The first is an agreement to establish the Sussex and East Surrey (SES) 
Primary and Community Care Workforce Group. 
 
The purpose of the group will be to develop a SES primary and community care 
workforce plan by the autumn of 2019, agree an implementation plan that will be 
delivered locally and at scale by Community Education Provider Networks (CEPN); 
monitor progress and drive delivery.   
 
The second is a workshop which brought the CEPNs together to increase their 
awareness and understanding of how they can align with STP priorities and agree 
workforce areas to be delivered at a local level and at scale. 
 
At the workshop, the existing projects were mapped under the following headings:  
 

• Learning and training (e.g. leadership development work, training initiatives, 
training work to date across four areas) 

• Recruitment, retention and talent management (e.g. areas of work that 
support people in the first five years and last five years of career), and 

• Workforce planning and development (e.g. new roles development schemes). 
 
Patient experience 
NHS Hastings and Rother CCG takes complaints very seriously and the Accountable 
Officer for the CCG reviews and responds to complaints, ensuring that they are 
aware of the issues and wider learning.  The quality team ensures triangulation of 
information is shared across providers, commissioners and external stakeholders.  
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Safeguarding adults, children and looked after children 
The Sussex and East Surrey Sustainability and Transformation Partnerships (STP) 
wide safeguarding team holds statutory responsibilities in relation to safeguarding 
adults, children and looked after children within our local populations. The CCGs are 
committed to fulfilling our statutory responsibilities by seeking assurance around the 
safety and effectiveness of the services we commission.  
 
The work undertaken by the safeguarding team includes taking into account national 
changes, influencing local activity and developments and maintaining oversight of 
any actions being taken to mitigate any significant safeguarding risks.  
 
The safeguarding team have continued to 
develop processes to work as one aligned 
team across the STP area during 2018/19 
and significant progress has been made 
with the identified team objectives and the 
NHS England priorities. 
 
Key actions taken in 2018/19 

• An external review of the 
safeguarding processes and 
structure across Sussex has been 
undertaken; an action plan is in place to address the identified 
recommendations which will help inform the future improvements and 
transformation of the safeguarding systems for adults, children and looked 
after children 

• An audit was undertaken by NHS England of CCG compliance with statutory 
safeguarding duties. NHS England were fully assured that all statutory duties 
were being met and all the key lines of enquiry were RAG rated green 

• Increased provision of supervision for designated professionals has been put 
in place, and 

• Safeguarding stocktake feedback identified priorities for the safeguarding 
team including embedding safeguarding within the commissioning cycle, 
engaging primary care in safeguarding assurance and training and 
developing a recovery plan to enable initial health assessments for looked 
after children to be completed within 20 days.  
 

Key team priorities for 2018/19 
• Aligning the governance, processes and paperwork for safeguarding across 

the STP: a programme of work is currently being carried out to align business 
support processes, policies and paperwork 

• Development of a safeguarding dashboard to include data capture for adult 
and child safeguarding, across the STP: A working group made up of 
designated professionals are updating the standards and agreeing a data-set. 
The new safeguarding dashboard will form part of the assurance and data 
gathering from Quarter One, 2019/20 
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• Development and implementation of safeguarding standards across the care 
home sector: the standards have been agreed by CCGs across Kent, Sussex 
and Surrey and wider stakeholder engagement is due to take place; events 
will be arranged in each of the areas to roll out the standards, and 

• Standardising training across the STP, in terms of content, length, audience 
and levels (as per intercollegiate documents): standardised training will be 
rolled out across the STP from April 2019.  

 
NHS England priorities for 2018/19 
NHS Hastings and Rother CCG has maintained an average safeguarding training 
completion rate of 77% for staff completing both safeguarding adults and children 
training at all levels over the last year. There is a requirement to improve this figure 
as a priority.  

 
Summary of Planned Actions in the coming year 

• Domestic abuse learning events for primary care clinicians are due to be 
delivered by the end of May 2019 (NHS England funding) 

• Looked after children professionals away day and networking event planned 
to take place in Q1 to progress the looked after children agenda  

• Continue to address actions from external safeguarding review within the 
identified timescales  

• Continue to progress with the team priorities, and 
• Since the publication of the Working Together to Safeguard Children 2018 

guidance in July 2018, the CCGs have increased statutory responsibilities to 
make arrangements to work together with relevant agencies to safeguard and 
protect the welfare of children.  Work will continue to implement the reforms.  

 
Looked After Children 
The Statutory guidance for promoting the health of Looked After Children (LAC) 
(DOH, DfE 2015) states that: 
 

• “Local Authorities, CCGs, NHS England and Public Health England must 
cooperate to commission health services for all children in their area. 

• “CCGs and NHS England have a duty to cooperate with requests from local 
authorities to undertake health assessments and help them ensure support 
and services to looked-after children are provided without undue delay” 

 
The CCG is committed to improving services so that looked after children have 
access to consistent provision of quality assured services, which promotes the 
optimum health and wellbeing of the individual child and improves their health 
outcomes. 
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Improving care for people with learning disabilities   
In response to the Winterbourne Scandal in 2011, NHS England published Building 
the Right Support (BRS) and The New Service Model in October 2015, prescribing 
national guidance for the support and rights of people with learning disabilities. The 
programme was three years in length and ends in March 2019. The NHS Long Term 
Plan 2019 demonstrates an ongoing commitment to the programme’s principles and 
tackling wider health inequalities for people with learning disabilities and/or autism. 
The new assurance framework is under development within NHS England. 
 
We support the national ambition to transform the treatment, care and support 
available to people of all ages with a learning disability, autism or both so that they 
can lead longer, happier, healthier lives in homes not hospitals. As a result, we have 
committed to continuing the Transforming Care Programme until NHSE set 
trajectories (currently under review) are achieved and the model of care in the 
community can be demonstrated as robust in admission prevention via community 
interventions. 
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Summary of NHS Hastings and Rother CCG Performance January 2019 compared 
with January 2018  
 

Inpatient numbers 

Over the course of the past 12 months the total number of Transforming Care (TC) 
inpatients for NHS Hastings and Rother CCG has decreased from 16 to 15 
patients 

In January 2018 Hastings and Rother 
CCG had a total of 16 inpatients 

10 CCG inpatients 

6 Specialist Commissioned inpatients 

In January 2019 Hastings and Rother 
CCG had a total of 15 inpatients  

8 CCG inpatients 

7 Specialist Commissioned inpatients   

Care Treatment Reviews (CTR) 

The number of people who have been offered a Care Treatment Review has 
increased significantly over the course of the past 12 months, reflecting increased 
focus and targeted resource towards this initiative 

January 2018 
38% of CCG inpatients had a CTR 

45% of SC inpatients had a CTR 

January 2019 
100% of CCG inpatients had a CTR 

71% of SC inpatients had a CTR 

Annual Health Checks (AHC) 

The number of people in NHS and Rother CCG over the age of 14, with a learning 
disability on a GP register who have been offered an AHC has increased 
marginally over the past 12 months 

January 2018 17% had an AHC 

January 2019 15% had an AHC 

 
Summary of key actions taken in previous year 

• Sussex has made significant progress this year, the rate of admissions has 
slowed and  complex discharges enabled, this has not yet been sufficient to 
achieve the inpatient bed rate targets primarily due to a changing cohort with 
corresponding changes in need, compounded by a lack of willing and able 
community providers 

• There has been a reduction in those with learning disability accessing 
inpatient provision but an increase in those with autism and no learning 
disability, this change corresponds to a change nationally 
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• Care Treatment Review delivery now surpassing NHSE targets  
• Increased governance and monitoring of patient data, ensuring more timely 

discharges, and 
• Increased leadership to drive programme objectives forward. 

 
The following outcomes have been prioritised 

• To reduce inappropriate hospitalisation of people with a learning disability, 
autism or both. In Sussex this translates as a reduction from 85 to 56 beds 

• To continue to improve access to healthcare for people with a learning 
disability with increase in Annual Health Check. Locally, Annual Health 
Checks (AHCs) are to be offered to 75% of people with learning disability on a 
GP register by 2020 

• Further investment in intensive community support to avoid hospitalisation. To 
ensure more children with a learning disability, autism or both get a 
Community Care, Education and Treatment Review (CETR) to consider other 
options before they are admitted to hospital, and 

• The Learning Disabilities Mortality Review (LeDeR) Programme. To continue 
the work on tackling premature mortality by supporting the review of deaths of 
patients with learning disabilities, as outlined in the National Quality Board 
2017 guidance and ensuring learning is embedded.  

 
Summary of Planned Actions in the coming year  
The following outcomes will be delivered:  
 

a) Continue to Reduce Inappropriate Hospitalisation 
• Ensuring Care and Treatment Reviews (CTRs) continue to be completed 

in line with the CTR policy April 2017 timescales. With added focus on 
children and young people in East Sussex 

• Reducing admissions with a focus upon the impact of pre-admission CTRs  
• Ensuring that discharges are safe and timely for each individual including 

fortnightly discharge planning meetings with commissioners to ensure best 
practice is applied and provide support for any blocks to discharge  

• Continuing to ensure the local standard that 90% of CCG inpatients have 
discharge dates and plans  

• Active participation in the roll out of new care models for mental health 
• Investment in prevention measures, Stopping Overmedication of People 

with a Learning Disability (STOMP), autism awareness and training, 
positive behaviour support and training 

• Commissioner training for Personal Health Budgets, and 
• Increased engagement of those with lived experience to inform 

commissioning strategies  
 

b) Increase the Annual Health Checks (AHCs) offer 
• Ensuring AHCs are offered to 75% of people with a learning disability in 

Sussex on a GP register by 2020, and 
• A review of AHCs, including current levels of resource, capacity, to uptake 

and gaps has commenced and will inform refreshed improvement plan 
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c) Community Development 
• Develop and deliver commissioning strategy to increase willing and 

capable community providers to increase rate of discharges and increase 
quality of community provision  

• Deliver 14 new housing and support options via NHSE capital funds 
• Increase community provision to prevent admission and maintain 

discharges 
- Pan Sussex Transforming Care Autism team 
- Establishment of an Intensive Support Service in East Sussex 
- Additional Capacity in Sussex wide forensic team (LD specific), and  
- Children’s LD Services in West Sussex 

 
d)  Increase Care, Education and Treatment Reviews for Children 

• Continue standardisation and improved quality of CeTRs and risk registers 
across the Transforming Care Partnership (TCP), including children. This 
will enable individual escalation support is in place to prevent admission.  

 
e)  Tackle Premature Mortality 

• Continuing to implement the Learning Disabilities Mortality Review 
(LeDeR) Programme across Sussex, driving improvement in care and 
treatment of Learning Disabilities (LD / LSD) individuals  

• Recruit to WTE band 8a LeDeR programme manager, and 
• Collation of LeDeR review findings, identifying key themes arising from 

early death, learning lessons and determining required actions and areas 
for change (LeDeR Programme Work Stream) in Sussex.  
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A year in commissioning 
 
Our programmes 
 
Transforming primary and community care 
Implementing the GP Five Year Forward View was a key priority for the CCG during 
2018/19. The CCG has achieved the 2018/19 NHS England target for implementing 
the high impact actions for sustainable change and all NHS Hastings and Rother 
CCG  practices have undertaken work to implement at least eight of the ten high 
impact actions, (all NHS Eastbourne, Hailsham and Seaford practices have 
implemented seven of the ten). The national expectation was that all practices would 
implement at least two. The CCGs have supported developments to help with 
sustainability of workforce, increasing the use of digital technologies and supporting 
practices to maximise the use of available space.  
 
The CCGs have additionally funded some local initiatives enabling practices to work 
differently, largely through diversifying the workforce to include clinical pharmacists, 
paramedic practitioners, and physiotherapists in the general practice setting. 
 
A number of premises developments have been supported across both CCGs 
including two supported by the national Estates and Technology Transformation 
Programme and a number of proposals are being worked up for consideration in 
2019/20. 
 
Practices in Hastings and Rother work in three localities covering Bexhill, Hastings 
and St Leonards, and Rural Rother and are members of one of the three federations 
that map locality footprints.  Eastbourne, Hailsham and Seaford practices currently 
work within three localities covering Seaford, Hailsham and Eastbourne and are part 
of a single federation. Moving into 2019/20, practices are making plans for the 
developing of primary care networks and are at various stages of maturity in the 
planning process. 
 
Nursing / Residential Homes  
The joint commissioning team have been working with colleagues in primary care, 
adult social care and East Sussex Healthcare NHS Trust to look at ways of 
improving the training and support offered to the staff of residential and nursing 
homes. A  new team will be set up to provide intensive training and support 
programmes, provided in the homes, with care home staff to help support care home 
managers to cascade the learning to all of their staff and to embed good quality care. 
This in turn will lead to a reduction of A&E attendances and non-elective admissions. 
A pilot is being set up in the Bexhill locality to test the model and our assumptions. 
Once this is complete the learning can be extended across both NHS Hastings and 
Rother CCG and NHS Eastbourne, Hailsham and Seaford CCG. 
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Improving continuity of care for patients with long term conditions 
Over the course of 2018/19 the Diabetes Care For You service successfully 
implemented a recovery plan and it is now business as usual for the majority of 
patients to receive intervention within eight weeks of their referral. The service is also 
reporting higher than national averages with regards to the achievement of treatment 
targets for patients. The number of patients accessing the structured education 
classes continues to grow.    
 
In 2018/19 we have seen an increase in the number of patient referrals to the 
National Diabetes Prevention Programme (NDPP) and, in order to increase referrals 
further, the CCG is reviewing the case for a locally commissioned service for the 
identification of non-diabetic hyperglycemia (NDH) patients.   
  
Improving primary care access 
As nationally mandated by NHS 
England, the CCG has 
commissioned Primary Care 
Extended Access to improve 
access to primary care for 
patients.  
 
There are seven core national 
requirements for the delivery of 
primary care improved access to 
improve the hours of access 
available for local patients up to 
8pm in the evenings and with appointments available on Saturday and Sunday 
mornings from four hubs in Rural Rother, four in Hastings and St Leonards and a 
hub in Bexhill. These appointments are offered on an easily accessible basis with a 
choice of evening or weekend appointments.  
 
These developments will be supported by digital technology to support new models 
of care in general practice. The service will work in an integrated way with the 
providers of integrated urgent care services across NHS 111 and Urgent Treatment 
Centres, primary care and ambulance services.  Access to primary care improved 
access launched in October 2018. 
 
Patient experience 
In the results of the GP patient survey, the CCG met or exceeded the national 
average for all domains of the survey. When asked to describe the overall 
experience of your GP practice, 84% of patients would describe their GP practice as 
Good or Very Good. This is higher than the national average of 84%. The CCG also 
achieves an average of 91.8% ‘would recommend’ on the Friends and Family Test, 
the national average is 90%. 
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Five care pathways 
In most instances, patients with less serious health problems would prefer to be 
treated at home rather than be admitted to hospital. Pathways for five of these 
common conditions have been revised - namely urinary tract infections, blocked 
catheters, influenza / pneumonia, non-injury falls and cellulitis – to identify how 
community services can better support these patients, when needed, to avoid any 
unnecessary hospital admission.  
 
To support the redesign of these pathways, a number of workshops were held and 
attended by lead clinicians and key stakeholders.   
 
Amongst the service changes being initiated to support these pathways is an 
increase in the support available to health care professionals from Health and Social 
Care Connect (HSCC), particularly over-night.   
 
Improving mental health  
Children young people and maternity 
The Local Transformation Plan Children version 4, October 2018, set out how young 
people with mental health and emotional wellbeing issues will have improved access 
to services. With the establishment of youth hubs; single point of referral; brief 
intervention primary mental health work service; specialist eating disorder and 
perinatal mental health service more than 30% access treatment; waiting times for 
eating disorder are less than four weeks from referral to treatment for routine 
referrals and less than seven days for urgent referrals. 5% of women who are known 
to be pregnant have access to specialist perinatal mental health care. 
 
Women and children’s health 
Children’s physical health and statutory roles 
During 2018/2019 there has been a focus on children’s mental health and well being 
and following a review of the commissioning manager structure, the year saw the 
creation of two distinct roles for mental health and physical health. There has been 
an overall review of children’s services including the identification of concerns and 
priorities and a drive to better understand the priorities and pressures in local 
authority services to improve the way in which we work together. 
 
Areas of work: 

• Successful procurement of a Children’s Integrated Therapies and Equipment 
Service (physiotherapy occupational therapy, speech and language therapy 
and equipment). Signature of the contract is imminent and a clear and regular 
management and performance structure is in place 

• Better performance management of out of area care and treatment which are 
usually high cost for small numbers of children 

• There has been an improvement in the way general paediatric commissioning 
links in with the provision in care for children with Continuing Healthcare 
packages of care. We are looking forwards to developing our strategy and 
decision making forums during 2019/20 

• Identification and co-joined working with mental health colleagues on the 
children’s neurodevelopmental pathways (Autism and ADHD diagnosis) 
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• There has been a focus on community incontinence services for children and 
young people including a series of engagement events for parents and 
families and the East Sussex Parent and Carer forum led by our provider East 
Sussex Healthcare NHS Trust (ESHT). These are informing a strategy on how 
the service can rebrand to its users as a continence assessment and 
improvement team rather than a ‘nappy service’, and 

• With the local authority, we are developing and aspiring to have improved 
understanding and joined up working with respect to managing our 
responsibilities for children with learning difficulties and Special Educational 
Needs and Disabilities (SEND).  This includes our approach to medical needs 
in educational settings and our statutory responsibilities. We have good 
clinical leadership and our designated medical officer is committed to 
supporting the delivery of SEND reforms. 

 
Our Sussex with our local maternity system 
East Sussex Healthcare NHS Trust (ESHT) is the main provider of maternity 
services for women in East Sussex. They provide both community midwifery and 
acute provision via an obstetric led service at The Conquest Hospital in St Leonards 
and a midwife-led centre at Eastbourne District General Hospital. 
 
At the beginning of 2017/18 we came together with our health partners across our 
Sustainability and Transformation Partnership (STP) footprint to create a local 
maternity system (LMS). Our LMS is recognised as the forum through which we can 
deliver transformation and safety in our maternity services through joined-up working 
across Sussex to deliver the objectives laid out in ‘Better Births’ which was published 
in 2016. In 2018/19 the system has started to mature and the work streams 
formalised. There is now a full staff structure in place, hosted by NHS Coastal West 
Sussex CCG and this comprises workforce and digital leads, clinical leadership and 
project management. Our maternity providers are fully engaged with our LMS and 
the work planned for the forthcoming year. 
 

• The LMS provided two successful learning events for the South East and 
gave opportunities for our providers to share their successes and good 
practice 

• There are challenges to establish regular Business Information reports and a 
framework for contract and quality meetings but this will be simple to establish 
with the new Head of Midwifery (HOM) now in post 

• There are regular update meetings with ESHT and BSUH, and ESHT have 
just recruited a new substantive head of midwifery 

• To promote the midwife-led unit at Eastbourne District General Hospital 
(Eastbourne Midwifery Unit - EMU), increasing activity and public confidence 

• There is an established Maternity Voices Partnership in place with an 
experienced lay chair and an enthusiastic membership. There is an aspiration 
to recruit new recent service user membership and an ambitious emerging 
work plan for 2019/20, and 

• BSUH had a successful Care Quality Commission (CQC) visit in October 
2018 which noted how well it uses its resources. 
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What our patients say about our services 
East Sussex Healthcare NHS Trust regularly surveys its patients about the services 
it provides. In January 2019 it surveyed 47 women for the Friends and Family test. 
96% of respondents said that they would recommend ESHT to other women. 29 / 47 
were extremely likely to recommend the service and 16 / 47 said they were likely to 
recommend the service. 
 
The CQC performs an annual maternity survey which was last published in January 
2019. 111 women provided a response to the request for information. ESHT 
compared favourably against other acute trusts in the country with each area scoring 
‘about the same’ as other trusts. Each area scored a mark out of ten to one digital 
place. 
 
The key areas where ESHT scored highly include enabling skin to skin contact (9.5) 
and partners being included as much as they wished in the birth (9.6), staff 
introductions (9.4) and staff showing due care with respect and dignity during labour 
(9.5). Overall the domains being assessed on arrival and experience during birth are 
highly scored. 
 
The area where women felt that their experience was less good was following the 
birth of their child where the scoring was lower out of ten points but overall rated as 
about the same as other trusts. 
 
Areas of challenge for 2019/20 include more timely discharge and ensuring that 
women are responded to more quickly when they ask for help. Nationally, these are 
recognised challenges but ESHT have the intention to improve these and are 
working with their workforce to improve this experience. 
 
Medicines management 
Medicines optimisation strategy 
This is the third year of a strategy aimed at delivering sustainable improvements in 
patient outcomes from the £70m investment in primary care prescribing across NHS 
Hastings and Rother CCG.  Highlights for 2018/19 include:  
 

• Partnership working with patients and clinicians on the implementation of the 
national programme to reduce prescribing of medicines that could be 
purchased for minor ailments 

• National recognition for the high quality of the medicines optimisation service 
commissioned to work with our care homes, and 

• A programme of patient-centred reviews of diabetes medication to improve 
outcomes for diabetic patients who are frail and elderly  

  
Technology to empower patients 
For the NHS, both nationally and locally, a key priority is to use technology to 
empower people to manage their health and wellbeing. As a CCG we recognise the 
key role of digital technology in transforming the way people access care and 
support and the way in which we deliver services. 
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This autumn, through our public Shaping Health and Care events, we spoke to local 
people about adopting a ‘digital first’ approach across health and care and what that 
might mean for them. People told us that they already use technology for other 
everyday tasks like banking and shopping and they recognise the benefits of 
technology for health and care. They also told us how empowering technology can 
be for people who experience barriers in accessing care face-to-face, people who 
have a caring role for example.  
 
We are using technology to open up support and services to local people, giving 
them a better quality of life and reducing reliance on medications. Building on social 
prescribing services locally we have been working with our partners at East Sussex 
County Council, as well as the voluntary sector, to update our online directory; East 
Sussex Community Information Service (ESCIS). We’ve provided training to our GP 
practice staff and produced promotional materials to support people to see the ‘right 
person first’ and make better use of wider primary care and community services such 
as support groups, talking therapies and social activities. 
 
In September 2018 we brought together projects, programmes and work streams 
focussed around digital tools and services for a ‘digital people’ summit as an 
opportunity to share information, progress and explore opportunities for alignment. 
Our engagement shows that both local people and colleagues recognise the 
importance of creating trusted and accessible digital solutions with a clear purpose 
and a single digital front door. 
 
As a CCG we contributed to the NHS Digital guide for CCGs on digital inclusion and 
we remain fully committed to promoting digital inclusion. Having worked with 
Seaview, a local charity, on an NHS Digital pathfinder project focussed on the 
homeless and insecurely housed community, we saw first-hand the power of 
technology to connect homeless people with services, break down some of the 
barriers around access and improve health outcomes. 
 
We’ve been working with our Patient Participation Groups (PPGs) and local libraries 
to promote GP online services, providing them with promotional resources and 
holding drop-in events to tell people about it and get them signed up. All our GP 
practices now offer free Wi-Fi and through our social media channels we’ve been 
promoting the NHS website as a place to go for information and advice.  
 
Across our CCG all of our practices offer the ability to book and cancel appointments 
online with just over 20% of people registered to do so. We have been working with 
our practices to increase the number of people registered and now have some 
practices with over 40% of their patients registered. Over 20% of people are 
registered to order repeat prescriptions online and 5% registered to view their coded 
record online.  
 
Online consultation systems allow people to connect with their GP practice using a 
mobile app or online portal. The system allows them to tell their practice about a 
query or problem, and receive a reply, prescription, call back or appointment if 
required. They are also able to access information about symptoms and treatment, 
supporting self-care. We’ve been piloting an online consultation system in one of our 
GP practices in advance of it being rolled out across the CCG and it has proved to 
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be popular with people of all ages. It has also been shown to free up GP time, 
improving access to those who do need to see a GP. 
 
The CCG has continued to actively encourage the promotion and uptake of 
Summary Care Records (SCRs) with Additional Information, via the primary care 
development scheme and the frail and vulnerable patients scheme.  The basic SCR 
contains information about medications, allergies and adverse reactions, and is held 
on the NHS Spine so it’s available where and when required to support care in 
urgent and emergency situations.  Additional information from a person’s GP record, 
including significant medical history, anticipatory care plan information, 
communication preferences, end of life care information and immunisations, can be 
added with the person’s explicit consent.  In this CCG over 16% of the general 
population have an SCR with Additional Information (which compares to around 2% 
nationally), and over 91% of people with an emergency care plan have SCR with 
Additional Information, allowing care planning information from their GP record to be 
accessed by other care professionals when needed. 
 
Urgent care 
Urgent Treatment Centres (UTCs) 
UTCs will improve urgent care through streamlined access to a more consistent service 
offer.  The development of designated UTCs (one within NHS Eastbourne, Hailsham 
and Seaford CCG and one within NHS Hastings and Rother CCG) continues.  
  
UTCs will be open for 12 hours each day, seven days per week with appointments 
bookable through NHS 111, GPs and the ambulance service.  Clinicians providing 
the service will have access to treatment and diagnostics as required. 
 
Integration of UTCs with other health care services is essential for a whole system 
approach.  The proposals are being developed in the context of the Sussex and East 
Surrey Sustainability Transformation Partnership to ensure consistency with other 
CCGs in the region.  Other developments (such as GP improved access and 
increasing demands on our emergency care services) are influencing how we shape 
our delivery model, as is feedback arising from our ongoing engagement with the 
public and interested parties (for example, the Health Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee).  
 
Urgent Care Programme 
The High Intensity User Service (HIUS) was launched in December 2018 to provide 
support to vulnerable people who are most frequently attending A&E and having high 
numbers of hospital admissions. The project has been developed through close 
working with the NHS Right Care team, including an expert who originally developed 
this approach in Blackpool.  
 
HIUS is provided by East Sussex County Council ESCC) who works in partnership 
with ESHT to identify focussed cohorts of patients who would benefit from a key 
worker and health coaching approach.  
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The HIU leads in the service are afforded the time to build a relationship of trust with 
these patients so they can identify the secondary or ‘real’ reasons for them attending 
hospital. The service works with these vulnerable individuals to identify solutions 
through offering a listening support service, coordinating their care in the community, 
and being there to support them through relapse or during times of crisis.  
 
The service is reporting good feedback from those receiving the service to date, with 
patients being less reliant on hospital and feeling more confident in accessing 
appropriate community support. Every three months the service works with ESHT to 
identify a new cohort of high intensity users who would benefit from having HIU Lead 
input. A multidisciplinary project group including members from health, social care, 
the voluntary sector, and a patient representative are steering the delivery and 
evaluation of the service.  
 
The HIUS is a good example of a service that aims to address both of the two health 
inequalities indicators in the CCG Improvement and Assessment Framework: 
 

• Inequality in unplanned hospitalisation for chronic ambulatory care sensitive 
conditions, and 

• Inequality in emergency admissions for urgent care sensitive conditions 
 
Clinically Effective Commissioning programme (CEC)  
Clinically Effective Commissioning (CEC) is a Sussex-wide NHS initiative which aims 
to improve the effectiveness and value for money of healthcare services by ensuring 
that commissioning decisions across the region are consistent, that they reflect best 
clinical practice, are in line with the available evidence, and that they represent the 
most sensible use of limited resources. By doing this it aims to: 
 

• Bring a systematic approach to policy review and implementation across all 
the CCGs in the STP 

• Remove unwarranted variation, and 
• Apply sound clinical decision making to mutually agreed policies  

 
So far, the clinical policies have been divided into three tranches: 
 

• Tranche 0 - covers 79 procedures predominately only commissioned by 
exception 

• Tranche 1- covers 12 procedures where policies already existed across the 
CCGs but had different threshold criteria so the aim was to align the policies 
across the STP, and 

• Tranche 2 - covers 19 procedures for which there is considerable variation in 
existing polices or lack of policies 
 

The CEC Tranche 0-2 policies have been approved by the seven Sussex CCGs, and 
have been in acute and community contracts since October 2018.  
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It is anticipated CEC will bring the following: 
 
Expected outcomes and benefits of the CEC programme  
 

Benefits Outcomes 

• Reduced variation in clinical 
practice 

 

• Improved outcomes (reducing rate of 
complications, readmissions; 
improvement in benchmarked position in 
terms of Right Care outcomes) 

• Maximised use of resources 
and focus interventions which 
have the highest health benefits 

• Reduced resource utilisation (overall 
reduction in the number of interventions 
not routinely commissioned;  

• Improved joint working  across 
STP / Sussex CCGs 

 

• Improved adherence to clinical policies 
where we have thresholds in place- 
measurable by clinical audit or other tools  

 
Work is currently ongoing around how we will measure benefits realisation. 
 
National policies 
Increasingly national policies are emerging aimed at setting minimum evidence 
based standards around healthcare interventions. A number of organisations 
including NHS England have produced the national Evidence Based Interventions 
(EBI) Programme setting out 17 interventions expecting all CCGs and providers to 
contractualise them from 1 April 2019. These EBI policies set out minimum levels 
and locally commissioners can determine to be more stringent in their local policies. 
During January 2019, the CEC Programme Board has undergone a comparison of 
the 17 national policies and the local CEC policies to understand where the 
variations are and alignment plans have been put in place.  
 
The Sussex CEC programme was recently recruited to be part of the national 
demonstrator programme.  
 
Decision making and governance    
All seven Sussex CCGs are engaged in the CEC programme and as of January 
2019, all have agreed to establish and participate in the joint governance structure of 
the: 
 

• CEC Health Policy Group - the remit of this group  will be to develop a range 
of evidence-based clinically effective commissioning policies for 
recommendation to the Clinically Effective Commissioning Joint Committee 
for approval 

• CEC Programme Board – tasked with the managerial oversight of the CEC 
programme, and 
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• CEC Joint Committee - with delegated authority from governing bodies, the 
remit of this committee will be to scrutinise and ratify, on behalf of its 
constituent Sussex CCGs, any policies developed and put forward through 
the CEC work programme  

 
Diabetes 
The diabetes transformation programme is made up of a number of projects aimed 
at reducing variation in diabetes care, reducing diabetes-related amputations and 
reducing emergency attendances by supporting people living with diabetes to self-
manage their long term condition.  
 
Service users with limb or life threatening diabetic foot attack can now access 
consultant-led urgent foot clinics five days a week. These clinics are supported by a 
hospital multidisciplinary team (MDT) made up of podiatry, specialist nursing, 
consultant dialectologist, vascular consultant, orthopaedic consultant, microbiology 
and interventional radiology.  
 
The Integrated Community Diabetes Care (ICDC) service offers service users with 
the worst diabetes control access to joint GP and diabetes specialist nurse-led 
community clinics to help them improve their diabetes control and ability to self-
manage. These service users have access to integrated dietetics, podiatry and 
mental health services. These clinics are supported by a consultant-led community 
MDT.  
 
People living with diabetes now have access to DESMOND Type 2 Diabetes Self-
Management Education. From April 2019, an outcome-based diabetes Locally 
Commissioned Service (LCS) will go live where GP practices will be paid for 
improving clinical patient outcomes as well as activity. 
 
Musculo-skeletal service (MSK)  
As a result of local quality and financial challenges, MSK was identified as a priority 
area in which services could be improved and significant savings could be achieved.  
In May 2018 external experts were brought in to provide intensive support to develop 
this programme.  
 
As commissioners had already achieved a level of saving in MSK service provision, 
the MSK programme was revised to include further potential savings in Hastings and 
Rother.  A small number of discrete projects are in development with an initial focus 
on reducing unnecessary hip and knee procedures in line with NICE guidance in 
order to improve care and save money.  
 
Commissioners, patients and local healthcare providers have undertaken a pathway 
review and developed a preferred clinical model, overseen by a whole system 
programme board.  
 
A procurement process undertaken in 2016 led to the identification of a preferred 
provider for the provision of an integrated MSK service, but the preferred provider 
ESHT chose not to proceed.  Therefore, at present there is no single co-ordinated 
service model within Hastings and Rother for MSK. 
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Instead, a referral triage service within Hastings and Rother has been provided by 
NHS East Sussex Healthcare Trust since 1 July 2017. This is on the basis of a fixed 
contract value. 
 
The MSK programme board have overseen the development of a preferred clinical 
model and a set of discrete projects to realise financial savings and improve quality. 
 
The MSK programme board have also recommended that CCGs consider an 
integrated model of care based on a different contractual form under which services 
are currently provided. 
 
Cancer 
NHS Hastings and Rother CCG is  working with ESHT to ensure readiness for the 
new national standard which is 28 days from referral to either a definitive diagnosis 
or cancer being ruled out (due to be monitored from April 2020). 
 
The CCG has also been working with Surrey and Sussex Cancer Alliance who have 
outlined five high priority groups; breast, lung, lower gastrointestinal, upper 
gastrointestinal and urology, to deliver system-wide change.  CCGs are working with 
public health colleagues to support programmes of prevention including addressing 
the risk factors of smoking; excess weight, diet, inactivity and alcohol consumption 
through public health initiatives and strategies.  
 
South East Coast Ambulance NHS Foundation Trust 
In October 2018 the CCGs across 
Kent, Surrey and Sussex came 
together with South East Coast 
Ambulance Service NHS Foundation 
Trust (SECAmb) to announce plans 
for a major programme of work that 
will improve care for patients across 
Kent, Surrey and Sussex, and North 
East Hampshire.  
 
The commissioners committed to 
additional investment in ambulance 
services, starting with £10million in 
2018/19, with similar levels of 
investment over the next two years. The additional investment will see an 
improvement plan in place that will: 
 

• Ensure the service has the right number of staff, with the right skills, to meet 
the changing needs of its patients 

• Improve the service’s fleet of vehicles, to ensure we have the right number 
and type of vehicles available to respond to all categories of call, and 
significantly increase the number of front-line ambulance staff on the road and 
in its Emergency Operations Centres. 

 
Part of these improvement will also see SECAmb working to improve response times 
including in rural areas.  
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We are also working closely with SECAmb to deliver a number of other 
improvements. These include: 
 

• Continued focus on reducing hospital handover delays; these increased over 
the winter period due to additional pressures but performance in this area has 
now improved 

• Continued improvement in performance relating to how emergency calls are 
answered and handled, with 80% of calls now being answered within just five 
seconds and plans to achieve 95% by June 2019  

• Further work with the trust to support recruitment 
• Updating the 2019/20 service specification to ensure the same level of service 

is provided across the whole geography of the contract, ensuring a fair and 
equitable service for the whole population. 

 
Patient Transport Service 
The Patient Transport Service is a non-
emergency service provided for medically-
eligible residents of Sussex who require 
support in getting to their appointments.  
 
A contract for patient transport with a 
former provider was terminated early in 
2016/17 due to failure to perform the 
service adequately.  Additional costs were 
incurred over and above the contract price 
of c£7m funding the continuation of the 
service until a replacement provider was in 
place. NHS High Weald Lewes Havens 
CCG, on behalf of the STP CCGs, is 
currently seeking to recover these additional costs by calling upon the former 
provider’s parent company under a guarantee to remedy performance and / or to 
reimburse the costs.  The matter is in the hands of the CCG’s solicitors who have 
confirmed that all costs fall within the remit of the Parent Company Guarantee. 
 
The current contract with South Central Ambulance Service (SCAS) is now in its 
second year and responsibility for its management transferred from NHS High Weald 
Lewes Havens CCG to NHS Coastal West Sussex CCG on behalf of all of the STP 
CCGs on 1 November 2018. The process is integrated through a Sussex-wide 
Programme Board and a contract review process involving all of the CCGs. 
 
The operational and quality performance on the contract has been maintained and in 
some areas improved in 2018/19 compared with 2017/18. The levels of complaints 
and incidents remain relatively low for a contract of this size.  
 
There are still challenging areas within the contract on which the CCGs are working 
with SCAS to improve further particularly around call answering, discharges, and 
transfers. Discussions are also underway regarding potential service improvement 
for the last year of the contract and the longer term procurement options.   
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Engaging people and communities 
 
NHS Hastings and Rother CCG has a 
duty to ensure the services we 
commission meet the needs of our local 
population. Therefore we engage with 
and involve patients, carers, and the 
public in our work in order to make sure 
the services we commission are 
responsive to their needs and deliver the 
best possible standards of care. We also 
build local networks and partnerships in 
order to extend reach and work 
collaboratively with communities and partners to ensure we seek as many views as 
possible.   
 
Over the past year, the CCG has started to work more closely with other Sussex and 
East Surrey (SES) CCGs under the umbrella of SES Commissioners.  This has 
brought the benefit of an extended engagement team across the eight CCGs with 
resulting increased capacity, alignment of systems and processes and shared good 
practice.  
 

Our Health and Care, Our FUTURE 
 
In January 2019 the NHS Long Term Plan was published and NHS England (NHSE) 
has asked CCGs to develop local plans that will deliver the aims of the NHS Long 
Term Plan for our local population. In addition the ‘Population Health Check’ was 
published in Sussex and East Surrey providing a diagnostic on the health needs of 
our populations. We have been engaging with local people and organisations across 
Sussex and East Surrey in a coordinated and aligned way about what this means for 
them and which areas they think should be prioritised. This work is linking in with the 
ten areas of focus highlighted within the NHS Long Term Plan. This will build on the 
feedback from the Big Health and Care Conversation and provide the foundation for 
further engagement to develop local plans later in 2019/20. 
 

Engagement in commissioning 
 
We have continued to ensure that we put the views of patients, carers and the public 
at the centre of our commissioning; we systematically engage with patients, carers 
and the public to inform our planning and commissioning work. We also recruit and 
support ‘lived experience advisors’ who play an important role in our procurement 
processes. 
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Over the past year, we have sought feedback on services including: 
 

• Care navigation 
• Diabetes 
• Maternity services 
• NHS 111 
• Pharmacy and self-care, and 
• Urgent care. 

 
Supporting our staff to understand the need for engagement is important; we have a 
communications and engagement toolkit which is being refreshed and we have 
incorporated engagement within our Equalities and Health Inequalities (EHIA) training. 
 
East Sussex Patient Participation Group – Steering Group 
The PPG Steering Group comprises of members of our local PPGs from across 
Hastings and Rother and Eastbourne, Hailsham and Seaford. The group ensures 
that PPGs themselves influence and shape our work with PPGs across Eastbourne, 
Hailsham and Seaford alongside setting the agendas and overseeing the work of 
Hastings and Rother PPG Area Forum. The group has also worked with the 
governing body lay member for patient and public involvement and Healthwatch East 
Sussex to support the CCG in improving its engagement activity more broadly. 
 
NHS Hastings and Rother PPG Area Forum 
We continue to support the Hastings and Rother Area Forum which brings together 
local PPGs and wider stakeholders in health and care. The forum enables PPGs to 
share good practice, understand the issues facing primary care, feedback issues 
from local people and influence commissioning and service redesign.  
 
Over the past year, the PPG Forum has been involved in:  
 

• Developing online consultation  
• Establishing a series of self-care and healthy ageing talks for local people. 
• Making primary care more sustainable 
• Proposals for urgent care  
• Reviewing the CCG’s patient and public engagement work, and 
• Understanding CCG finances and contributing to Sussex and East Surrey 

Commissioner working arrangements. 
 
Partnerships, forums and engaging with diverse groups 
The CCG maintains close links with our voluntary and community sector that support 
us to build relationships with our communities. We participate in groups and 
meetings that bring together partners and community members, including:  
 

• East Sussex Parent and Carer Council 
• Deaf Cultural Outreach Group (DeafCOG) ‘Our Space’ Events 
• East Sussex Equality and Inclusion Network 
• East Sussex Care for the Carers 
• Hastings and Rother Locality Networks 
• Hastings and Rother Rainbow Alliance 
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• Hastings Older People’s Ethnic Group 
• Hastings Strategic Partnership, and 
• Older People’s Festival. 

 
Keeping patients and the public informed  
We continue to develop and grow our Local Voices Network. 
This is a virtual group of local people who have expressed an 
interest in working with us through sharing views and 
becoming more closely involved which not only informs 
commissioners about the views of those using local health and 
care services but also provides active engagement in our 
ongoing work. 
 
We use a wide variety of tools to keep patients and the public informed of our work 
and to promote involvement opportunities, including our public website, East Sussex 
Better Together (ESBT) Newsletter, Facebook, Twitter, YouTube, and linking with 
other organisations’ networks.   
 
Armed Forces Network  
NHS Hastings and Rother CCG (collectively with the other CCGs across Sussex) 
continues to make significant progress in delivering against the NHS Constitution, 
NHS Contracts and the Armed Forces Covenant, through the CCG-funded Director 
for the Armed Forces Community (AFC) and support team who provide leadership to 
the system.  We have engaged with this hard to reach population and have a good 
understanding of the needs of this community within East Sussex, resulting in 
moving towards an integrated Armed Forces community friendly health economy.  
The outcomes from the programme of work have met many of the objectives from 
the Five Year Forward Plan. 
 
NHS Hastings and Rother CCG and NHS Eastbourne, Hailsham and Seaford CCG 
were the first CCGs nationally and the first organisation within Sussex in 2018/19 to 
receive the Gold Award from the Defence Employer Recognition Scheme.  This 
recognises that the CCG demonstrates significant delivery of support to the Armed 
Forces community in line with the Armed Forces Covenant.   
 

 
 
Working as part of a joint NHS and Local Authority project, Forces Connect South 
East, the work started within Sussex has been recognised nationally.  As a result of 
the collaboration between Sussex, Kent and Medway, Surrey and Hampshire 
authorities; the good practice is being shared UK wide through a series of 
roadshows. 
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The collaborative work and functionality of the Armed Forces 
Network has also been recognised within the UK Armed Forces 
community with the network support team being shortlisted as 
finalists in the Soldering on Awards.  The Award sponsored by 
the Forces in Mind Trust recognises that an organisation has 
demonstrated an enduring commitment and collaborative 
approach to supporting the sector within the wider community.   
 
A Suicide Prevention programme of work linked with NHS 

England, the Sussex and East Surrey and Kent and Medway Sustainability and 
Transformational Partnerships and Health Education England is being developed 
and delivered by the Armed Forces Team for and in partnership with the Armed 
Forces community.  Further information about this work can be viewed via 
www.sussexarmedforcesnetwork.nhs.uk.  
 
A social prescribing project has also been started to ensure that the Armed Forces 
community and third sector are engaged and supported.  Part of this includes the 
development of a new course promoting self-management and wellbeing but also 
providing information and signposting to enable the community to have the skills to 
help each other. 
  
Through engagement and collaborative working the team has delivered:  
 

• A Gurkha / Nepalese Healthcare toolkit has been developed through 
collaboration with the community and national contents which is available on 
the Armed Forces Network website 

• Direct engagement to over 3000 members of this hard to reach community 
and the professionals who support them 

• Directly signposting, advocacy and supporting over 70 contacts per quarter 
from the Armed Forces community and professionals 

• Events – Working Together Can Make a difference 2019 (~275) 
• Working with over 500 organisations including the military, charities and other 

statutory organisations 
• Pathways – There are now 55 pathways across Sussex, Kent and Medway 

with a further two new topics identified.  The pathways now feed into an app 
which was developed as part of Forces Connect South East as well as being 
available on the Armed Forces Network website 

• Raised awareness and undertaken training to GPs, providers and charities 
across both counties, and 

• Some of the outcomes have been lifesaving and provided an improvement on 
quality of life, health and social position and the experience of the support 
provided Trained a further 431 Service Champions this year (total of 859), 
Frontline training to 600+ staff, provided Mental Health First Aid training (total 
of 248), in addition to half day courses on mental health for CCG staff, 
eLearning, and refresher sessions to existing Service Champions. 

  

http://www.sussexarmedforcesnetwork.nhs.uk/
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Reducing health inequalities 
 
NHS Hastings and Rother CCG has a duty to reduce health inequalities, and our 
health needs analysis of the CCG’s population seeks to understand the causes of 
health inequalities and to find ways of addressing these. 
 
The CCG previously had equality objectives in place for the period 2014-2018. 
  
There has been a high level of system development, staff engagement and training 
regarding equalities and health inequalities during the reporting period. 
 
Inclusion has been a significant focus of work across all of the eight CCGs in Sussex 
and East Surrey during 2018/19 with a high level of system development, staff 
engagement and training regarding equalities and health inequalities taking place 
during the reporting period.  The highlights of this are: 
 

• Mandated staff engagement events to review organisational performance 
relating to equalities and culture 

• Additional mandated face-to-face training for all staff focussing on health 
inequalities and equalities 

• Leadership development via the hosting of a Compassionate and Inclusive 
Leadership Conference for all managers at Band 8a and above 

• Participation in Inclusion Week 2018. The CCGs developed a range of 
corporate communications to promote inclusion throughout the CCGs during 
Inclusion Week 2018 

• A corporate drive to encourage all employees to update their personal details 
on the Electronic Staff Record so that the organisations are more aware of the 
diversity of the workforce which will inform strategic planning, and 

• The renewing of our organisational values by replacing historical local values 
with those expressed within the NHS Constitution. 

 
Building on this good work, an inclusion strategy will be developed over the summer 
months which outlines the CCGs’ collective strategic intent and outlines key priority 
areas for the period 2019-2023.   In addition to the focus on developing an inclusive 
and diverse workforce, the strategy will also address how we optimise 
commissioning levers to address the inclusion agenda and health inequalities across 
our wider population. 
 
NHS Hastings and Rother CCG acknowledges that the community and voluntary 
sector often represents and reaches a diverse range of people and communities. 
There are a wide range of local community groups representing and working with all 
of the protected characteristic groups, so it is cost effective and valuable for us to 
work in partnership with them to extend our reach into seldom heard groups.  
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Furthermore equality and health inequality impact assessments sometimes identify 
groups which may need targeted engagement to ensure that commissioners 
understand and respond to their specific needs. On these occasions the CCG works 
through these partners in the voluntary and community sector to reach people who 
may not traditionally engage with health services. 
 
Healthy Hastings and Rother (HHR) was launched in 2014 to reduce health 
inequalities in Hastings and Rother, as part of East Sussex Better Together (ESBT). 
It aims to improve access to services, health outcomes, the quality of services and 
the experiences of people living in our most disadvantaged communities. For further 
information see http://www.hastingsandrotherccg.nhs.uk/your-
health/healthyhastingsandrother/. 
 
Healthy Hastings and Rother continues to be co-produced with our key stakeholders, 
including local people, and has been implemented from November 2014 to March 2019 
with investment of £16,045 m. In 2018/19, HHR’s total investment was £3,204m.  
 
There has been significant progress against the programme’s 2017-2019 action 
plan, which was approved by the governing body in March 2017. In 2018/19, the 
following evidence based projects that reflect HHR’s five key objectives and Hastings 
and Rother’s needs and assets have been delivered: 
 
Reduce variation in access to or quality of services - for example scaling up the early 
detection and management of cardiovascular disease, respiratory disease and 
diabetes, improving patient uptake of the national cancer screening programmes, 
social prescribing, Healthy Living Pharmacy and East Sussex Healthcare NHS 
Trust’s Health Promoting Trust projects. 
 
Empower individuals to improve health and wellbeing - for example an exercise 
referral pathway in GP practices; mass physical activity participation project; a Safe 
Space in the Hastings night-time economy for vulnerable young people to access 
alcohol advice and first aid; a social marketing programme that has included 
encouraging women aged 18-25 years old to quit smoking during pregnancy and 
remain quit after birth; improving access to breastfeeding support; and a parenting 
support programme. 
 
Empower communities to improve health and wellbeing - for example a Community 
Approach to Promoting Early Awareness of Cancer project; Reducing Health 
Inequalities Small Grants Fund; Health and Wellbeing Community Hubs; and a co-
investment behaviour change programme with Hastings Borough Council, Optivo 
and Orbit housing associations. 
 
Enhance support for the health needs of vulnerable population groups - for example 
projects that benefit people with mental health issues, learning disabilities, homeless 
people, families at risk of domestic violence or carers. 
 
  

http://www.hastingsandrotherccg.nhs.uk/your-health/healthyhastingsandrother/
http://www.hastingsandrotherccg.nhs.uk/your-health/healthyhastingsandrother/
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Improve the social determinants of health - for example welfare benefits and debt 
advice, healthy housing and community adult learning projects. 
 
NHS Hastings and Rother CCG consistently contributes to the CCGs’ legal duties to 
reduce health inequalities of: 
 

• Working to reduce inequalities between patients in access to health services 
and the outcomes achieved, and 

• Providing quality services in an integrated way. 
 
As a community with significant inequalities, Hastings and Rother is benefiting from a 
number of strategic investment programmes including the Department of Education’s 
Hastings Opportunity Area (HOA) 2017-2020 and Hastings Borough Council’s 
Connecting Hastings and Rother Together (CHART) programme 2018-2022. The 
CCG is proactively working with our local partners to ensure joint work and 
investment in understanding and tackling health inequalities as part of these 
programmes. 
 
For example, the HOA’s £6m delivery plan addresses social mobility and will provide 
children and young people with the essential foundations for success. Its priorities 
include promoting and protecting the emotional wellbeing and mental health of 
children, young people and families. All activities align and enhance the impact of the 
East Sussex Children and Young People’s Mental Health and Wellbeing Local 
Transformation Plan and are being targeted with greater intensity and scale at those 
children and young people experiencing poverty or disadvantage. 
 
CHART is a European Union funded development programme, which supports 
community capacity building and social and economic development in the most 
deprived communities of Hastings, St Leonards, Bexhill and Sidley. CHART’s 
accountable body, Hastings Borough Council, oversees its co-ordination through a 
Local Action Group with representation from local authorities, NHS Hastings and 
Rother CCG, private and voluntary sector organisations and local residents. 
CHART’s aims and activities contribute to addressing the wider social determinants 
of health by stimulating local entrepreneurship and business growth and by 
providing direct advice and support to vulnerable unemployed people in order to 
help them move closer and into the labour market. 
 
The CCG consistently uses national and local data sources to inform strategic 
planning and commissioning decisions. 
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Population 
 
NHS Hastings and Rother CCG population profile: 
 

• The CCG has a significantly older age profile compared to England.   
• Compared to England the CCG has a significantly lower population who are 

black or minority ethnic.  
• The CCG has a self-reporting LGBT population of 3% 
• The CCG has an Index of Multiple Deprivation rank of 69 of the 209 CCG’s 

nationally, compared to a rank of 99 for East Sussex 
 
Age profile of population 
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Equality 
The Health and Social Care Act 2012 introduced the first legal duties about health 
inequalities. It included specific duties for health bodies including the Department of 
Health, Public Health England, CCGs, and NHS England, which require the bodies 
to have due regard to reducing health inequalities between the people of England.  
 
The Equality Act 2010 established equality duties for all public sector bodies which 
aim to integrate consideration of the advancement of equality into the day-to-day 
business of all bodies subject to the duty. 
 
In particular, the Equality Act 2010 introduced a new, legal, Public Sector Equality 
Duty (PSED) requiring public bodies to declare their compliance with the duty on an 
annual basis. This means that as a CCG we must show compliance with both the 
general and specific duties of the PSED. 
In the exercise of its functions, for the general duty we must have due regard to the 
need to: 
 

• Eliminate discrimination, harassment and victimisation and any other conduct 
that is prohibited by or under the Equality Act 2010 

• Advance equality of opportunity between persons who share a relevant 
protected characteristic and persons who do not share it, and  

• Foster good relations between persons who share a relevant protected 
characteristic and persons who do not share it. 

  
Protected characteristics – in the context of the PSED – are defined as age, 
disability, gender reassignment, pregnancy and maternity, race – this includes ethnic 
or national origins, colour or nationality, religion or belief – this includes lack of belief, 
sex (male and female), and sexual orientation. 
For the specific duty we are required to: 
 

• Publish information to demonstrate compliance with the general duty 
• Publish data on the make-up of our workforce 
• Publish data on those affected by our policies and procedures, and  
• Publish one or more equality objectives covering a 4 year period. 

 
We are committed to embedding equality and diversity values into our policies, 
procedures, employment practice and the commissioning processes that secure 
health and social care for our population.  
 
Equality Impact Assessments 
Equality Impact Assessments (EIAs) help demonstrate that an organisation is giving 
due regard to equality when developing and implementing changes to strategy, 
policy, and practice. Sussex and East Surrey CCGs have reviewed the way in which 
EIAs are completed and managed and made significant improvements to the overall 
process during 2018/19.  Further training will be delivered during 2019 to ensure all 
relevant managers are fully knowledgeable and skilled in applying the new 
processes. 
 
 

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/health-and-social-care-act-2012-fact-sheets
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/equality-act-2010-guidance
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Equality Delivery System 2 (EDS2) 
The EDS2 is a framework that helps NHS organisations to improve the services they 
commission or provide for their local communities; it also considers health 
inequalities in our locality. EDS2 also provides evidence of better working 
environments, free of discrimination, for those who work in the NHS. 
 
On receiving advice from NHS England the eight CCGs of  Sussex and East Surrey 
Commissioners have undertaken a combined EDS2 assessment during Q4 of 
2018/19 when several services were assessed within domain 1 (better health 
outcomes) and domain 2 (improved patient access and experience).  
 
Investment in Inclusion Experts 
The leadership team has stated that evidencing best practice inclusion and reducing 
health inequalities are key organisational priorities.  To support this the organisation 
has invested in senior managerial leadership for the Inclusion programme and in an 
Equalities and Diversity Manager to ensure that best practice is developed 
throughout the organisation and that our reporting on our performance relating to 
legal obligations and NHS standards is of the highest quality. 
 
Workforce Race Equality Standard (WRES) 
Workforce Race Equality Standard reports have been developed for all of the CCGs 
in 2018/19.  For 2019/20 the CCGs will work to produce one single report and action 
plan covering all eight CCGs.  
 
Workforce Disability Equality Standard (WDES) 
The CCGs received a presentation from NHS Employers on the Standard which 
comes into effect on 1 April 2019.  Although not statutorily obliged to do so for the 
period 2018/19, the eight CCGs have agreed to publish their collective WDES data 
and develop an action plan in response to the findings.   
 
Gender Pay  
Although individually CCGs were below the threshold of staff for mandatory 
reporting, five of the eight CCGs in 2018/19 committed to reviewing and publishing 
their gender pay differential during 2018/19.  Staff were invited to workshops held in 
various sites to hear about the gender pay gap and to explore what the CCGs might 
do to understand and address this differential.  It is planned that a cross-
organisational network for women will be established and a more consistent 
approach to flexible and agile working rolled out across the CCGs during 2019/20. 
 
NHS Eastbourne, Hailsham and Seaford CCG acknowledges that the community 
and voluntary sector often represents and reaches a diverse range of people and 
communities. There are a wide range of local community groups representing and 
working with all of the protected characteristic groups, so it is cost effective and 
valuable for us to work in partnership with them to extend our reach into seldom 
heard groups.  
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Furthermore equality and health inequality impact assessments sometimes identify 
groups which may need targeted engagement to ensure that commissioners 
understand and respond to their specific needs. On these occasions the CCG works 
through these partners in the voluntary and community sector to reach people who 
may not traditionally engage with health services. 
 
Our achievements have included: 
 

• Supporting the health and wellbeing of adult and young carers by holding 
awareness events, training for practice staff and commissioners and co-
facilitating workshops on advanced care planning 

• Supporting East Sussex Parent Carer Council (ESPaCC) to co-create a 
refreshed Integrated Special Educational Needs and Disability strategy with 
East Sussex County Council and establishing new arrangements to support 
ESPaCC in reaching more parents and carers of children and young people 
with special educational needs to share their experiences and help shape and 
improve services 

• Investing in: 
- East Sussex Seniors Association and the local seniors’ forums to 

support their on-going representation of the voice of older people 
- The Council for Voluntary Services (3VA) to support specific 

engagement such as through the locality networks, and 
- Speak Up which brings senior representatives of the community and 

voluntary sector and the Volunteer Centre. 
• Supporting people resettled under the Syrian Resettlement Refugee 

Programme by participating in ‘Living in the UK’ workshops and sharing health 
information and materials translated into Arabic, and 

• Improving the health and wellbeing of rough sleepers by working with local 
NHS, government and voluntary and community sector colleagues to secure 
Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government funding to provide 
the East Sussex Rough Sleepers Initiative, which includes a multi-disciplinary 
team that is enabling rough sleepers to better access health, social care, 
housing and other support services. 

 
The CCG consistently uses national and local data sources to inform strategic 
planning and commissioning decisions. 
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Health and wellbeing strategy 
 
The Health and Wellbeing Board's strategy is published on the website of the East 
Sussex Strategic Partnership; please look in ‘useful documents’ on the right hand 
column of the page. The board will be reviewing and refreshing its strategy this year 
2019/20.  Health and Wellbeing Strategy 2016-2019  
 

Integrating health and social care 
 
Working with local authority partners 
The East Sussex Better Together (ESBT) Alliance is a partnership of organisations 
working together to plan and deliver health and care in Eastbourne, Hailsham, 
Seaford, Hastings, Rother and surrounding areas. By working together, we aim to 
deliver sustainable health and social care that better meets the needs of local 
people, offering high quality care at the right time, in the right place. 
 
Our aims are to: 
 

• Improve the health and wellbeing of the local population 
• Improve care, quality and experience, and 
• Restore and maintain financial balance within our system 

 
By working closely together to plan and deliver health and care services, we aim to 
deliver integrated (‘joined up’), sustainable care that better meets the needs of local 
people. This also makes best use of our joint budget and resources, which is 
particularly important in the face of the financial pressures that each ESBT Alliance 
partner organisation faces individually.  
 
Demand for NHS and social care services is increasing rapidly, but the money we 
have to pay for them is likely to stay about the same. Our population is growing and 
people are living longer, so demand for health and social care is growing faster than 
our budget. More and more people require long-term support from both NHS and 
social care services, so we need to make sure they are provided in a joined-up way. 
 
Our focus is to provide local people with the support they need as early as possible, 
to help people remain healthy and independent. Our services will be provided by 
integrated health and care teams, meaning care should be more efficient, personal 
and delivered close to home – by one system. 
 
The ESTB Alliance partners are NHS Hastings and Rother CCG, NHS Eastbourne, 
Hailsham and Seaford CCG, East Sussex Healthcare NHS Trust, East Sussex 
County Council (ESCC) and associate partner Sussex Partnership NHS Foundation 
Trust (SPFT). We work very closely with GP practices, providers in the independent 
care sector and voluntary sector, local people, patients, clients and carers. 
 
Of course, sometimes people need to access health and care that stretches beyond 
the ESBT Alliance patch, for example for specialist care.  We are also working as 

http://www.essp.org.uk/what-we-do/Pride-of-Place/Health.aspx
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part of the Sussex and East Surrey Sustainability and Transformation Partnership 
(STP) on health and care priorities such as mental health and maternity care. Having 
shared plans and priorities are important to make sure we are approaching 
improvements to health and care in the most efficient way. 
 
We remain committed to integrated working across health and care as this will 
enable us to deliver the best possible outcomes for local people and achieve the 
best use of collective public resources. There is a strong national and international 
evidence base that demonstrates the value of integrated working in improving patient 
and client experience and outcomes, as well as better value for money. Across East 
Sussex, integrated working has been progressed in recent years through the East 
Sussex Better Together (ESBT) programme in NHS Hastings and Rother and NHS 
Eastbourne, Hailsham and Seaford CCG areas and Connecting 4 You (C4Y) in the 
NHS High Weald Lewes Havens CCG area.  
  
We are now proposing to move to a single programme across the whole of East 
Sussex with all three Clinical Commissioning Groups (CCGs), NHS providers and 
ESCC. We will deliver a reset strategic programme by consolidating the existing 
ESBT and C4Y aims and objectives, focussing on delivering measurable progress 
over the next 12-18 month period, in the three core areas of urgent care, community 
services, and planned care. The programme will report to an overarching East 
Sussex Health and Care Executive Group that will hold the system organisationally 
and collectively to account for delivery. This in turn will report to the East Sussex 
Health and Wellbeing Board (HWB). 
 
Health and Wellbeing Board 
The East Sussex HWB is committed to improving health and wellbeing across East 
Sussex, especially for people, places and communities who currently have the worst 
health outcomes. It exists to make sure there is a shared and comprehensive 
understanding of local health and wellbeing needs, and a clear strategy to meet 
them. 
 
The HWB is an unusual council committee because officers vote alongside 
councillors and other local representatives. It has statutory powers and meets in 
public. Webcasts of the meetings can be found here 
https://democracy.eastsussex.gov.uk/mgCommitteeDetails.aspx?ID=153.   
 
In the year 2018/19 the HWB undertook a review of its role, purpose and 
membership. A report on the review work to date and the setting out of plans for 
further review of the HWB following the CQC recommendations went to the board in 
July 2018.  
 
Over the summer of 2018, the board completed a questionnaire on the review of the 
HWB and a workshop was held with members of the HWB on 12 October 2018. 
 
The HWB endorsed proposed changes for membership; meeting structure; 
governance; and strategy arising from the review and workshop at the December 
2018 meeting. These proposals went to Governance Committee and Full Council for 
consideration and to approve the changes to the terms of reference and constitution 
of the HWB in March. The revised board will meet for the first time in April 2019. 

https://democracy.eastsussex.gov.uk/mgCommitteeDetails.aspx?ID=153


NHS Hastings and Rother Clinical Commissioning Group   |   ANNUAL REPORT 2018/19    63 

The Board also considered the following reports: 
 

• Director of Public Health Annual Report 
• East Sussex Joint Strategic Needs and Assets Assessment 
• East Sussex Local Safeguarding Children Annual Report 
• East Sussex Safeguarding Adults Board Annual report 
• NHS High Weald Lewes Havens CCG A&E Activity, and 
• The East Sussex Better Together Strategic Commissioning Board Annual 

Report. 
 
Better Care Fund  
 
The Better Care Fund (BCF) supports our shared vision for a fully integrated health 
and social care economy in East Sussex that ensures people receive proactive, 
joined up care, supporting them to live as independently as possible and achieving 
the best outcomes.  Ultimately, by working together we aim to achieve high quality 
and affordable care now and for future generations and improve the safety and 
quality of all the services we commission and deliver.  
 
Alongside this, our vision is to create a sustainable health and social care system 
that promotes health and wellbeing whilst addressing quality and safety issues, in 
order to prevent ill health and deliver improved patient experience and outcomes for 
our population. This will be delivered through a focus on population needs, better 
prevention, self-care, improved detection, early intervention, proactive and joined up 
responses to people that require care and support across traditional organisational 
and geographical boundaries. 
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Section 2:  Accountability Report 
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Corporate Governance Report: 
A year in Governance 
 
Members’ Report 
 
Our Clinical Commissioning Group is formed of local GP practices. The table below 
show the practices which make up the membership of the CCG.  
 

Practice name Address 

Bexhill 

Collington Surgery 23 Terminus Road, Bexhill-on-Sea, TN39 3LR 

Little Common / Old Town  82 Cooden Sea Road, Little Common, Bexhill-on-
Sea, TN39 4SP 

Pebsham Surgery 119 Seabourne Road, Bexhill-on-Sea, TN40 2SD 

Sidley Medical Practice 44 Turkey Road, Bexhill-on-Sea , TN39 5HE 

Rural Rother Locality 

Fairfield Surgery High Street, Burwash, TN19 7EU 

Ferry Road Health Centre Ferry Road, Rye, TN31 7DN 

Martins Oak Surgery 36 High Street, Battle, TN33 0EA 

Northiam & Broad Oak 
Surgeries 

Main Street, Northiam, Rye, TN31 6ND 

Oldwood Surgery, 
Robertsbridge 

Station Road, Robertsbridge, TN32 5DG 

Rye Medical Centre Kiln Drive, Rye Foreign, Rye, TN31 7SQ 

Sedlescombe and Westfield 
Surgeries 

Brede Lane, Sedlescombe, Nr Battle, TN33 0PW 

Hastings Locality 

Beaconsfield Surgery 21 Beaconsfield Road, Hastings, TN34 3TW 

Harold Road Surgery 164 Harold Road, Hastings, TN35 5NH 
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Practice name Address 

Hastings Medical Practice & 
Walk-in Centre (Practice 
operated by Integrated Care 
24 (IC24) 

Station Plaza Health Centre, Station Approach, 
Hastings, TN34 1BA 

Hastings Old Town Surgery High Street, Hastings, TN34 3EY 

Priory Road Surgery 83 Priory Road, Hastings, TN34 3JJ 

Roebuck House Surgery  High Street, Hastings, TN34 3EY 

The Station Practice Station Plaza Medical Centre, Station Approach, 
Hastings, TN34 1BA 

St Leonards Locality 

Carisbrooke Surgery Falaise Road, Hastings, TN34 1EU 

Churchwood Medical 
Practice 

Tilebarn Road, St Leonards-on-Sea, TN38 9QU 

High Glades and Silver 
Springs Surgeries 

9A Upper Church Road, St Leonards-on-Sea, 
TN37 7AT 

Sedlescombe House 
Surgery 

8 Sedlescombe Road South, St Leonards-on-Sea, 
TN38 0TA 

South Saxon House Surgery 150A Bexhill Road, St Leonards-on-Sea, TN38 8BL 

Warrior Square Surgery 7th Floor, Cavendish House, Breeds Place, 
Hastings, TN34 3AA 

 
Our Governing Body 
Our membership has reserved a small number of functions to itself. However, the 
day to day duties of the CCG are delegated to the governing body. Our governing 
body has further delegated some functions to individuals or committees of the CCG. 
These arrangements are detailed in our Scheme of Reservation and Delegation. 
This document is appended to the CCG Constitution and is available on the website  
www.eastbournehailshamandseafordccg.nhs.uk/about-us/vision-and-values. 
 
 
  

http://www.eastbournehailshamandseafordccg.nhs.uk/about-us/vision-and-values
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In summary, our governing body has responsibility for: 
 

• Ensuring that the group has appropriate arrangements in place to exercise its 
functions effectively, efficiently and economically and in accordance with the 
group’s principles of good governance (its main function) 

• Determining the remuneration, fees and other allowances payable to 
employees or other persons providing services to the group and the 
allowances payable under any pension scheme it may establish under 
paragraph 11(4) of Schedule 1A of the 2006 National Health Service Act, 
inserted by Schedule 2 of the 2012 Act, and 

• Approving any functions of the group that are specified in regulations. 
 
The functions attributed to it in the Prime Financial Policies, including but not limited 
to: 
 

• The approval of budgets 
• Receiving the reports of the Chief Financial Officer relating to the monitoring 

of financial performance against budget and plan, and 
• The approval of the consultation arrangements for the group’s commissioning 

plan. 
 
 
Dr David Warden, Clinical Chair and GP at Collington and Ninfield Surgery, 
Bexhill on Sea 

 

Dr David Warden has been a GP in Bexhill-on-Sea for 23 
years having trained locally.  He worked as a clinical 
assistant in rheumatology for 10 years before his GP 
surgery commitments took priority and has a long history 
of involvement in GP commissioning, having been part of 
a Bexhill fund-holding group and subsequently part of a 
commissioning pilot for the town. 
Dr Warden has a long standing interest in the use of GP 
clinical systems and development of electronic care 
records to support patient care.  In his role as the GP IT 
lead both locally and across Sussex, he has played an 
instrumental role in the development of DXS which will 
ultimately streamline local clinical guidelines pathways and 
referrals. 
As the clinical lead for innovation, Dr Warden chairs the 
CCG’s innovation panel and works closely with the Kent 
Surrey Sussex Academic Health sciences Network (KSS 
AHSN). 
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Adam Doyle – Chief Executive 

Adam Doyle is Chief Executive Officer for NHS Hastings 
and Rother CCG and for the other seven CCGs in the 
Sussex and East Surrey Transformation Partnership area. 
Adam is also the Senior Responsible Officer for the 
Sussex and East Surrey Sustainability and Transformation 
Partnership.  
Adam started his career as a physiotherapist and has held 
a number of senior healthcare roles over the past twelve 
years.  
Before working in Sussex Adam was the Chief 
Accountable Officer at NHS Merton CCG in London, where 
he worked from its establishment in 2013. Prior to this, 
Adam was the Director of Private Care and Community 
Services at The Royal Marsden NHS Foundation Trust. 

 

 
 
Dr Milan Radia, GP member and GP at Beaconsfield Surgery, Hastings 

 

Dr Milan Radia is a PMS GP in Hastings and Rother, 
having been appointed five years ago.  He trained in 
London, and worked as a GP principal in the Midlands and 
previously in Australia for three years.  His main clinical 
interests are cardiovascular medicine and mental health. 
Milan is a firm believer that grassroots clinical input into 
commissioning can only be beneficial for local patients.  
He works to ensure the ideas of patients, GP member 
practices and other stakeholders are aligned with financial 
prudence needed in the NHS. 
He was elected to the CCG governing body in April 2011.  
His main responsibilities are to look at the monitoring of 
the majority of the CCG’s contracts with healthcare 
providers including East Sussex healthcare NHS Trust.  
Milan also attends all the contract and clinical quality 
meetings in order to monitor provider performance. 
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Dr Binodh Bhaskaran, GP member and GP at Little Common Surgery, 
Bexhill-on-Sea 

Dr Binodh Bhaskaran graduated from Calicut University, 
Kerala, India, in 1997.  He undertook basic surgical 
training in the north west of England and acquired MRCS 
in 2003.  While working as a Registrar in trauma and 
orthopaedics in the West Midlands he decided to undergo 
GP training, which resulted in a move to East Sussex in 
2005.  He achieved MRCGP in 2007, took a PG Cert in 
Dementia Care with Bradford University in 2014, and is 
currently working towards a PG Cert is Strategic 
Leadership and Medical Education with the University of 
Kent. 
Binodh has a keen interest in federating and primary care 
orthopaedics.  He took on diabetes care at Little Common 
Surgery and then became the lead for diabetes in NHS 
Hastings and Rother CCG, and then NHS Eastbourne, 
Hailsham and Seaford CCG.  He played a role in 
introducing a robust diabetes prevention framework into 
locally commissioned services and a year of care model 
for diabetes across both CCGs.  He has been the director 
of Integrated Community Care (ICC), Bexhill GP 
Federation and also GP with a Special Interest (GPwSI) in 
dementia Care. 
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Dr Rob McNeilly, GP member and  GP at Robertsbridge Surgery 

Dr Rob McNeilly qualified as a doctor in 1984 at 
Westminster Medical School.  He undertook the Exeter 
University Vocational Training Scheme between 1984-
1988, at which point he became an Expedition doctor as 
well as partner in a semi-rural practice in Robertsbridge 
until 2000. 
In 2000 he became the Assistant Medical Director BUPA 
Wellness and was part of the senior management team.  
During this time he completed an MBA with a particular 
focus on relationship management. 
In 2006 Dr McNeilly returned to the Robertsbridge practice 
as a GP Partner and in 2006 became a PBC Board 
member. 
In 2011, with the development of CCGs, Dr McNeilly was 
elected on to the governing body, a position he has held 
since.  He is currently the GP lead for performance and 
prescribing and chairs the Area Prescribing Committee.  
He is also heavily involved with the East Sussex Better 
Together programme and chairs one of the key service 
transformation working groups.  In April 2015 he became 
the Caldicott guardian for the CCG. 

 

 
David Cryer, Strategic Finance Director (interim)  

 

David Cryer has worked in the NHS for ten years and was 
most recently the Finance Director for NHS England in the 
South West. In the South West David worked with four 
Sustainability and Transformation Partnerships and was 
part of the transformation of their financial positions. Prior 
to that David worked with the Vanguard Programme to 
develop payment mechanisms to support new care 
models. David joined this team following a three and a half 
year period as the Chief Officer of Camden Clinical 
Commissioning Group where he was instrumental in the 
delivery of innovative population segmented clinical teams 
with lead providers and reported patient outcomes.   
Before joining the public sector David had 10 years’ 
experience working in the consumer goods industry and 
management consulting. 
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Dr Linda Parker, GP member and GP at Beaconsfield Surgery, Hastings 

Dr Linda Parker completed her medical training and 
graduated from Gonville and Caius College, Cambridge 
and has been a GP in the Hastings and Rother area since 
1997. 
Dr Parker is currently a GP at Beaconsfield Surgery in 
Hastings and was elected onto the governing body as a 
GP member in July 2018. 
Her specialist interest is diabetes.  

 
Julia Rudrum, Lay member for Governance and Audit Chair 

 

Julia Rudrum is a qualified accountant, with over 25 
years of public sector experience in internal audit, 
governance and risk management.  She has previously 
been the Head of Internal Audit for a broad range of 
organisations, including the Healthcare Commission and 
the National Patient Safety Agency as well as a number of 
NHS Trusts, which has provided her with an insight into 
regulation, patient safety and audit and accountancy 
issues. 
Julia has broad expertise in good governance and 
undertook a three year research project for her 
accountancy body (ACCA), in collaboration with the 
Department of Health, on governance in the NHS. 
Julia lives in Eastbourne and joined the CCG as its lay 
member for governance in May 2014. 
Julia is the Conflict of Interest (COI) Guardian for the 
CCG.  The role of the COI Guardian is to act as a conduit 
for anyone with concerns relating to COIs; to be a safe 
point of contact for employees or workers of the CCG to 
raise concerns; to support the application of the principles 
and policies for managing conflicts, and to provide 
independent advice and judgement of managing COIs. 
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Barbara Beaton, Lay member for Public and Patient Involvement 

Barbara Beaton trained and practiced as a lawyer and 
worked for more than 30 years as a solicitor, specialising 
in third sector and social enterprise management, 
development and support and public service provision of 
key services such as housing and social care and support. 
She was involved operationally as a manager of a large 
regional provider delivering legal advice service and has 
worked on strategic and policy issues locally and 
nationally.  More recently Barbara worked with local 
communities in Sussex to support local action planning 
and initiatives. 
Barbara now runs a business support consultancy 
Sandpiper Business Support Ltd working with many 
organisations and their stakeholders, in both rural and 
urban settings, to promote and support the development of 
the social economy. Barbara is also a Director and South-
East regional contact for Social Audit Network Ltd. She 
lives near Battle. 

 

 
Dr Rajeev Dhar, Independent member and Secondary Care Doctor 

 

Dr Rajeev Dhar is a Consultant Psychiatrist and the 
Secondary Care doctor on the Governing Body.  Having 
qualified in 1994, Dr Dhar brings extensive clinical 
experience from the NHS and private sector into the CCG.  
He is a recognised medico-legal expert and was 
previously a Clinical Director for mental health services in 
London.  He is also a non-practising barrister and holds an 
honorary academic at the Institute of Psychiatry. 
Dr Dhar’s role within the CCG is to use his extensive 
experience as a consultant and advise the CCG and 
governing body on secondary care issues. 
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Rose Durban, Lay member 

Rose Durban initially trained and worked teaching 
children with special educational needs in a range of 
schools in the South East and London, then became an 
advisor specialising in providing schools with advice and 
support on curriculum assessment.  Later she was a local 
Government Director with a brief for Education, Leisure 
and Libraries and subsequently responsibility for 
Children’s and Adult Social Care.  More recently Rose, has 
worked both as a Director in the West Midlands and as a 
national advisor helping councils to make sustainable 
improvements after an inadequate Children’s services 
Ofsted rating. 
Rose now runs her own management consultancy RGC 
Consulting Limited.  She is a trained and practising 
executive coach, a trustee of an education charity, a 
school governor and volunteer.  Rose is a core member of 
a NICE public health committee. 
She lives in Cooden Beach, near Bexhill and enjoys 
writing, running and swimming. 

 

 
Karen Keane, Independent member and Registered Nurse member 

 

Karen Keane has worked as a nurse in the NHS for over 
25 years.  She has had a varied career with experience of 
working in hospital, general practice, primary care, public 
health and commissioning roles.  Karen is committed to 
ensuring that the CCG commissions high quality, timely 
and accessible healthcare services for our local 
communities. 
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Composition of the Governing Body during 2018/19 
 

Name Position Terms of appointment 

Dr David 
Warden 

GP member of the Governing 
Body and CCG Clinical Chair 

Appointed 1 April 2013, term of 
office until 31 March 2016 
Appointed for a further term, 
and appointed as Clinical Chair, 
1 April 2016, term of Office until 
31 March 2019 
Term extended to 31 March 
2020 

Barbara 
Beaton 

Lay member on the Governing 
Body 

Appointed 1 April 2013, term of 
office until 6 January 2016 
Term extended to 30 April 2016 
Appointed for a further term 1 
May 2016 to 30 April 2019 
Term extended to 30 
September 2019 
Term extended to 31 March 
2020 

Dr Binodh 
Bhaskaran 

GP member of the Governing 
Body 

Appointed 1 April 2016, term of 
office until 31 March 2019 
Term extended to 31 March 
2020 

David Cryer Interim Strategic Director of 
Finance (Joint with NHS 
Brighton and Hove CCG, NHS 
East Surrey CCG, NHS 
Hastings and Rother CCG, 
NHS Eastbourne, Hailsham 
and Seaford CCG, NHS High 
Weald Lewes Havens CCG, 
and NHS Horsham and Mid 
Sussex CCG) 

Appointed 1 January 2019 

Adam Doyle Chief Executive Officer (Joint 
with NHS Brighton and Hove 
CCG, NHS East Surrey CCG, 
NHS Crawley CCG, NHS 
Coastal West Sussex CCG, 
NHS Horsham and Mid Sussex 
CCG, NHS Eastbourne, 
Hailsham and Seaford CCG, 

Appointed as Accountable 
Officer on 17 September 2018  
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Name Position Terms of appointment 
NHS High Weald Lewes 
Havens CCG, and NHS 
Horsham and Mid Sussex 
CCG) 

Rose Durban Lay member (joint appointment 
with NHS Eastbourne, 
Hailsham and Seaford CCG) 

Appointed 3 October 2016 
Term of office until 2 October 
2019 
Term extended to 31 March 
2020 

Dr Rajeev 
Dhar 

Secondary Care Doctor on the 
Governing Body (joint 
appointment with NHS 
Eastbourne, Hailsham and 
Seaford CCG from 1 April 
2017) 

Appointed 1 April 2013, term of 
office until 6 January 2016 
Term extended from 1 to 31 
January 2016 
Appointed for a further term 1 
February 2016 to 31 January 
2019 
Term extended to 31 March 
2020 

Karen Keane Independent member – 
Registered Nurse on the 
Governing Body (joint 
appointment with NHS 
Eastbourne, Hailsham and 
Seaford CCG) 

Appointed 1 April 2013, term of 
office until 31 March 2016 
Term was extended until 30 
June 2016, and then until 31 
July 2016 
Appointed for a further term 1 
August 2016 to 31 July 2019 
Term extended to 31 March 
2020 

Dr Rob 
McNeilly 

GP member of the Governing 
Body 

Appointed 1 April 2013, term of 
office until 31 March 2015 
Appointed for a further term 1 
April 2015 to 31 March 2018 
Term extended to 31 March 
2019  

John 
O’Sullivan 

Chief Finance Officer  (joint 
appointment with NHS 
Eastbourne, Hailsham and 
Seaford CCG) 
(Until January 2019) 

Appointed 1 April 2013, until 
January 2019 
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Name Position Terms of appointment 

Dr Linda 
Parker 

GP member of the Governing 
Body 

Appointed 16 July 2018, term of 
office until 15 July 2021 

Amanda 
Philpott 

Chief Officer  (joint 
appointment with NHS 
Eastbourne, Hailsham and 
Seaford CCG) 
(Until September 2018) 

Appointed 1 April 2013, until 
September 2018 

Dr Milan 
Radia 

GP member of the Governing 
Body 

Appointed 1 April 2013, term of 
office until 31 March 2015 
Appointment extended until 31 
March 2017 
Appointed for a further term 1 
April 2017 to 31 March 2020 

Julia Rudrum Lay member on the Governing 
Body (joint appointment with 
NHS Eastbourne, Hailsham 
and Seaford CCG from 1 
February 2019) 

Appointed 1 May 2014, term of 
Office until 30 April 2016 
Appointed for a further term 1 
May 2016 to 30 April 2019 
Term extended to 30 June 
2019 
Term extended to 31 March 
2020 

Alan 
Rummins 

Lay member on the Governing 
Body 

Appointed 1 April 2013, term of 
office until 6 January 2016 
Appointment extended to 31 
January 2016 
Appointed for a further term 1 
February 2016 to 31 January 
2019 
Resigned at end of term 31 
January 2019 
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Emergency preparedness resilience and response 
The Civil Contingencies Act 2004 and the NHS Act 2006 (NHSA) (as amended) 
place responsibilities on Clinical Commissioning Groups in relation to Emergency 
Planning, Resilience, and Response (EPRR) as described below. 
 
The Civil Contingencies Act 2004 (CCA) defines CCGs as a Category 2 responder 
organisation. This means the CCG has a legal obligation to support, co-operate, and 
share information with other responding organisations in planning for and responding 
to emergencies.  
 
Section 252A of the NHS Act 2006 (NHSA) requires that CCGs take appropriate 
steps to prepare for and respond to emergencies. In this regard, I can confirm that 
the CCG has in place suitable plans enabling it to respond to major incidents and 
emergencies as they may arise. These plans are consistent with the NHS England 
Emergency Preparedness Framework and are regularly reviewed and exercised.   
 
The NHS Act 2006 requires NHS England to establish processes to monitor and 
seek assurance that each CCG is properly prepared for dealing with emergencies. In 
order to ensure that CCGs are meeting their responsibilities under the CCA and the 
NHSA, NHS England has created a framework for Emergency Planning, Resilience, 
and Response including a robust annual assurance process under which NHS 
organisations are obliged to demonstrate their compliance. This process identifies a 
series of core standards for EPRR against which commissioner and provider 
organisations are assessed. As a commissioner of services, CCGs use these core 
standards to seek assurance from service providers, and in turn provide assurance 
to NHS England that the CCG and its local health economy are meeting their 
obligations in relation to EPRR. 
 
Under the last annual assurance process, concluded in October 2018, NHS Hastings 
and Rother CCG was assessed as “substantially” compliant with the NHS England 
National Core Standards for EPRR.  
 
The CCG’s providers of clinical services, in accordance with CCA, NHSA, and the 
terms of the NHS Standard Contract, have their own responsibilities in respect of 
EPRR for which the CCG seeks assurance. The seven CCGs in Sussex collectively 
sought assurance from their provider organisations against the national core 
standards. For the most part the, Sussex CCGs were assured that the providers 
were adequately meeting their EPRR responsibilities. However, where it was evident 
that a provider had not met the required standard in their EPRR responsibilities, they 
will continue to work with their local CCG to improve their performance against the 
national core standards.  
 
As the Chief Accountable Officer for NHS Hastings and Rother CCG I have chosen 
to delegate the responsibility for EPRR to an Accountable Emergency Officer (AEO) 
who is responsible for ensuring that the CCG is compliant with its EPRR obligations. 
The AEO represents the CCG at the Local Health Resilience Forum, taking a 
strategic coordinated view of EPRR activity amongst health organisations in 
Sussex.  Terry Willows, Director of Corporate Affairs, has been appointed AEO for 
the CCG supported by Julia Rudrum, Lay member for Governance, and CCG staff 
with responsibilities for EPRR.  
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Register of interests 
NHS Hastings and Rother CCG keeps a register of interests and a register of gifts 
and hospitality on its website.  The register for the governing body and senior 
managers (as defined in the remuneration report) for the year can be found on our 
website here http://www.eastbournehailshamandseafordccg.nhs.uk/about-us/our-
governing-body/. 
 
Serious Incidents (SIs) 
In 2018/19, NHS Hastings and Rother CCG completed a serious incident 
investigation in relation to the Commissioning of Community Non Weight Bearing 
services. The independent review found no evidence of clinical harm. The 
investigation has highlighted learning for the organisation in relation to ensuring 
appropriate organisational governance processes are in place for all commissioned 
services with appropriate oversight by the quality and safeguarding teams. A robust 
improvement plan is in place and is being shared widely within the organisation to 
ensure the learning is embedded. 
 
Statement of disclosure to auditors  
Each individual who is a member of the CCG at the time the members’ report is 
approved confirms:  
 

• So far as the member is aware there is no relevant audit information of which 
the CCG’s auditor is unaware that would be relevant for the purposes of their 
audit report, and 

• The member has taken all the steps that they ought to have taken in order to 
make himself or herself aware of any relevant audit information and to 
establish that the CCG’s auditor is aware of it. 

 
Modern Slavery Act   
NHS Hastings and Rother CCG fully supports the government’s objectives to 
eradicate modern slavery and human trafficking but does not meet the requirements 
for producing an annual Slavery and Human Trafficking Statement as set out in the 
Modern Slavery Act 2015.  

  

http://www.eastbournehailshamandseafordccg.nhs.uk/about-us/our-governing-body/
http://www.eastbournehailshamandseafordccg.nhs.uk/about-us/our-governing-body/
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Statement of Accountable Officer’s 
Responsibilities  
 
The National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended) states that each Clinical 
Commissioning Group shall have an Accountable Officer and that Officer shall be 
appointed by the NHS Commissioning Board (NHS England).  NHS England has 
appointed the Chief Executive Officer to be the Accountable Officer of NHS Hastings 
and Rother CCG. 
 
The responsibilities of an Accountable Officer are set out under the National Health 
Service Act 2006 (as amended), Managing Public Money and in the Clinical 
Commissioning Group Accountable Officer Appointment Letter.  They include 
responsibilities for:  
 

• The propriety and regularity of the public finances for which the Accountable 
Officer is answerable  

• Keeping proper accounting records (which disclose with reasonable accuracy 
at any time the financial position of the Clinical Commissioning Group and 
enable them to ensure that the accounts comply with the requirements of the 
Accounts Direction)  

• Safeguarding the Clinical Commissioning Group’s assets (and hence for 
taking reasonable steps for the prevention and detection of fraud and other 
irregularities) 

• The relevant responsibilities of accounting officers under Managing Public 
Money 

• Ensuring the CCG exercises its functions effectively, efficiently, and 
economically (in accordance with Section 14Q of the National Health Service 
Act 2006 (as amended)) and with a view to securing continuous improvement 
in the quality of services (in accordance with Section14R of the National 
Health Service Act 2006 (as amended)), and 

• Ensuring that the CCG complies with its financial duties under Sections 223H 
to 223J of the National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended). 

 
Under the National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended), NHS England has 
directed each Clinical Commissioning Group to prepare for each financial year a 
statement of accounts in the form and on the basis set out in the Accounts Direction. 
The accounts are prepared on an accruals basis and must give a true and fair view 
of the state of affairs of the Clinical Commissioning Group and of its income and 
expenditure, Statement of Financial Position, and cash flows for the financial year. 
 
In preparing the accounts, the Accountable Officer is required to comply with the 
requirements of the Government Financial Reporting Manual for the relevant 
financial year taking account of the application guidance contained in the 
Department of Health and Social Care Group Accounting Manual for the relevant 
financial year and in particular to: 
 



TaylorA013
Text Box



82   ANNUAL REPORT 2018/19   |   NHS Hastings and Rother Clinical Commissioning Group 

Governance statement 
 
Introduction and context 
NHS Hastings and Rother CCG is a body corporate established by NHS England on 
1 April 2013 under the National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended). 
 
The Clinical Commissioning Group’s statutory functions are set out under the 
National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended).  The CCG’s general function is 
arranging the provision of services for persons for the purposes of the health service 
in England.  The CCG is, in particular, required to arrange for the provision of certain 
health services to such extent as it considers necessary to meet the reasonable 
requirements of its local population. 
 
NHS England applied legal directions to NHS Hastings and Rother CCG in July 2018 
which expire on 30 June 2019, (issued under Section 14Z21 of the National Health 
Service Act 2006).    
 
The directions focussed on financial issues but also leadership, governance, 
capacity and capability issues and required: 
 

• Completion of a governance review and production of an action plan following 
the review 

• Completion of a capacity and capability review and production of an action 
plan following the review 

• Development and implementation of a credible Financial Recovery Plan 
• That NHS England are consulted on senior appointments, and 
• That the CCG fully cooperates with the System Improvement Director, jointly 

appointed by NHS England and NHS Improvement. 
 
The full directions can be found on the NHS England website here 
https://www.england.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2018/07/ccg-directions-hastings-
and-rother-2018.pdf. 
 
During 2018/19 I took on the role of Accountable Officer for all eight of the Sussex 
and East Surrey CCGs. I was appointed as NHS Hastings and Rother CCG’s 
Accountable Officer with effect from 17 September 2018. This mirrors the Sussex 
and East Surrey Sustainability and Transformation Partnership and presents a way 
of working across a larger commissioning footprint which allows the organisations to 
plan and commission services more effectively and efficiently. The work we do and 
how we plan future services are part of the wider plans to improve health and social 
care for our populations. 
 
During the period I have been the Accountable Officer for NHS Hastings and Rother 
CCG, I have held the same position across the other CCGs in Sussex and East 
Surrey.  In this period I have been especially mindful of the need to ensure that the 
individual statutory responsibilities of each CCG are not in any way undermined by 
my wider responsibilities.  The governance structure of NHS Hastings and Rother 
CCG has been fully utilised and adhered to at all times to ensure decision making is 

https://www.england.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2018/07/ccg-directions-hastings-and-rother-2018.pdf
https://www.england.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2018/07/ccg-directions-hastings-and-rother-2018.pdf
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taken in the best interest of the CCG. Conflicts of interest where they have arisen 
have been declared and managed in the appropriate way. 
 
Building on the work of the former Accountable Officer, I have, with the support of 
the governing body, continued to develop the governance processes and 
commissioning functions of the CCGs for which I am responsible. I have not only 
effectively discharged my duties but have moved the CCG forward and addressed 
the key aspects of the legal directions.  
 
Financial recovery 
The CCG ended 2017/18 in a challenging financial position in common with some 
other Sussex and East Surrey CCGs.  
 
Our Chief Finance Officer confirmed his intentions to retire during the financial year 
and I secured an experienced interim appointment in David Cryer, who was already 
working with the Central Sussex and East Surrey Alliance as Director of Financial 
Delivery.  This key appointment provided consistency of approach and stability so 
that the CCG can continue to consolidate its journey towards financial equilibrium. 
In response to legal directions, PriceWaterhouseCoopers (PwC) carried out a review 
of our Quality, Innovation, Productivity and Prevention (QIPP) schemes in May 2018.  
This informed and improved approach jointly with NHS Hastings and Rother CCG to 
deliver our schemes, aimed at improving quality and reducing costs, which would 
meet our targets for the financial year.  
 
The appointment of a System Improvement Director was agreed to act on behalf of 
both regulatory organisations (NHS England and NHS Improvement) to lead on the 
financial recovery and to ensure a single approach to regulatory support and assure 
delivery of local plans to drive the necessary improvements.   
 
NHS Hastings and Rother CCG has developed financial reporting that addresses the 
issues raised and ensures its committees and governing body have very clear 
oversight of:   
 

• The in-year financial position 
• The underlying financial position, and  
• The implementation and achievement of our Quality, Innovation, Productivity 

and Prevention (QIPP). 
 
The CCG submitted its system financial recovery plan to regulators on 20 December 
2018, in line with agreed timescales. This was an integrated plan with East Sussex 
Healthcare NHS Trust (ESHT) to ensure a system-wide approach. The plan sits 
within the context of our shared system ambition to deliver integrated health and 
care services for our local populations. The CCG continues to work across the 
system and with regulators in order to exit legal directions. 
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Governance review  
In response to specific legal directions, NHS Hastings and Rother CCG jointly with 
NHS Eastbourne, Hailsham and Seaford CCG, commissioned Deloitte to undertake 
a capacity and capability review in August 2018.  
 
The CCGs welcomed the recommendations this independent governance report 
brought and recognised many of the areas that had been highlighted for 
improvement. The CCGs took clear and early action to address many of the issues 
raised, most notably with new leadership. This has brought renewed rigour, focus 
and strategic oversight to help drive improvement within our organisations and set a 
clear path to financial sustainability in the future.  
 
Clinical leadership 
During 2018/19 we have worked with the CCG Clinical Chairs across the STP area 
to develop our model of clinical leadership and engagement to ensure that the vision 
for CCGs as clinically-led organisations is not lost while we address the considerable 
financial challenges. We have also ensured we have improvement of the clinical 
leadership of our QIPP (Quality, Innovation, Productivity and Prevention) schemes 
and transformation work. 
 
Staff engagement and inclusion programme 
NHS Hastings and Rother CCG jointly with NHS Eastbourne, Hailsham and Seaford 
CCG, held two staff conferences during 2018/19, one to focus on financial recovery 
and a second staff conference, incorporating strategic updates offering a focus on 
our CCGs’ transition to working with CCGs across Sussex and East Surrey; an 
opportunity to meet NHS Sussex and East Surrey (SES) CCGs senior leaders; an 
opportunity to discuss how we live our organisational values; a wide range of staff 
masterclasses; a marketplace and our annual staff awards.   
 
We have a range of staff engagement mechanisms including our Organisational 
Development Reference Group and our Health and Wellbeing Group, alongside 
regular staff briefings and team meetings.  
 
We ran a programme of learning opportunities during National Inclusion Week.  In 
addition, we’ve summarised our wide range of inclusion work in our Inclusion Action 
Plan, Workforce Race Equality Standard Action Plan and our Public Sector Equality 
Duty Annual Report. These incorporate the breadth of inclusion activity undertaken 
at the CCGs including how we commission services; implement action to improve 
our workforce inclusion; and our dedicated reducing health inequalities programme, 
Healthy Hastings and Rother.  
 
A Compassionate and Inclusive Leadership conference was held for staff across 
NHS Sussex and East Surrey CCGs. The essence of the conference related to how 
we can better develop organisational and professional relationships with staff and 
stakeholders so that they enhance our potential for reducing health inequalities and 
providing outstanding healthcare services to all of our communities.  
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I am determined that we become an exemplar of CCGs who value the diverse 
backgrounds, heritages, and skills of our teams and harness this collective talent to 
commission the best care we can for patients. This conference was another step 
forward on what will be a long journey for us.  
 
Conclusion 
I have appointed an executive team to provide greater leadership and executive 
resilience across the CCGs which enables me to ensure that the full benefits of 
collective working are realised.  In my new role across the eight CCGs of the STP I 
will be further developing our structures to ensure that the CCG has the right 
executive and clinical leadership to enable it to meet the challenge of commissioner 
reform and moving to Integrated Care Systems in line with the national direction 
outlined in the NHS Long Term Plan. 
 
Taken together, the above actions have given me sources of assurance that I have 
been able to reference as part of this governance statement.  
 

Scope of responsibility 
 
As Accountable Officer, I have responsibility for maintaining a sound system of 
internal control that supports the achievement of the clinical commissioning group’s 
policies, aims and objectives, whilst safeguarding the public funds and assets for 
which I am personally responsible, in accordance with the responsibilities assigned 
to me in Managing Public Money. I also acknowledge my responsibilities as set out 
under the National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended) and in my Clinical 
Commissioning Group Accountable Officer Appointment Letter. 
 
I am responsible for ensuring that the clinical commissioning group is administered 
prudently and economically and that resources are applied efficiently and effectively, 
safeguarding financial propriety and regularity. I also have responsibility for 
reviewing the effectiveness of the system of internal control within the clinical 
commissioning group as set out in this governance statement. 
 

Governance arrangements and effectiveness 
 
The main function of the governing body is to ensure that the group has made 
appropriate arrangements for ensuring that it exercises its functions effectively, 
efficiently, and economically and complies with such generally accepted principles of 
good governance as are relevant to it. The main features of the governance of NHS 
Hastings and Rother CCG are described below. 
 
In accordance with the Health and Social Care Act 2012 the CCG was formed as a 
membership organisation with the constituent GP practices as its members.  
 
The CCG governing body has responsibility for ensuring good governance 
arrangements and as well as its main function the membership has assigned the 
following specific duties to the governing body: 
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• Leading the setting of vision and strategy 
• Approving the annual strategic commissioning plans 
• Approving the annual budget 
• Monitoring performance against plans and providing assurance of strategic 

risk 
• Ensuring that the registers of interest are reviewed regularly, and updated as 

necessary, and 
• Ensuring that all conflicts of interest or potential conflicts of interest are 

declared and appropriate management plans are in place. 
 
The governing body meets ‘in common’ as the governing bodies of NHS Eastbourne, 
Hailsham and Seaford CCG and NHS Hastings and Rother CCG. This involves 
having a common agenda and meeting in a common venue at the same time but 
taking individual CCG decisions.  
 
The governing body meets formally in public. The governing body also meets 
informally to discuss matters that arise and to give an opportunity for development 
and training. This is part of an ongoing process which will be further strengthened 
through the organisational development activities of the eight Sussex and East 
Surrey CCGs (SES). 
 
As a clinically-led organisation it is necessary for there to be strong clinical 
representation on the governing body and on the committees of the CCG and the 
constitution of the CCG provides for strong clinical representation. 
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CCG Committee Structure 
 
The following diagram illustrates the CCG’s governance structure. 
 
CCG governance structure 
 

 
 
A summary of the functions of each of the committees of the governing body is given 
below: 
 
Audit Committee 
To assist the CCG to deliver its responsibilities for the conduct of public business 
and the stewardship of funds under its control. In particular, the Committee will seek 
to provide assurance to the governing body that an appropriate system of internal 
control is in place to ensure that: 
 

• Business is conducted in accordance with the law and proper standards 
• Public money is safeguarded and properly accounted for 
• Financial Statements are prepared in a timely fashion, and give a true and fair 

view of the financial position of the CCG for the period in question 
• Affairs are managed to secure economic, efficient and effective use of 

resources, and 
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• Reasonable steps are taken to prevent and detect fraud and other 
irregularities. 

 
Remuneration Committee 
To assist the governing body in meeting its responsibilities as statutory employer to 
ensure appropriate remuneration, allowances and terms of service for all formal 
governing body members and other individuals who are engaged by the CCG but also 
not on Agenda for Change (AfC) Terms and Conditions, having proper regard to the 
organisation’s circumstances and performance and to the provisions of any national 
arrangements where appropriate. 
 
Primary Care Commissioning Committee 
To be a corporate decision-making body for the management of the delegated 
functions and the exercise of the delegated functions relating to the commissioning 
of primary medical services under section 83 of the NHS Act in accordance with 
Section 13Z of the NHS Act. The Committee is subject to any directions made by 
NHS England or by the Secretary of State. 
 
To make collective decisions on the review, planning and procurement of primary 
care services in Hastings and Rother, under delegated authority from NHS England. 
In performing its role the Committee will exercise its management of the functions in 
accordance with the agreement entered into between NHS England and NHS 
Hastings and Rother CCG, which will sit alongside the delegation and terms of 
reference. 
 
Quality and Governance Committee  
To provide assurance that corporate responsibilities and duties are discharged, 
including: 
 

• Assurance on the systems and processes by which organisational objectives 
and compliance, and the safety and quality of clinical services, are achieved 

• Assurance regarding risk, including organisational risk and risks related to the 
delivery of commissioned services 

• Assurance regarding external contractors delivering administrative and 
management functions to the CCG 

• Assurance regarding the delivery of equality and engagement duties 
• Assurance on compliance with information governance duties 
• Assurance that responsibilities with regard to the NHS Constitution are 

discharged, and 
• Assurance that other statutory and legal requirements are met. 

 
Performance and Delivery Committee 
To provide oversight and assurance on the integrated performance of all 
commissioned services and on delivery against internal Quality, Innovation, 
Productivity and Prevention (QIPP) targets and related change management 
programmes.  
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Procurement Committee 
To ensure a strategic approach to procurement management and to provide 
oversight and assurance on the procurement process and on the delivery against the 
annual Procurement Plan.  
 
ESBT Strategic Commissioning Board 
The East Sussex Better Together (ESBT) Strategic Commissioning Board is made 
up of councillors from East Sussex County Council and General Practitioners and lay 
members from the governing bodies of NHS Hastings and Rother and NHS 
Eastbourne, Hailsham and Seaford Clinical Commissioning Groups. 
 
They are responsible for addressing the health needs of the population and for 
commissioning health and social care through oversight of the ESBT Strategic 
Investment Plan (SIP) which sets the outcomes to be delivered by the ESBT Alliance 
to meet the needs of the population, reflecting national policy where this is 
appropriate, and ensures that local people are engaged in discussions to understand 
local needs and the outcomes to be delivered. The board monitors and evaluates the 
meeting of needs and the delivery of outcomes. 
 

UK Corporate Governance Code  
 
NHS Bodies are not required to comply with the UK Code of Corporate Governance. 
However, we have reported on our corporate governance arrangements by drawing 
on best practice available, including those aspects of the UK corporate governance 
code we consider to be relevant to the CCG. For the financial year ending 31 March 
2019 and up until the date of signing this statement we have complied with the 
provisions of the Code as would be expected of a CCG. 
 
Leadership 
NHS Hastings and Rother CCG is headed by an effective governing body which is 
collectively responsible for the long-term success of the CCG. There is a clear 
division of responsibilities between the running of the governing body and the 
executive responsibility for the running of the CCG’s business. No one individual has 
unfettered powers of decision and decision-making powers are clearly governed by 
the CCG’s Standing Orders and Prime Financial Instructions. 
 
NHS England’s evaluation of the quality of the CCG’s leadership can be found on the 
My NHS website at https://www.nhs.uk/service-search/Performance/Search . The 
latest published evaluation (from summer 2018) is ‘requires improvement’. As 
detailed in this annual report the CCG has taken a series of actions to strengthen the 
governance arrangements and leadership of the CCG during 2018/19. 
 
Effectiveness 
The governing body and its committees have the appropriate balance of skills, 
experience, independence, and knowledge to enable them to discharge their 
respective duties and responsibilities effectively.  
 

https://www.nhs.uk/service-search/Performance/Search
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During 2018/19 there has been a review of the training and developmental needs of 
the governing body and there will be a training programme implemented in the 
coming year. 
 
The arrangements for appointments to key roles are outlined in the CCG’s 
Constitution and in the case of the Accountable Officer, Chair, and Chief Finance 
Officer these are subject to the NHS England appointment process. The CCG 
directions mean that no senior or executive appointment can be made without NHS 
England approval. 
 
The executive members of the governing body set objectives annually and their 
performance is reviewed by the Accountable Officer. The governing body and 
committee papers are supplied in a timely manner in accordance with the timescales 
for receipt of papers as set out in the CCG’s constitution and each committee’s terms 
of reference. The governing body papers are prepared with information in a form and 
of a quality appropriate to enable the governing body to discharge its duties.  
 
Accountability 
The governing body considers that it presents a balanced and understandable 
assessment of the CCG’s position and prospects. The CCG’s management of risk 
and arrangements for the Audit Committee are outlined elsewhere in the governance 
statement. 
 
The CCG does not have shareholders but is accountable to the public for its 
activities. The CCG engaged patients, stakeholder organisations, and the public in 
planning its objectives particularly when considering larger scale service changes 
when it had a duty to consult. See the section on Engaging People and Communities 
in this annual report for more details on patient and public engagement.  
 

Discharge of statutory functions 
 
In light of recommendations of the 2013 Harris Review, the CCG has reviewed all of 
the statutory duties and powers conferred on it by the NHSA 2006 (as amended) and 
other associated legislation and regulations. As a result, I can confirm that the CCG 
is clear about the legislative requirements associated with each of the statutory 
functions for which it is responsible, including any restrictions on delegation of those 
functions. 
 
Responsibility for each duty and power has been clearly allocated to a lead Director. 
Directorates have confirmed that their structures provide the necessary capacity and 
capability to undertake all of the CCG’s statutory duties. 
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Risk management arrangements and 
effectiveness  
 
The governing body is committed to ensuring that good corporate governance and 
risk management are integral to the organisation’s philosophy, practice and planning 
rather than being viewed or practiced as separate programmes, and to ensuring that 
responsibility for implementation is accepted at all levels of the organisation.. 
 
The governing body reviews the Risk Management Strategy annually, regularly 
reviews its assurance framework and receives reports on the governance, internal 
control, risk and assurance work of its committees. Deployment of the CCG Risk 
Management Strategy and its supporting policy and procedures are managed within 
each directorate with expert support from a dedicated Risk and Business Planning 
Manager. The Strategy sets out the structure, system and accountabilities for risk 
management within the CCG, promoting high quality, safe, accountable healthcare, 
minimising risks to the organisation and our staff, and maximising available 
resources. 
 
The governing body receives details of the extreme risks, their potential impact on 
the Key Objectives, the controls and assurances in place and the actions scheduled 
to further mitigate the risks in the form of an Assurance Framework. This is 
submitted for discussion and approval at each formal meeting of the governing body 
along with the reports arising from the regular scrutiny of the risks and the risk 
system by the committees. 
 
There are particular responsibilities for the governing body, committees and 
individuals. New risks are assessed and appropriate measures put in place to 
manage those risks within a pre-determined timescale. Each risk is scored against 
the CCG Model Risk Matrix, adapted from the National Patient Safety Agency 
(NPSA) model matrix, and is reviewed at least bi-monthly by the manager who is 
nominated as the ‘owner’ of the risk. High level risks; those with high impact, high 
likelihood or both are overseen by the Local Management Team. Extreme risks are 
assessed for their potential impact upon the Governing Body’s Key Objectives, 
controls are designed to ensure that the management actions are undertaken and 
assurances on the effect of those actions are also detailed. 
 
The Quality and Governance Committee scrutinises each of the high level and 
extreme risks at each of its meetings. Where there is insufficient assurance available 
members will direct that actions are taken to ensure that this is remedied. 
 
Risk management training is made available to all staff and is mandatory. All staff 
must attend an update every year. A full range of health and safety and other 
mandatory training packages are made available to all relevant staff. Records of 
attendance are kept and collated for reporting purposes. 
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Capacity to Handle Risk  
 
The Quality and Governance Committee scrutinises all corporate risks at each of its 
meetings. It notes the totality of risk and raises issues on individual risks which are 
communicated to risk owners and addressed. The Local Management Team agrees 
the revised register and the resulting Assurance Framework report prior to 
submission to governing body. 
 
The Primary Care Commissioning Committee reviews risks related to this area of 
work and any risks outside of this area which may, likewise, impact on our primary 
care commissioning. 
 
The governing body scrutinises and approves the Assurance Framework at each 
meeting. It notes the actions in place to mitigate risks and the controls and 
assurances planned to manage the mitigation. The governing body has considered 
both its tolerance of risk and its risk appetite. It has directed a level of authority that 
senior management has (under the Accountable Officer) to take risk and has 
mandated that this may only be done when the totality of risk on the Assurance 
Framework is below a certain level. In this way the organisation’s capacity to 
manage risk is not overstretched.  
 
The Audit Committee scrutinises the system of risk management ensuring that it is fit 
for purpose and that it is robustly and consistently deployed across the organisation. 
The internal auditors assessed the CCG risk system as giving ‘Reasonable 
Assurance’. 
 
Risk Assessment 
 
The CCG recognises that it is impossible to eliminate all risk and that the aim of risk 
management is to mitigate risks using control measures and action plans.  As part of 
risk assessment the risks are given an initial risk score and a target (or residual) risk 
score.   
 
The target risk score represents the level of risk that remains after existing control 
measures and actions have been taken into account; it is the level of risk that is 
acceptable to the CCG.  
 
NHS Hastings and Rother CCG has determined a risk appetite which sets the level 
at which the CCG is prepared to tolerate the risk, although the risk appetite is not 
necessarily static and may change depending on the circumstances. The detailed 
scoring criteria are specified by the CCG Model Risk Matrix which can be found as 
an appendix to the CCG’s Risk Management Strategy and comprises the impact 
score multiplied by likelihood score.   
 
Key risks 
The Assurance Framework maps each Principal Risk against the Key Objective 
which it most impacts and shows those other objectives which might be impacted 
and is reported to each Audit Committee and governing body meeting. 
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The risks included on the Assurance Framework were aligned to 2018/19 Key 
Objectives at the start of the year and in year risks have been added and removed 
from the Assurance Framework as risks were identified, closed and scores 
amended. 
 
The lower the total level of residual risk and the greater the levels of control and 
assurance, the more assured the governing body may be about achieving that 
particular objective. 
 
Each objective may have one or more risks aligned to it; the position in March 2019 
is set out in the tables below.  
 
Risks with a score of 15 and above as at 31 March 2019 
 
Objective 1: Deliver in-year plans to address health inequalities 

Reference Risk Description Current 
Score 
(Impact x 
Likelihood) 

Residual 
Score 
(Impact x 
Likelihood) 

Risk 1820 There is a risk that South East Coast 
Ambulance Service (SECAmb) 
deployment of resources/skilled workforce 
will be insufficient to prevent delays or 
meet National targets. 

5x3=15 5x2=10 

Risk 1823 There is a risk that the main outcomes of 
the National Transforming Care 
Programme will not be delivered. 

4x4=16 4x3=12 

Risk 1840 There is a risk of delays to children and 
young people accessing Child and Adult 
Mental Health Service (CAMHS) service, 
due to staff capacity. 

4x4=16 4x3=12 

Total current level of risk against the objective 47  

The total residual level of risk, once mitigating actions 
are delivered  34 

 In view of: 

• The medium level of residual risk (34) 
• Most relevant risks having adequate controls, and 
• A range of measures being on target. 

The level of assurance was Reasonable 
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Objective 2: Meet NHS Constitutional Standards during 2018/19 

Reference Risk Description Current 
Score 
(Impact x 
Likelihood) 

Residual 
Score 
(Impact x 
Likelihood) 

Risk 1801 There is a risk that East Sussex 
Healthcare NHS Trust’s failure to meet a 
number of NHS Constitutional Standards 
will result in poorer clinical outcomes for 
patients. 

3x5=15 3x4=12 

Risk 1818 There is a risk that a cyber-attack may 
render patient data and/or clinical 
systems inaccessible or may cause wide-
scale disruption to internet and fixed line 
telecoms which, in turn, may affect all 
other infrastructure and compromise 
service delivery and CCG functions. 

5x3=15 5x2=10 

Risk 1820 There is a risk that SECAmb deployment 
of resources/skilled workforce will be 
insufficient to prevent delays or meet 
National targets. 

5x3=15 5x2=10 

Total current level of risk against the objective 45  

The total residual level of risk, once mitigating actions 
are delivered  32 

In view of: 

• The medium level of residual risk (32) 
• Most relevant risks having adequate controls, and 
• A range of performance measures remain not meeting targets (although 

significant improvement has been noted). 
The level of assurance was Limited 
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Objective 3: Deliver plans for ensuring and improving quality for local people 
underpinned by citizen engagement 

Reference Risk Description Current 
Score 
(Impact x 
Likelihood) 

Residual 
Score 
(Impact x 
Likelihood) 

Risk 1803 There is a risk that until the new 
integrated GP Out of Hours model is 
delivered in 2019 there may be 
insufficient resource available and there 
is likely to be increased patient activity in 
A&E. 

4x4=16 4x3=12 

Risk 1805 There is a risk that the resilience of the 
workforce (available number of GPs, 
Practice Nurses, Practice Managers) may 
not meet the needs of the population or 
support transformation of the services. 

4x4=16 4x3=12 

Risk 1818 There is a risk that a cyber-attack may 
render patient data and/or clinical 
systems inaccessible or may cause wide-
scale disruption to internet and fixed line 
telecoms which, in turn, may affect all 
other infrastructure and compromise 
service delivery and CCG functions. 

5x3=15 5x2=10 

Risk 1820 There is a risk that SECAmb deployment 
of resources/skilled workforce will be 
insufficient to prevent delays or meet 
National targets. 

5x3=15 5x2=10 

Risk 1823 There is a risk that the main outcomes of 
the National Transforming Care 
Programme will not be delivered. 

4x4=16 4x3=12 

Risk 1840 There is a risk of delays to children and 
young people accessing CAMHS service, 
due to staff capacity. 

4x4=16 4x3=12 

Total current level of risk against the objective 94  

The total residual level of risk, once mitigating actions 
are delivered  68 

In view of: 

• The high level of residual risk (68) 
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Objective 3: Deliver plans for ensuring and improving quality for local people 
underpinned by citizen engagement 

Reference Risk Description Current 
Score 
(Impact x 
Likelihood) 

Residual 
Score 
(Impact x 
Likelihood) 

• Most relevant risks having adequate controls, and 
• Most Quality Improvement measures being on target. 

The level of assurance was Limited 
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Objective 4: Maintain reputation of local health system to promote support for 
planned change 

Reference Risk Description Current 
Score 
(Impact x 
Likelihood) 

Residual 
Score 
(Impact x 
Likelihood) 

Risk 1801 There is a risk that East Sussex 
Healthcare NHS Trust’s failure to meet a 
number of NHS Constitutional Standards 
will result in poorer clinical outcomes for 
patients. 

3x5=15 3x4=12 

Risk 1803 There is a risk that until the new 
integrated GP Out of Hours model is 
delivered in 2019 there may be 
insufficient resource available and there 
is likely to be increased patient activity in 
A&E. 

4x4=16 4x3=12 

Risk 1805 There is a risk that the resilience of the 
workforce (available number of GPs, 
Practice Nurses, Practice Managers) may 
not meet the needs of the population or 
support transformation of the services. 

4x4=16 4x3=12 

Risk 1820 There is a risk that SECAmb deployment 
of resources/skilled workforce will be 
insufficient to prevent delays or meet 
National targets. 

5x3=15 5x2=10 

Risk 1833 There is a risk that the CCGs may have 
insufficient capacity and capability to 
manage the changes required to meet 
changing needs and to deliver financial 
recovery. 

5x3=15 4x3=12 

Risk 1840 There is a risk of delays to children and 
young people accessing CAMHS service, 
due to staff capacity. 

4x4=16 4x3=12 

Total current level of risk against the objective 93  

The total residual level of risk, once mitigating actions 
are delivered  70 

In view of: 

• The high level of residual risk (70) 
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Objective 4: Maintain reputation of local health system to promote support for 
planned change 

Reference Risk Description Current 
Score 
(Impact x 
Likelihood) 

Residual 
Score 
(Impact x 
Likelihood) 

• Most relevant risks having adequate controls, and 
• Most reputation measures being maintained. 

The level of assurance was Limited 
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Objective 5: Deliver in-year financial plans (including the financial recovery plan) in 
context of whole system finance plans 

Reference Risk Description Current 
Score 
(Impact x 
Likelihood) 

Residual 
Score 
(Impact x 
Likelihood) 

Risk 1805 There is a risk that the workforce 
(available number of GPs, Practice 
Nurses, Practice Managers) may not 
meet the needs of the population or 
support transformation of the services. 

4x4=16 4x3=12 

Risk 1832 There is a risk that planning for 2019/20 
is not undertaken early enough to 
ensure appropriate planning for the 3+2 
year financial strategy so that schemes 
are in place before 01 April 2019. 

5x4=20 5x2=10 

Risk 1833 There is a risk that the CCGs may have 
insufficient capacity and capability to 
manage the changes required to meet 
changing needs and to deliver financial 
recovery. 

5x3=15 4x3=12 

Total current level of risk against the objective 51  

The total residual level of risk, once mitigating actions 
are delivered  34 

In view of: 

• The medium level of residual risk (34) 
• Most relevant risks having adequate controls, and 
• A range of financial measures being on target. 

The level of assurance was Reasonable 
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Objective 6: Deliver Primary Care (GP Forward View) plans 

Reference Risk Description Current 
Score 
(Impact x 
Likelihood) 

Residual 
Score 
(Impact x 
Likelihood) 

Risk 1803 There is a risk that until the new 
integrated GP Out of Hours model is 
delivered in 2019 there may be 
insufficient resource available and there 
is likely to be increased patient activity in 
A&E. 

4x4=16 4x3=12 

Risk 1805 There is a risk that the resilience of the 
workforce (available number of GPs, 
Practice Nurses, Practice Managers) 
may not meet the needs of the 
population or support transformation of 
the services. 

4x4=16 4x3=12 

Risk 1840 There is a risk of delays to children and 
young people accessing CAMHS service, 
due to staff capacity. 

4x4=16 4x3=12 

Total current level of risk against the objective 48  

The total residual level of risk, once mitigating actions 
are delivered  36 

In view of: 

• The medium level of residual risk (36) 
• Most relevant risks having adequate controls, and 
• A range of performance measures not on target to ensure workforce 

resilience and capacity. 
The level of assurance was Limited 
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Objective 7: Deliver actions to assure enhanced commissioning capability 

Reference Risk Description Current 
Score 
(Impact x 
Likelihood) 

Residual 
Score 
(Impact x 
Likelihood) 

Risk 1818 There is a risk that a cyber-attack may 
render patient data and/or clinical 
systems inaccessible or may cause wide-
scale disruption to internet and fixed line 
telecoms which, in turn, may affect all 
other infrastructure and compromise 
service delivery and CCG functions. 

5x3=15 5x2=10 

Total current level of risk against the objective 15  

The total residual level of risk, once mitigating actions 
are delivered  10 

In view of: 

• The medium level of residual risk (10) 
• Most relevant risks having adequate controls, and 
• Commissioning capability being a focus. 

The level of assurance was Reasonable 
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Objective 8: Assure our role within the Sussex and East Surrey Sustainability and 
Transformation Partnership (STP) 

Reference Risk Description Current 
Score 
(Impact x 
Likelihood) 

Residual 
Score 
(Impact x 
Likelihood) 

Risk 1833 There is a risk that the CCGs may have 
insufficient capacity and capability to 
manage the changes required to meet 
new/ever changing needs and to deliver 
financial recovery. 

5x3=15 4x3=12 

Total current level of risk against the objective 15  

The total residual level of risk, once mitigating actions 
are delivered  12 

In view of: 

• The medium level of residual risk (12) 
• Most relevant risks having adequate controls, and 
• STP involvement and SES relationships developing. 

The level of assurance was Reasonable 
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Objective 9: East Sussex Better Together (ESBT) – Our Integrated Care System 
(place-based and wider as appropriate, including commissioning integration across 
health and care) 

Reference Risk Description Current 
Score 
(Impact x 
Likelihood) 

Residual 
Score 
(Impact x 
Likelihood) 

Risk 1805 There is a risk that the resilience of the 
workforce (available number of GPs, 
Practice Nurses, Practice Managers) may 
not meet the needs of the population or 
support transformation of the services. 

4x4=16 4x3=12 

Total current level of risk against the objective 16  

The total residual level of risk, once mitigating actions 
are delivered  12 

In view of: 

• The medium level of residual risk (12) 
• Most relevant risks having adequate controls, and 
• Most ESBT performance measures being on target  

The level of assurance was Reasonable 
 
The Risk Management System is examined by internal auditors and this contributes 
to the Annual Head of Internal Audit Opinion. 
  

Other sources of assurance  
 
Internal Control Framework 
A system of internal control is the set of processes and procedures in place in the 
clinical commissioning group to ensure it delivers its policies, aims and objectives.  It 
is designed to identify and prioritise the risks, to evaluate the likelihood of those risks 
being realised and the impact should they be realised, and to manage them 
efficiently, effectively and economically. 
 
The system of internal control allows risk to be managed to a reasonable level rather 
than eliminating all risk; it can therefore only provide reasonable and not absolute 
assurance of effectiveness. 

 
The governing body is responsible for determining the nature and extent of the 
significant risks it is willing to take in achieving its strategic objectives and has 
agreed a statement of Risk Appetite. The system of internal control is designed to 
manage risk to a reasonable level rather than to eliminate all risk of failure to achieve 
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policies, aims and objectives; it can therefore only provide reasonable and not 
absolute assurance of effectiveness.  

 
The CCG ensures that effective governance and risk management systems are in 
place for meeting all statutory requirements and adhering to guidance issued by the 
Department of Health in respect of governance. The Director of Corporate 
Governance is accountable for the strategic development and implementation of 
organisational risk management and governance controls. All senior managers are 
accountable to the Chief Executive Officer for risk management and governance 
across the breadth of their functions. 

 
The Audit Committee reports to the governing body and reviews the establishment 
and deployment of an effective system of integrated governance, risk management 
and internal control across the whole of the organisation’s activities that supports the 
achievement of the organisation’s objectives. It reviews the system of risk at each of 
its meetings to ensure that it remains robust and is sufficiently deployed. 
 
Annual audit of conflicts of interest management 
The revised statutory guidance on managing conflicts of interest for CCGs 
(published June 2016) requires CCGs to undertake an annual internal audit of 
conflicts of interest management. To support CCGs to undertake this task, NHS 
England has published a template audit framework. 
 
During 2018 /19 the CCG has not identified any breaches of its policy on conflicts of 
interest. 
 
The annual internal audit of conflicts of interest was carried out in January 2019 and 
provided an assessment of ‘reasonable assurance’.  
 
The CCG carries out a Conflicts of Interest Indicator quarterly and annual self-
assessment as part of the adherence to the national managing conflicts of interest 
guidance.  
 
Data quality 
The CCG governing body has in place comprehensive reporting through which it can 
monitor the result of commissioning initiatives. The Integrated Performance, 
Contracting, and Quality Report provides assurance to the governing body and the 
Performance and Delivery Committee that the organisation and commissioned 
providers are meeting the quantitatively defined set of standards across the domains 
of performance, safety, quality and patient experience. It is structured into themes 
including constitutional targets, activity, and quality.  
 
The annual contract model is built on Secondary User Service (SUS) and Service 
Level Agreement (SLAM) data. We continue to work with our providers to reconcile 
SUS data to their contract monitoring. We have included a Data Quality 
Improvement Plan (DQIP) within the contract with both Surrey and Sussex 
Healthcare NHS Trust and Brighton and Sussex University Hospitals NHS Trust to 
improve data quality in a number of areas.  
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The data received by the governing body and the committees of the CCG is 
continuously reviewed and the contents of reports are refreshed regularly to ensure 
that suitable information is available to the CCG’s committees. Throughout the year 
the data outputs from the Commissioning Support Unit and the in-house 
Performance and Intelligence Team are checked and any outlying or unexpected 
values are questioned. The reports are further checked against other available data 
sources such as NHS England reports, Improvement and Assessment Framework 
indicators, and Public Health data. 
 
Information Governance (IG) 
The NHS Information Governance Framework identifies requirements in relation to 
policy and procedure dictating how the NHS and associated organisations handle 
information about patients and employees, in particular personal identifiable 
information.   
 
The NHS Information Governance Framework is supported by the Data Security and 
Protection Toolkit (DSPT). Annual submission of evidence to this Framework 
provides assurance to the CCG, other organisations, and to individuals that personal 
information is dealt with legally, securely, efficiently, and effectively.  
 
In 2018/19 all eight Sussex and East Surrey CCG’s achieved a complete 
assessment against all ‘Mandatory’ criteria across the ten identified assertions of the 
framework. In order to address General Data Protection Regulations (GDPR) 
requirements, an extensive review of policy and procedure has taken place to bring 
the organisation into line with data protection legislation. 
 
There have been no IG Serious Incident Requiring Investigation reports (SIRIs). We 
continue to monitor both root and cause of low level IG breaches to inform training 
needs and potential operational review and an information risk culture continues to 
be embedded throughout the organisation.  
 
NHS Hastings and Rother CCG places a high importance on ensuring that there are 
robust information governance systems and processes in place to help protect 
patient and corporate information. The CCG has an Information Governance 
Management Framework with supporting policies and procedures in line with the 
national Information Governance Toolkit. We have ensured that staff undertake 
annual information governance training and were able to report that in excess of 
95% of them had completed training in the year to 31st March 2019. 
 
Subject Access Requests are dealt with effectively, within the time constraints set 
out by the Data Protection Act 2018. A ‘Subject Access Request’ (SARs) log is 
maintained. The Caldicott Guardian also maintains his own log of decisions made. In 
this way the CCG keeps track of requests from members of the public and any 
queries that are raised by staff about the management of personal information. 
 
An internal Information Governance Steering Group (IGSG), with membership 
including the Senior Information Risk Owner, Caldicott Guardian and subject matter 
specialists is accountable to the Quality and Governance Committee. Its purpose is 
to support and drive the broader information governance agenda and provide the 
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Quality and Governance Committee with assurance that effective information 
governance best practice mechanisms are in place within the organisation.  
 
Business critical models 
NHS Hastings and Rother CCG recognises the principles reflected in the 
Macpherson report as a direction of travel for business modelling in respect of 
service analysis, planning, and delivery. An appropriate framework and environment 
is in place to provide quality assurance of business critical models within the CCG. 
 
The CCG’s business-critical models primarily rely on activity and financial data 
produced by the South Central and West Commissioning Support Unit (CSU) which 
is assured through their own processes. The CCG reviews CSU data regularly and 
its use is checked internally by the executive team and externally through audit of 
key systems and processes. The output of business critical models is validated by 
NHS England through their assurance process of the CCG. 
 
Third party assurances 
In 2018/19 the CCG commissioned support services from the following 
Commissioning Support Units (CSUs):  
 

• South Central and West (SCW CSU) provide Human Resources, Financial, 
Business Intelligence, Contract Management, Health and Safety and 
Complaints and Freedom of Information handling, and 

• North East London (NEL CSU) provides Information Technology services 
(following the merger of SE CSU into NEL CSU). 

 
The CCG obtains assurance regarding CSU-provided services through Service 
Auditor Reporting. Service Auditor Reporting is undertaken by an independent 
auditor (Deloitte) to review the key business process controls of a service 
organisation and to give an opinion on whether control activities are designed and 
operating effectively for control objectives to be achieved. The CSUs provide the 
CCG with letters outlining the scope and findings of the audits and these, together 
with CCG management controls for monitoring the performance of the CSU, provide 
coverage for a significant portion of the year in relation to CSU activities.  
 

Control issues 
 
NHS Hastings and Rother CCG notes a significant control issue relating to the legal 
directions that were applied in July 2018. The position has improved during the year. 
Actions which have contributed to this improvement include: 
 

• Completion of a governance review and production of an action plan following 
the review 

• Completion of a capacity and capability review and production of an action 
plan following the review 

• Development and implementation of a credible Financial Recovery Plan, and 
• The implementation and achievement of our Quality, Innovation, Productivity 

and Prevention (QIPP) plan. 
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Throughout the financial year the CCG has listened and taken action via a full 
scrutiny of the financial position; it has instigated an action plan that addresses the 
learning from the NHS England review and from the Deloitte governance review, and 
built on areas of strength. 
 

Review of economy, efficiency and 
effectiveness of the use of resources 
 
As described above, the membership has delegated authority to the governing body 
and its committees to act effectively, efficiently, and economically. The Quality and 
Governance Committee oversees provider performance management across the 
CCG. The Delivery Programme Board oversees QIPP development and delivery. 
The Performance and Delivery Committee oversees financial performance including 
undertaking scrutiny of financial planning and ensuring transparency of underlying 
assumptions in building financial plans and budgets. During 2018/19 there has been 
additional scrutiny of financial planning and in-year performance monitoring through 
the appointment of an interim Director of Financial Delivery who has provided an 
independent assessment of the CCG plans. 
 
The delivery of savings from the QIPP programme is always a key component of the 
assurance given to the governing body on the effective use of resources. The Audit 
Committee has been delegated responsibility for providing assurance that the CCG 
is acting effectively, efficiently, and economically and this includes receiving and 
processing all recommendations made by internal audit. Formal reports on financial 
performance are presented at every governing body meeting and Performance and 
Delivery Committee meetings. 
 
The Accountable Officer has responsibility for reviewing the effectiveness of the 
system of internal control within the Clinical Commissioning Group. 
 
The CCG rating for the Quality of Leadership indicator of the CCG Improvement and 
Assessment Framework 2018/19 was ‘requiring improvement’. The CCG has 
addressed this in a number of ways and a key theme of the improvement and 
assurance plan is leadership which is monitored through the executive team with 
oversight by the Audit Committee. 
 

Delegation of functions 
 
The CCG has reviewed all of the statutory duties and powers conferred on it by the 
National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended) and other associated legislation and 
regulations.  As a result. I can confirm that the Clinical Commissioning Group is clear 
about the legislative requirements associated with each of the statutory functions for 
which it is responsible including any restrictions on delegation of those functions. 
 
Responsibility for each duty and power has been clearly allocated to a lead Director. 
Directorates have confirmed that their structures provide the necessary capability 
and capacity to undertake all of the CCG’s statutory duties. 
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Counter fraud arrangements 
 
The CCG is supported by an accredited counter fraud specialist through contract 
with its internal auditors.  This individual is a regular attendee at Audit Committee 
meetings. 
 
The CCG Audit Committee receives a report against each of the standards for 
commissioners.  The Chief Finance Officer is the executive lead in this area and 
ensures that NHS Protect quality assurance recommendations are implemented. 
 
The CCG is committed to taking all necessary steps to counter Fraud, Bribery and 
Corruption, and has a specific policy which is referenced from a range of other 
policies and published on its website Fraud Bribery and Corruption Policy 
(https://www.hastingsandrotherccg.nhs.uk/search/?q=fraud). The CCG to meet their 
objectives, has adopted the four key principles which are set out in the NHS Counter 
Fraud Authority strategy (https://cfa.nhs.uk/about-nhscfa/corporate-publications) of: 
 

• Inform and involve 
• Prevent and deter crime 
• Investigate, sanction and seek redress, and  
• Continuously review and hold to account. 

 
The CCG has conducted risk assessments in line with Ministry of Justice guidelines 
(https://www.justice.gov.uk/downloads/legislation/bribery-act-2010-guidance.pdf) to 
assess how Fraud, Bribery and Corruption may affect the organisation, and to 
implement proportionate procedures to mitigate identified risks.   

 
Awareness of counter fraud is included in the staff induction programme.   Counter 
fraud measures are a regular feature at staff briefings and counter fraud training 
forms a part of mandatory training for all staff.  
 
There is a specific section of the staff intranet giving definitions and examples, dos 
and don’ts, and copies of the Fraudstop Newsletter. 
 
In line with national guidance the CCG has appointed the Independent Clinician 
(Registered Nurse) member of the governing body as its ‘Freedom to Speak 
Up’ Guardian. In this role she works alongside the CCG leadership team to support 
the organisation in becoming a more open and transparent place to work, where all 
staff are actively encouraged and enabled to speak up safely. 
 

Head of Internal Audit Opinion 
 
Following completion of the planned audit work for the financial year for the clinical 
commissioning group, the Head of Internal Audit issued an independent and 
objective opinion on the adequacy and effectiveness of the clinical commissioning 
group’s system of risk management, governance and internal control. The Head of 
Internal Audit concluded that: 
 

https://www.hastingsandrotherccg.nhs.uk/search/?q=fraud
https://cfa.nhs.uk/about-nhscfa/corporate-publications
https://www.justice.gov.uk/downloads/legislation/bribery-act-2010-guidance.pdf
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Reasonable assurance can be given that there is a generally sound system 
of internal control, designed to meet the organisation’s objectives, and that 
controls are generally being applied consistently. However, some weakness in 
the design and/or inconsistent application of controls, put the achievement of 
particular objectives at risk. 

 
During the year, Internal Audit issued the following audit reports:  
 
Internal Audit Reports 2018/19 
 

Area of Audit Level of Assurance Given  

Out of Hours Reasonable Assurance 

Equality Reasonable Assurance 

Looked After Children Follow-Up  Follow up confirmed implementation of 
all 16 recommendations (no specific 
opinion assigned) 

ICT: GDPR Compliance Reasonable Assurance 

Budget Management Reasonable Assurance 

ICT: Digital Footprint Reasonable Assurance 

Patient and Public Involvement Reasonable Assurance 

Payment Healthcheck Advisory work, no formal assurance 
opinion assigned 

Assurance Framework and Risk 
Management Reasonable Assurance 

Management of Conflicts of Interest Reasonable Assurance 

ICT: Asset Disposal / Recycling Reasonable Assurance 

Annual Review of Key Financial 
Systems including Payroll Substantial Assurance 

Continuing Healthcare / Funded Nursing 
Care (draft report) Limited Assurance 

Workforce Substantial 

ICT: Cybersecurity Maturity Assessment  Advisory work, no formal assurance 
opinion assigned 

 
  



TaylorA013
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Attendance at committees 2018/19 
 
The tables below detail the attendance of our governing body members and regular 
attendees during the year. It is shown in the form of (number of attendances / 
number of meetings held during their membership).  
 
Governing Body  
 

Name Position  Attended / 
Eligible to Attend 

David Warden GP member of the Governing Body and 
CCG Clinical Chair 6/6 

Barbara Beaton Lay member on the Governing Body 6/6 

Binodh 
Bhaskaran GP member of the Governing Body 6/6 

Jessica Britton Managing Director (From September 2018 
- previously Chief Operating Officer) 6/6 

David Cryer Strategic Finance Officer  
(From January 2019) 2/2 

Allison Cannon Chief Nurse 5/6 

Rajeev Dhar 
Secondary Care Doctor on the Governing 
Body (Joint appointment with NHS 
Eastbourne, Hailsham and Seaford CCG) 

5/6 

Adam Doyle Chief Executive Officer  
(From September 2018) 2/4 

Rose Durban Lay member (Joint appointment with NHS 
Eastbourne, Hailsham and Seaford CCG) 6/6 

Garry East Acting Director of Performance and 
Delivery 2/4 

Paula Gorvett East Sussex Better Together (ESBT) 
Director of Localities and Primary Care 4/4 

Karen Keane Independent member – Registered Nurse 
on the Governing Body  6/6 
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Name Position  Attended / 
Eligible to Attend 

(Joint appointment with NHS Eastbourne, 
Hailsham and Seaford CCG) 

Rob McNeilly GP member of the Governing Body 6/6 

Linda Parker GP member of the Governing Body  
(From July 2018) 5/5 

Amanda Philpott Chief Officer (Until September 2018) 2/2 

John O'Sullivan 
 

Chief Finance Officer  
(Represented by the Deputy Chief 
Finance Officer during a period of 
absence) (Until January 2019) 

6/6 

Milan Radia GP member of the Governing Body 6/6 

Representative Local Authority Public Health 6/6 

Julia Rudrum 
Lay member on the Governing Body  
(Joint appointment with NHS Eastbourne, 
Hailsham and Seaford CCG from 
February 2019) 

1/1 

Alan Rummins Lay member on the Governing Body  
(Until February 2019) 5/5 

Terry Willows Director of Corporate Affairs 3/4 
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Audit Committee  
 

Name Position  Attended / 
Eligible to Attend 

Alan Rummins Lay member, governance and chair  
(Until February 2019) 5/5 

Julia Rudrum 
Lay member, governance and chair  
(Joint appointment with NHS Eastbourne, 
Hailsham and Seaford CCG from 
February 2019) 

1/1 

Barbara Beaton Lay member, patient and public 
involvement 6/6 

Jessica Britton 
Managing Director  
(From September 2018 - previously Chief 
Operating Officer) 

6/6 

David Cryer Strategic Finance Officer  
(From January 2019) 2/2 

Rose Durban Lay member  6/6 

John O'Sullivan 
 

Chief Finance Officer  
(Represented by the Deputy Chief 
Finance Officer during a period of 
absence) (Until January 2019) 

4/4 

Amanda Philpott Chief Officer (Until September 2018) 1/2 
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Primary Care Commissioning Committees  
 

Name Position  Attended / 
Eligible to Attend 

Barbara Beaton Lay member, patient and public 
involvement and chair 6/6 

Jessica Britton Managing Director (From September 2018 
- previously Chief Operating Officer) 5/6 

Allison Cannon Chief Nurse 5/6 

David Cryer Strategic Finance Officer  
(From January 2019) 1/1 

Rajeev Dhar Secondary Care Doctor member  2/6 

Adam Doyle 
Chief Executive Officer  
(From September 2018) (Represented by 
Managing Director) 

2/3 

Rose Durban Lay member  5/6 

Paula Gorvett Director of Localities and Primary Care 
(Until January 2019) 4/5 

Karen Keane Registered Nurse member 4/6 

John O'Sullivan 
 

Chief Finance Officer  
(Represented by the Deputy Chief 
Finance Officer during a period of 
absence) (Until January 2019) 

5/5 

Linda Parker GP member (from July 2018) 3/4 

Amanda Philpott Chief Officer (Until September 2018) 3/3 

Alan Rummins Lay member, Governance  
(Until February 2019) 5/5 

Julia Rudrum 
Lay member, Governance (Joint 
appointment with NHS Eastbourne, 
Hailsham and Seaford CCG from 
February 2019) 

1/1 
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Performance and Delivery Committee  
 

Name Position  Attended / 
Eligible to Attend 

Rose Durban Lay member and chair  11/11 

Jessica Britton Managing Director (From September 2018 
- previously Chief Operating Officer) 8/8 

David Cryer 
Strategic Finance Officer 
(From January 2019) (Represented by 
Deputy Chief Finance Officer) 

3/3 

Adam Doyle 
Chief Executive Officer  
(From September 2018) (Represented by 
Managing Director) 

7/7 

Garry East Deputy Director of Delivery and 
Performance (Until December 2018) 8/8 

Representative 

Deputy Director of Delivery and 
Performance  
(From December 2018) (Attendance 
represented by Managing Director) 

3/3 

John O'Sullivan 
 

Chief Finance Officer  
(Represented by the Deputy Chief Finance 
Officer during a period of absence) (Until 
January 2019) 

8/8 

Amanda Philpott Chief Officer (Until September 2018) 3/4 

Milan Radia GP member 9/11 

Alan Rummins Lay member, Governance  
(Until February 2019) 8/9 

Julia Rudrum 

Lay member, Governance  
(Joint appointment with NHS Eastbourne, 
Hailsham and Seaford CCG from February 
2019) 

2/2 
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Remuneration Committee 
 

Name Position Attended / 
Eligible to Attend 

Barbara Beaton Lay member, patient and public 
involvement and chair 1/4 

Dr Rajeev Dhar Secondary Care Doctor member  3/4 

Adam Doyle Chief Executive Officer  
(From September 2018) 3/3 

Karen Keane Registered Nurse member 2/4 

John O'Sullivan 

 

Chief Finance Officer  
(Represented by the Deputy Chief 
Finance Officer during a period of 
absence) (Until January 2019) 

2/2 

Amanda Philpott Chief Officer  
(Until September 2018) 1/1 

Alan Rummins Lay member, Governance  
(Until February 2019) 3/3 

Julia Rudrum 
Lay member, Governance  
(Joint appointment with NHS Eastbourne, 
Hailsham and Seaford CCG from 
February 2019) 

1/1 
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Quality and Governance Committee  
  

Name Position  Attended / 
Eligible to Attend 

Barbara Beaton Lay member, patient and public 
involvement and chair 6/6 

Nick Bottomley Head of Governance and Business 
Planning (From December 2018) 2/2 

Jessica Britton 

Managing Director  
(From September 2018) (Previously Chief 
Operating Officer) (Represented by 
Deputy Director of Organisational 
Development and Corporate Affairs) 

6/6 

Allison Cannon Chief Nurse 4/6 

Karen Keane Registered Nurse member 5/6 

Clive Mellor Head of Governance and Business 
Planning (Until October 2018) 3/3 

Linda Parker GP member (From July 2018) 5/5 

Representative Local Authority Public Health 4/6 

Representative Patient Representative 4/6 
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Procurement Committee 
 

Name Position Attended / 
Eligible to Attend 

Rose Durban Lay member and chair 6/6 

David Cryer 
Strategic Finance Officer  
(From January 2019) (Represented by 
Deputy Chief Finance Officer) 

2/2 

Adam Doyle 
Chief Executive Officer  
(From September 2018) (Represented 
by Managing Director) 

2/4 

Garry East Deputy Director of Delivery and 
Performance (Until December 2018) 4/4 

Representative 
Deputy Director of Delivery and 
Performance (From December 2018) 
(Represented by Managing Director) 

1/2 

John O'Sullivan 

 

Chief Finance Officer  
(Represented by the Deputy Chief 
Finance Officer during a period of 
absence) (Until January 2019) 

4/4 

Amanda Philpott Chief Officer (Until September 2018) 2/2 

Milan Radia GP member 5/6 

Alan Rummins Lay member, Governance  
(Until February 2019) 4/4 

Julia Rudrum 

Lay member, Governance  
(Joint appointment with NHS 
Eastbourne, Hailsham and Seaford 
CCG from February 2019) 

2/2 
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Remuneration and staff report 
   
Remuneration Report 
 
Remuneration Committee 
The Remuneration Committee is a formally appointed committee of the Governing 
Body. It has delegated authority from the Governing Body to determine the terms 
and conditions of engagement, remuneration including fees, allowances and the 
appropriate administration of pension contributions for senior employees on the 
Governing Body and from the membership via the Constitution, to determine the 
remuneration, including allowances, for members of the Governing Body who are 
officers. 
 
The information in the Remuneration Report that is subject to external audit, 
includes: 
 

• The table of salaries and allowances of senior managers and related narrative 
notes from page 120 

• The table of pension benefits of senior managers and related narrative notes 
from page 126 

• The narrative disclosure of pay multiples on page 130 and,  
• Employee staff numbers outlined on page 133. 

 
The Committee is appointed by the CCG from amongst its Lay and Independent 
Governing Body members and comprises the Lay member for Governance, the Lay 
member for Patient and Public Engagement (PPE), the Independent Secondary 
Care Clinician and the Independent Nurse. The Chair of the Committee is usually the 
Lay member for Governance except when the remuneration of the Lay members is 
being discussed, at which point one of the independent clinicians takes the chair. 
 
The Committee is quorate if any two members are present, and a member of the 
Committee is not permitted to be present if their remuneration is being discussed. 
 
The Committee has met no less than twice a year, as provided in its terms of 
reference. The details of Remuneration Committee membership and attendance is 
shown in the annual governance statement. 
 
The CCG contracts with a Commissioning Support Unit (CSU) under a service level 
agreement to deliver HR services. This includes provision of specialist HR advice to 
its Remuneration Committee. The Committee therefore has access to and takes 
advice from a named HR Lead, employed by the CCG’s HR provider; South, Central 
and West CSU (SCW). Specialist advice covers employment law, NHS terms and 
conditions, the interpretation of NHS England remuneration guidance for CCGs and 
the provision of benchmarking information relating to local and regional CCG 
Governing Bodies. 
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The work of the Remuneration Committee and decisions made 
The Committee has worked to its agreed annual work plan over the past year and 
has reached decisions on the following: 
 

• Agreed to decrease local remuneration arrangements applied to Agenda for 
Change (AfC) staff by an agreed transition process to allow for the 2018/21 
national pay award 

• Agreed to the appointment and remuneration of an Interim Managing Director. 
• Agreed to paying an equal share across the eight SES CCGs of a 10% non- 

consolidated allowance for the Director of Corporate Affairs and Director of 
Corporate Programmes 

• Agreed to pay an equal share of the Executive Director of Commissioning 
partnerships and Planning 

• Agreed to the secondment of the substantive Accountable Officer to the 
Executive Director of Health and Care Strategy 

• Noted the planned retirement of the substantive Chief Finance Officer, and  
• Agreed the appointment of an interim Chief Finance Officer (CFO) until 

October 2019, with a single remuneration package for the appointee who is 
also the interim Strategic Finance Director for the Central Sussex and East 
Surrey Commissioning Alliance. 

 
In reaching decisions, the Committee was provided with relevant benchmarking and 
up to date guidance from its specialist HR provider to ensure all decisions are robust. 
 
Policy on the remuneration of senior managers  
The definition of ‘senior manager’ within the guidance is: 
 

‘Those persons in senior positions having authority or responsibility for 
directing or controlling the major activities of the CCG. This means those who 
influence the decisions of the entity as a whole rather than the decision of 
individuals, directorates or departments’. 

 
For the purposes of this report, this definition has been taken to include employee 
and officer voting members of the Governing Body and all members of the Sussex 
and East Surrey Commissioners’ Executive Team. The Accountable Officer has 
confirmed that the definition of senior manager does not extend beyond this and that 
regular (but non-voting) attendees at the Governing Body are covered by nationally 
negotiated NHS Pay scales and are disclosed via the employee benefits table in 
these annual accounts. 
 
Where a senior manager and member of the Governing Body works across more 
than one CCG, the appropriate proportion of remuneration is reported and their total 
remuneration across both CCGs is shown separately in order to ensure full 
disclosure. 
 
Remuneration of very senior managers 
The CCG employs no individuals where total remuneration (when pro-rated) exceeds 
£150,000pa. The CCG is satisfied that this remuneration is reasonable based on the 
benchmarking data and analysis undertaken by the Remuneration Committee. 
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Senior manager remuneration (including salary and pension entitlements) 
 
Salary Disclosure Tables 
 

Name and title 

2018-19 

Shared 
Staff Full 
salary 
(bands of 
£5,000) 

CCGs 
Share 
Salary & 
Fees 
(bands of 
£5,000) 

Taxable 
Benefits 
(rounded 
to nearest 
£000) 

Annual 
Performan
ce 
Related 
Bonuses 
(bands of 
£5,000) 

Long-term 
Performan
ce 
Related 
Bonuses 
(bands of 
£5,000) 

All 
Pension 
Related 
Benefits  
(bands of 
£2,500) 

Total  
(bands of 
£5,000) 

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 

Amanda Philpott, 
Chief Officer 
(shared), left 
30/09/18 

70 - 75 35 - 40 Nil Nil Nil 2.5 - 5.0 70 – 75 

John O'Sullivan, 
Chief Finance 
Officer (shared), left 
31/12/18 

85 - 90 40 - 45 Nil Nil Nil 0 - 2.5 85 - 90 

Jessica Britton, 
Managing Director 
(shared), from 
01/10/18 

55 - 60 25 - 30 Nil Nil Nil 27.5 - 
30 85 - 90 

Allison Cannon, 
Chief Nurse (shared 
SES Alliance post), 
from 01/04/18 (note 
2) 

100 - 
105 10 - 15 Nil Nil Nil 67.5 - 

70 
170 - 
175 

Glynn Dodd, 
Director of 
Corporate 
Programmes 
(shared SES 
Alliance post), from 
12/11/18 (note 3 & 
4) 

40 - 45 5 - 10 Nil Nil Nil 17.5 – 
20 60 - 65 

Adam Doyle, Chief 
Executive Officer 
(shared SES 
Alliance post), from 
17/09/18 (note 1) 

95 - 100 10 - 15 Nil Nil Nil 20 – 
22.5 

115 - 
120 
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Name and title 

2018-19 

Shared 
Staff Full 
salary 
(bands of 
£5,000) 

CCGs 
Share 
Salary & 
Fees 
(bands of 
£5,000) 

Taxable 
Benefits 
(rounded 
to nearest 
£000) 

Annual 
Performan
ce 
Related 
Bonuses 
(bands of 
£5,000) 

Long-term 
Performan
ce 
Related 
Bonuses 
(bands of 
£5,000) 

All 
Pension 
Related 
Benefits  
(bands of 
£2,500) 

Total  
(bands of 
£5,000) 

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 

Sarah Valentine, 
Direct of 
Contracting (shared 
SES Alliance post), 
from 01/04/18 (note 
2) 

115 - 
120 10 - 15 Nil Nil Nil 0 - 2.5 115 - 

120 

Terry Willows, 
Director Of 
Corporate Affairs 
(shared SES 
Alliance post), from 
12/11/18 (note 3 & 
4) 

35 - 40 0 - 5 Nil Nil Nil Nil 35 - 40 

David Cryer, Interim 
Strategic Director of 
Finance (shared 
SES Alliance post), 
from 01/01/19 (note 
5) 

25 - 30 0 - 5 Nil Nil Nil 5 – 7.5 30 - 35 

Dr David Warden, 
Chair 

 55 - 60 Nil Nil Nil Nil 55 - 60 

Dr Susan Rae, GP 
Governing Body 
member, left 
31/03/18 

 n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a 

Dr Milan Radia, GP 
Governing Body 
member, 

 50 - 55 Nil Nil Nil Nil 50 - 55 

Dr Rob McNeilly, 
GP Governing Body 
member, 

 50 - 55 Nil Nil Nil Nil 50 - 55 

Dr Craig Namvar, 
GP Governing Body 

 n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a 
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Name and title 

2018-19 

Shared 
Staff Full 
salary 
(bands of 
£5,000) 

CCGs 
Share 
Salary & 
Fees 
(bands of 
£5,000) 

Taxable 
Benefits 
(rounded 
to nearest 
£000) 

Annual 
Performan
ce 
Related 
Bonuses 
(bands of 
£5,000) 

Long-term 
Performan
ce 
Related 
Bonuses 
(bands of 
£5,000) 

All 
Pension 
Related 
Benefits  
(bands of 
£2,500) 

Total  
(bands of 
£5,000) 

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 
member, left 
31/03/18 

Dr Chathanath 
BhaskaB, GP 
Governing Body 
member, 

 25 - 30 Nil Nil Nil Nil 25 - 30 

Dr Linda Parker, GP 
Governing Body 
member, joined 
16/07/18 

 20 - 25 Nil Nil Nil Nil 20 - 25 

Julia Rudrum, Lay 
member, shared 
post from 01/02/19 

0 - 5 0 - 5 Nil Nil Nil Nil 0 - 5 

Barbara Beaton, 
Lay member, 

 15 - 20 Nil Nil Nil Nil 15 - 20 

Alan Rummins, Lay 
member, left 
31/01/19 

 10 - 15 Nil Nil Nil Nil 10 - 15 

Dr Rajeev Dhar, 
Secondary care 
doctor, shared post 
from 01/09/17 

5 - 10 0 - 5 Nil Nil Nil Nil 5 - 10 

Karen Keane, 
Nurse member 
(shared), 

5 - 10 0 - 5 Nil Nil Nil Nil 5 - 10 

Rose Durban, Lay 
member (shared), 
joined 03/10/16 

10 - 15 5 - 10 Nil Nil Nil Nil 10 - 15 

Note: FIRST COLUMN – full salary paid by all CCGs, time apportioned for time as a ‘senior manager’.  SECOND 
COLUMN – CCGs’ share of the above. PENSION BENEFITS COLUMN – all pension benefits for the individual 
but time apportioned for their time as a senior manager of the CCG TOTAL – first column + pensions column. 
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Name and title 

2017-18 

CCGs 
Share 

Salary & 
Fees (bands 
of £5,000)  

Taxable 
Benefits 

(rounded to 
nearest 
£000) 

Annual 
Performanc
e Related 
Bonuses 
(bands of 
£5,000) 

Long-term 
Performanc
e Related 
Bonuses 
(bands of 
£5,000) 

All Pension 
Related 
Benefits  
(bands of 
£2,500) 

Total  
(bands of 
£5,000) 

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 

Amanda Philpott, 
Chief Officer 
(shared), left 
30/09/18 

70 - 75 Nil Nil Nil 10 - 12.5 80 - 85 

John O'Sullivan, 
Chief Finance 
Officer (shared), left 
31/12/18 

55 - 60 Nil Nil Nil 0 - 2.5 55 - 60 

Jessica Britton, 
Managing Director 
(shared), from 
01/10/18 

n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a 

Allison Cannon, 
Chief Nurse (shared 
SES Alliance post), 
from 01/04/18 

n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a 

Glynn Dodd, 
Director of 
Corporate 
Programmes 
(shared SES 
Alliance post), from 
12/11/18 

n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a 

Adam Doyle, Chief 
Executive Officer 
(shared SES 
Alliance post), from 
17/09/18 

n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a 

Sarah Valentine, 
Direct of Contracting 
(shared SES 
Alliance post), from 
01/04/18 

n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a 
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Name and title 

2017-18 

CCGs 
Share 

Salary & 
Fees (bands 
of £5,000)  

Taxable 
Benefits 

(rounded to 
nearest 
£000) 

Annual 
Performanc
e Related 
Bonuses 
(bands of 
£5,000) 

Long-term 
Performanc
e Related 
Bonuses 
(bands of 
£5,000) 

All Pension 
Related 
Benefits  
(bands of 
£2,500) 

Total  
(bands of 
£5,000) 

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 

Terry Willows, 
Director Of 
Corporate Affairs 
(shared SES 
Alliance post), from 
12/11/18 

n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a 

David Cryer, Interim 
Strategic Director of 
Finance (shared 
SES Alliance post), 
from 01/01/19 

n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a 

Dr David Warden, 
Chair, 55 - 60 Nil Nil Nil Nil 55 - 60 

Dr Susan Rae, GP 
Governing Body 
member, left 
31/03/18 

35 - 40 Nil Nil Nil Nil 35 - 40 

Dr Milan Radia, GP 
Governing Body 
member, 

50 - 55 Nil Nil Nil Nil 50 - 55 

Dr Rob McNeilly, 
GP Governing Body 
member, 

50 - 55 Nil Nil Nil Nil 50 - 55 

Dr Craig Namvar, 
GP Governing Body 
member, left 
31/03/18 

25 - 30 Nil Nil Nil Nil 25 - 30 

Dr Chathanath 
BhaskaB, GP 
Governing Body 
member, 

25 - 30 Nil Nil Nil Nil 25 - 30 

Dr Linda Parker, GP 
Governing Body 

n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a 
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Name and title 

2017-18 

CCGs 
Share 

Salary & 
Fees (bands 
of £5,000)  

Taxable 
Benefits 

(rounded to 
nearest 
£000) 

Annual 
Performanc
e Related 
Bonuses 
(bands of 
£5,000) 

Long-term 
Performanc
e Related 
Bonuses 
(bands of 
£5,000) 

All Pension 
Related 
Benefits  
(bands of 
£2,500) 

Total  
(bands of 
£5,000) 

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 
member, joined 
16/07/18 

Julia Rudrum, Lay 
member, shared 
post from 01/02/19 

n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a 

Barbara Beaton, 
Lay member, 15 - 20 Nil Nil Nil Nil 15 - 20 

Alan Rummins, Lay 
member, left 
31/01/19 

10 - 15 Nil Nil Nil Nil 10 - 15 

Dr Rajeev Dhar, 
Secondary care 
doctor, shared post 
from 01/09/17 

5 - 10 Nil Nil Nil Nil 5 - 10 

Karen Keane, Nurse 
member (shared), 0 - 5 Nil Nil Nil Nil 0 - 5 

Rose Durban, Lay 
member (shared), 
joined 03/10/16 

5 - 10 Nil Nil Nil Nil 5 - 10 

 
Pension benefits as at 31 March 2019 
Past and present employees are covered by the provisions of the two NHS Pension 
Schemes.  Details of the benefits payable and rules of the Schemes can be found on 
the NHS Pensions website at www.nhsbsa.nhs.uk/pensions.  Both are unfunded 
defined benefit schemes that cover NHS employers, GP practices and other bodies, 
allowed under the direction of the Secretary of State for Health in England and 
Wales. They are not designed to be run in a way that would enable NHS bodies to 
identify their share of the underlying scheme assets and liabilities. Therefore, each 
scheme is accounted for as if it were a defined contribution scheme: the cost to the 
NHS body of participating in each scheme is taken as equal to the contributions 
payable to that scheme for the accounting period.   
 
  

http://www.nhsbsa.nhs.uk/pensions
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In order that the defined benefit obligations recognised in the financial statements do 
not differ materially from those that would be determined at the reporting date by a 
formal actuarial valuation, the government Financial Reporting Manual (FReM) 
requires that “the period between formal valuations shall be four years, with 
approximate assessments in intervening years”. An outline of these follows: 
  
Accounting valuation 
A valuation of scheme liability is carried out annually by the scheme actuary 
(currently the Government Actuary’s Department) as at the end of the reporting 
period. This utilises an actuarial assessment for the previous accounting period in 
conjunction with updated membership and financial data for the current reporting 
period, and is accepted as providing suitably robust figures for financial reporting 
purposes. The valuation of the scheme liability as at 31 March 2019, is based on 
valuation data as 31 March 2018, updated to 31 March 2019 with summary global 
member and accounting data. In undertaking this actuarial assessment, the 
methodology prescribed in IAS19 (International Accounting Standard), relevant 
FReM interpretations, and the discount rate prescribed by HM Treasury have also 
been used. 
 
The latest assessment of the liabilities of the scheme is contained in the report of the 
scheme actuary, which forms part of the annual NHS Pension Scheme Accounts. 
These accounts can be viewed on the NHS Pensions website and are published 
annually. Copies can also be obtained from The Stationery Office. 
  
Full actuarial (funding) valuation 
The purpose of this valuation is to assess the level of liability in respect of the 
benefits due under the schemes (taking into account recent demographic 
experience), and to recommend contribution rates payable by employees and 
employers.  
 
The latest actuarial valuation undertaken for the NHS Pension Scheme was 
completed as at 31 March 2016. The results of this valuation set the employer 
contribution rate payable from April 2019. The Department of Health and Social Care 
have recently laid Scheme Regulations confirming that the employer contribution rate 
will increase to 20.6% of pensionable pay from this date.  
  
The 2016 funding valuation was also expected to test the cost of the Scheme relative 
to the employer cost cap set following the 2012 valuation. Following a judgment from 
the Court of Appeal in December 2018 the Government announced a pause to that 
part of the valuation process pending conclusion of the continuing legal process. 
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Pension Disclosure Tables 
 

Name and title 

2018-19 

Real 
increase 
in 
pension 
(bands of 
£2,500) 

Real 
increase 
in 
pension 
lump sum 
(bands of 
£2,500) 

Total 
accrued 
pension 
at 31 
March 
2019 
(bands of 
£5,000) 

Lump 
sum 
related to 
accrued 
pension 
at 31 
March 
2019 
(bands of 
£5,000) 

Cash 
Equivale
nt 
Transfer 
Value at 
31 March 
2019 

Real 
increase 
in Cash 
Equivale
nt 
Transfer 
Value 

Cash 
Equivale
nt 
Transfer 
Value at 
1 April 
2018 

Employer
’s 
contributi
on to 
stakehold
er 
pension 

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 

Amanda Philpott, 
Chief Officer 
(shared) 

0 - 2.5 0 - 2.5 50 - 55 120 - 
125 958 46 821 Nil 

John O'Sullivan, 
Chief Finance 
Officer (shared) 

0 - 2.5 0 - 2.5 50 - 55 150 - 
155 1,237 61 1,106 Nil 

Jessica Britton, 
Managing Director 
(shared), from 
01/10/18 

0 - 2.5 0 - 2.5 25 - 30 55 - 60 468 43 355 Nil 

Allison Cannon, 
Chief Nurse (shared 
SES Alliance post), 
from 01/04/18 

2.5 - 5 5 - 7.5 35 - 40 85 - 90 660 116 515 Nil 

Glynn Dodd, 
Director of 
Corporate 
Programmes 
(shared SES 
Alliance post), from 
12/11/18 

0 - 2.5 0 - 2.5 30 - 35 75 - 80 606 39 476 Nil 

Adam Doyle, Chief 
Executive Officer 
(shared SES 
Alliance post), from 
17/09/18 

0 - 2.5 0 - 2.5 10 - 15 0 - 5 139 15 85 Nil 

Sarah Valentine, 
Direct of Contracting 
(shared SES 

0 - 2.5 0 - 2.5 50 - 55 155 - 
160 1,161 98 1,015 Nil 



NHS Hastings and Rother Clinical Commissioning Group   |   ANNUAL REPORT 2018/19    129 

Name and title 

2018-19 

Real 
increase 
in 
pension 
(bands of 
£2,500) 

Real 
increase 
in 
pension 
lump sum 
(bands of 
£2,500) 

Total 
accrued 
pension 
at 31 
March 
2019 
(bands of 
£5,000) 

Lump 
sum 
related to 
accrued 
pension 
at 31 
March 
2019 
(bands of 
£5,000) 

Cash 
Equivale
nt 
Transfer 
Value at 
31 March 
2019 

Real 
increase 
in Cash 
Equivale
nt 
Transfer 
Value 

Cash 
Equivale
nt 
Transfer 
Value at 
1 April 
2018 

Employer
’s 
contributi
on to 
stakehold
er 
pension 

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 
Alliance post), from 
01/04/18 

David Cryer, Interim 
Strategic Director of 
Finance (shared 
SES Alliance post), 
from 01/01/19 

0 - 2.5 0 - 2.5 20 - 25 0 - 5 266 9 207 Nil 

Terry Willows, 
Director Of 
Corporate Affairs 
(shared SES 
Alliance post), from 
12/11/18 

n/a - no longer in the NHS Pension Scheme 

 

Name and title 

2017-18 

Real 
increase 
in 
pension 
(bands of 
£2,500) 

Real 
increase 
in 
pension 
lump sum 
(bands of 
£2,500) 

Total 
accrued 
pension 
at 31 
March 
2018 
(bands of 
£5,000) 

Lump 
sum 
related to 
accrued 
pension 
at 31 
March 
2018 
(bands of 
£5,000) 

Cash 
Equivale
nt 
Transfer 
Value at 
31 March 
2018 

Real 
increase 
in Cash 
Equivale
nt 
Transfer 
Value 

Cash 
Equivale
nt 
Transfer 
Value at 
1 April 
2017 

Employer
’s 
contributi
on to 
stakehold
er 
pension 

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 

Amanda Philpott, 
Chief Officer 
(shared) 

2.5 - 5 0 - 2.5 45 - 50 120 - 
125 818 68 743 Nil 

John O'Sullivan, 
Chief Finance 
Officer (shared) 

0 - 2.5 2.5 - 5 45 - 50 145 - 
150 1,106 70 1,026 Nil 
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Compensation on early retirement of for loss of office 
This section falls within the auditable part of the remuneration report. 
In the ymemberear 2018/19 there has been no compensation paid for early 
retirement or loss of office paid by NHS Hastings and Rother Clinical Commissioning 
Group.  
 
Payments to past members 
In 2018/19 salary payments were made to past directors who moved to new roles. 
These were the CCG’s former Accountable Officer who took up a new role on 1 
October 2018 and the CCG’s former Chief Finance Officer who took up a new role 
on 1 January 2019. 
  
Cash equivalent transfer values  
A cash equivalent transfer value (CETV) is the actuarially assessed capital value of 
the pension scheme benefits accrued by a member at a particular point in time. The 
benefits valued are the member’s accrued benefits and any contingent spouse’s (or 
other allowable beneficiary’s) pension payable from the scheme. 
 
A CETV is a payment made by a pension scheme or arrangement to secure pension 
benefits in another pension scheme or arrangement when the member leaves a 
scheme and chooses to transfer the benefits accrued in their former scheme. The 
pension figures shown relate to the benefits that the individual has accrued as a 
consequence of their total membership of the pension scheme, not just their service 
in a senior capacity to which disclosure applies. 
 
The CETV figures and the other pension details include the value of any pension 
benefits in another scheme or arrangement which the individual has transferred to 
the NHS pension scheme. They also include any additional pension benefit accrued 
to the member as a result of their purchasing additional years of pension service in 
the scheme at their own cost. CETVs are calculated within the guidelines and 
framework prescribed by the Institute and Faculty of Actuaries.  
 
NHS Pensions are still assessing the impact of the McCloud judgement in relation to 
changes to benefits in the NHS 2015 Scheme. The benefits and related CETVs 
disclosed do not allow for any potential future adjustments that may arise from this 
judgement. 
 
Real increase in CETV 
This reflects the increase in CETV that is funded by the employer. It does not include 
the increase in accrued pension due to inflation or contributions paid by the 
employee (including the value of any benefits transferred from another scheme or 
arrangement). 
 
Pay multiples  
This section falls within the auditable part of the remuneration report. 
 
Reporting bodies are required to disclose the relationship between the remuneration 
of the highest-paid director/member in their organisation and the median 
remuneration of the organisation’s workforce. 
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The banded remuneration of the highest paid director/member in NHS Hastings and 
Rother CCG in the financial year 2018/19 was £140,000-145,000. (2017/18: 
£140,000-145,000).  This was 3.89 times (2017/18: 4.01) the median remuneration 
of the workforce, which was £36,644 (2017/18: £35,577).  
 
In 2018/19, no employees received remuneration in excess of the highest-paid 
director/Member. Remuneration ranged from £8,603 to £143,968 (2017/18: £9,557 
to £137,700). 
 
Total remuneration includes salary, non-consolidated performance-related pay, 
benefits-in-kind, but not severance payments.  It does not include employer pension 
contributions and the cash equivalent transfer value of pensions. 
 
Notes relating to tables 
Note 1: Appointed to the CSESCA executive team from 1 January 2018 and from 
1.4.2018 a shared post between Brighton and Hove CCG, High Weald Lewes 
Havens CCG East Surrey CCG Horsham and Mid Sussex CCG Crawley CCG and 
NHS Coastal West Sussex CCG). The total salary for the joint appointment is as 
shown in salary disclosure table 1 followed by the CCG Share.  In salary disclosure 
table 2 and the pension disclosure table, all pension related benefits are calculated 
with respect to total for the joint appointment, except for the employer pension 
contribution. From 17 September 2018 also Accountable Officer for NHS 
Eastbourne, Hailsham and Seaford CCG and NHS Hastings and Rother CCG.  
Shares are equal across CCGs.  Formally appointed as Chief Executive Officer in 
January 2019. 
 
Note 2: Joint appointment to the 8 CCGs in the STP (Brighton and Hove CCG, High 
Weald Lewes Havens CCG, Coastal West Sussex CCG, Horsham and Mid Sussex 
CCG East Surrey CCG, Eastbourne Hailsham and Seaford CCG, NHS Hastings and 
Rother CCG and Crawley CCG). The total salary for the joint appointment is as 
shown in in salary disclosure table 1 followed by the CCGs share of the salary. In 
salary disclosure table 2 and the pension disclosure table, all pension related 
benefits are calculated with respect to total for the joint appointment, except for the 
employer pension contribution. The STP percentage split agreed is 16.4% Brighton 
and Hove CCG, 8.8% High Weald Lewes Havens CCG 12.4% Horsham and Mid 
Sussex CCG, 6.9% Crawley, 26.5% CCG Coastal West Sussex CCG, 9.4% East 
Surrey CCG, 10.1% Eastbourne Hailsham and Seaford CCG and 9.7% Hastings and 
Rother CCG. 
 
Note 3: Appointed to the Central Sussex and East Surrey Commissioning Alliance 
Joint Management Team throughout 2018/19.  Shared posts between East Surrey 
CCG, Horsham and Mid Sussex CCG, Brighton and Hove CCG, High Weald Lewes 
Havens CCG and Crawley CCG). The total salary for the joint appointment is as 
shown in salary disclosure table 1 followed by the CCGs Share. In salary disclosure 
table 2 and the pension disclosure table, all pension related benefits are calculated 
with respect to total for the joint appointment, except for the employer pension 
contribution. The Alliance percentage split agreed is 30% Brighton and Hove CCG, 
16% High Weald Lewes Havens CCG 23% Horsham and Mid Sussex CCG 17% 
East Surrey CCG and 12% Crawley CCG. 
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Note 4: From 12.11.2018 CSESCA role increased to encompass NHS Coastal West 
Sussex CCG NHS Eastbourne, Hailsham and Seaford CCG and NHS Hastings and 
Rother CCG.. 
 
Note 5: Joint appointment to the 7 of the 8 CCGs in the STP (Brighton and Hove 
CCG, High Weald Lewes Havens CCG, East Surrey CCG, Eastbourne Hailsham 
and Seaford CCG, Hastings and Rother CCG Horsham and Mid Sussex CCG and 
Crawley CCG). 
 
GP Governing Body members employment status is defined as “off Payroll” for NHS 
statutory accounting purposes, although the individual is paid via payroll.  
 
All Pension Related Benefits: This will apply to those receiving pension contributions 
only. The amount included here comprises all pension related benefits, including:  
 

• The cash value of payments (whether in cash or otherwise) in lieu of 
retirement benefits; and,  

• All benefits in year from participating in pension schemes.  
 
For defined benefit schemes, the amount included here is the annual increase in 
pension entitlement determined in accordance with the 'HMRC' method. In summary, 
this is as follows:  
 
Increase = ((20 x PE) +LSE) - ((20 x PB) + LSB) less employee contributions  
 
Where:  
 

• PE is the annual rate of pension that would be payable to the director if they 
became entitled to it at the end of the financial year;  

• PB is the annual rate of pension, adjusted for inflation, that would be payable 
to the director if they became entitled to it at the beginning of the financial 
year;  

• LSE is the amount of lump sum that would be payable to the director if they 
became entitled to it at the end of the financial year; and,  

• LSB is the amount of lump sum, adjusted for inflation, that would be payable 
to the director if they became entitled to it at the beginning of the financial 
year.  

 

  



NHS Hastings and Rother Clinical Commissioning Group   |   ANNUAL REPORT 2018/19    133 

Staff Report  
 
Number of senior managers, staff numbers and composition 
Staff details disclosed are permanently employed staff with a permanent (UK) 
employment contract with the CCG and includes the relevant CCG share of any 
shared posts. The Governing Body members’ composition is shown below. The table 
below that shows the staff composition by band. This includes those GPs working as 
clinical leads, and paid through the payroll, but who are not employees or officers. 
 

 

Female Male Total 

Head-
count in 
2018/19 

Sum of 
Average 

WTE 

Head-
count in 
2018/19 

Sum of 
Average 

WTE 

Head-
count in 
2018/19 

Sum of 
Average 

WTE 

Governing Body       

Chair   1  1 0 

Accountable Officer/ 
Managing Director 1 1 1 1 2 2 

Strategic Finance Director   1 0 1 0 

Chief Finance Officer   1 1 1 1 

Clinical Directors 1  3  4 0 

Lay members 3  1  4 0 

Governing Body Total 5 1 8 2 13 3 

Employees of the CCG       

Band 2 1 1 2 2 3 2 

Band 3 6 6 3 3 9 8 

Band 4 12 9 2 3 14 11 

Band 5 17 16 3 3 20 18 

Band 6 43 38 2 3 45 40 

Band 7 21 18 14 11 35 29 

Band 8A 10 9 4 4 14 13 

Band 8B 11 9 3 3 14 12 
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Female Male Total 

Head-
count in 
2018/19 

Sum of 
Average 

WTE 

Head-
count in 
2018/19 

Sum of 
Average 

WTE 

Head-
count in 
2018/19 

Sum of 
Average 

WTE 

Band 8C 7 5 5 4 12 9 

Band 8D 3 3 1 1 4 4 

Band 9 1 1 0 0 1 1 

Very Senior Managers 2 3 0 0 2 3 

Clinical Leads 2  8  10  

Employees Total 136 115 47 33 183 149 

Other 6 1 3 1 9 2 

Grand Total 147 117 59 36 205 153 

 
 

 
Permanent 

Staff 
Average WTE 

Other 
Average 

WTE 

Total 
Average WTE 

Admin & Clerical 97 2 98 

Nursing 15 0 15 

Medical 1 0 1 

Grand Total 113 2 115 
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Staff Costs 
The tables below show the total employee benefits. 
 

2018/19 
Employee Benefits 

2018/19 total Admin Programme 

Total Perm Other Total Perm Other Total Perm Other 

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 

Employee Benefits 

Salaries and wages 4,470 4,311 159 1,988 1,893 95 2,482 2,418 64 

Social security 
costs 412 412 0 181 181 0 231 231 0 

Employer 
contributions to 
NHS Pension 
Scheme 

523 523 0 204 204 0 319 319 0 

Other pension costs 1 1 0 0 0 0 1 1 0 

Apprenticeship 
Levy 10 10 0 10 10 0 0 0 0 

Termination 
Benefits 7 7 0 7 7 0 0 0 0 

Net Employee 
Benefits 5,423 5,265 159 2,390 2,295 95 3,033 2,969 64 

 

2017/18 
Employee Benefits 

2017/18 total Admin Programme 

Total Perm Other Total Perm Other Total Perm Other 

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 

Employee Benefits 

Salaries and wages 4,114 4,049 65 1,873 1,839 34 2,242 2,210 31 

Social security 
costs 414 414 0 186 186 0 228 228 0 

Employer 
contributions to the 
NHS Pension 
Scheme 

515 515 0 210 210 0 305 305 0 
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2017/18 
Employee Benefits 

2017/18 total Admin Programme 

Total Perm Other Total Perm Other Total Perm Other 

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 

Apprenticeship 
Levy 9 9 0 9 9 0 0 0 0 

Net Employee 
Benefits 5,053 4,988 65 2,278 2,244 34 2,775 2,744 31 

 
Staff Composition 
The gender breakdown of our Governing Body and other employees, again on 31 
March 2019, is shown in the table below: 
 

Group Female Percentage Male Percentage Total 

Governing Body 5 45.45% 6 54.55% 11 

CCG Staff and 
Senior Managers* 133* 75.14% 44* 24.86% 177* 

 
*Fully shared with Eastbourne, Hailsham and Seaford CCG 
 
Sickness absence data 
The sickness rate is described in the table below: 
 

Total Staff Absence 
(in days) 

Total Staff Years 
Worked 

Average Days Lost 
(Per Staff Year Worked) 

2237 181.87 12.3 
 
Long term absence 
Across the joint staffing team, with NHS Hastings and Rother CCG, 2237 days were 
lost in 2018/19.  
 

• 1227 days (54.86%) resulted from 15 episodes of long term sickness (+28 
days), and 

• 390 days (17.43%) resulted from 18 episodes lasting at least 14 days but less 
than 28 days. 

 
Short term absence 
The remaining absences, 620 days or 27.71% comprised individual episodes of 
short term sickness (14 calendar days or less). 
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Staff policies 
The CCG, in discharging its obligation as a responsible employer, has HR policies, 
procedures, and practices in place that are inclusive of diversity and the equal 
treatment of its workforce.  Each policy is equality impact assessed for the effect on 
different groups protected from discrimination by the Equality Act (2010) to ensure 
the policy is fully effective for all target groups.  
 
The CCG operates under the Disability Confident Scheme principles by ensuring 
candidates who declare a disability and meet the minimum requirements for a 
vacancy are interviewed.  The HR service advises recruiting managers appropriately 
as all applications are anonymous until shortlisting for interview has been completed.  
 
The CCG works with its HR provider to ensure training and development is 
accessible to all staff and where appropriate will seek the advice of Occupational 
Health specialists. The CCG is a member of a Sussex-wide Health and Safety 
Committee which enables the CCG to discharge its responsibility for the safety and 
wellbeing of its workforce.  
 
Following a period of change affecting the way staff work across a broader footprint, 
the CCG has continued to seek different ways to engage with its workforce.  This 
includes regular and varied communications channels to share information and also 
networks to enable an additional means for staff to have their voices heard on the full 
range of issues. The CCG took part in the NHS National Staff Survey and is working 
with staff to ensure everyone has the opportunity to influence how the CCG can 
improve its employee experience to increase staff engagement, staff wellbeing, and 
staff morale.  
 
The CCG is participating in the national Regional Talent Board and is also 
developing plans to work at a local level introducing integrated organisational 
development interventions across partner organisations in the STP to ensure that 
wherever possible talent is retained within the STP.   
 
HR provision is delivered through the lead provider framework, by South, Central 
and West Commissioning Support Unit.  Part of this provision ensures that all CCG 
Human Resources policies are agreed in partnership with Trade Union 
representatives, are complaint with UK employment law, follow up-to-date guidance, 
and provide a backdrop of equality for all staff. 
 
Organisational Development Strategy 
In July 2015 and in partnership with Eastbourne, Hailsham and Seaford CCG, the 
Governing Bodies approved the CCGs Organisational Development Strategy 2015-
18, with the purpose of building our organisation to fulfil our system-wide 
ambition.  The strategy set out our vision framed within the context of our Governing 
Bodies, GP membership, commissioning staff and wider health and care 
landscape.  The delivery of the strategy has been supported by nine key activities: 
culture, behaviour, fitness for integration, processes and policies, systems, 
structures, development and skills, recruitment and retention, and workforce 
planning. 
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We delivered our strategy against a range of the dimensions and activities. It built on 
our previous progress, outlining how organisational development further supports our 
people as we respond to: 
 

• Our organisational and system-wide financial challenges. 
• Our work to continue towards our ESBT Alliance ambition for further 

integration to deliver improved health and care to local people, with a 
strengthened focus on supporting local people to be well, whilst ensuring 
access to quality health and care services when needed. 

• Our work as we strengthen our collaboration as two of the eight Sussex and 
East Surrey CCGs and within the context of the Sussex and East Surrey 
Sustainability and Transformation Partnership. 

 
As we come to the end of this three-year strategy, we have achieved good progress 
and have further plans and emerging thinking for 2019 in light of our recent 
changes.  Future action will increasingly be considered alongside and embedded 
within our ESBT Alliance Organisational Development activity and within the context 
of wider system organisational development across Sussex and East Surrey (the 
Our People Our Future programme).   In the forthcoming period, we will pay 
particular attention to how we work with our people to continue our positive progress 
locally at this time of significant change and financial challenge. 
 
Our next steps for local place based organisational development will be driven by the 
ESBT OD Network (in collaboration with the partner organisational and STP–wide 
arrangements where relevant) and will focus action across three key themes to 
further develop/embed: 
 

• An ESBT Culture 
• A Thriving Workforce, and 
• High Performing System Leadership. 

 
Alongside this, we are fully participating and leading the Sussex and East Surrey 
commissioner’s Our People Our Future Programme which is built around four key 
elements: 
  

• Getting our basics right 
• Supporting our people through change 
• Building for our future, and 
• Living our values for inclusion. 

 
We continue to build on our good progress to date and work alongside partners and 
within Surrey and East Sussex to both maximise the impact of organisational 
development on achieving our ambitions as a SES-wide group of commissioners, 
whilst simultaneously supporting the local place based integration agenda 
(developing Integrated Care Providers).  This requires us to continue to develop the 
relationship between these two pieces of work.  
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Staff Equality Network 
A staff equality network has been formed during the reporting period. This network 
covers all of the CCGs within Sussex and East Surrey. The network has strong 
leadership support and commitment, and is beginning to achieve progress. 

 
We are proud to note that on 30 January 2019 the Sussex and East Surrey 
Commissioners (DCS012299) was certified as ‘disability confident committed’ 
employer. 
 
 
As a Disability Confident Committed Employer we have committed to: 
 

• Ensure our recruitment process is inclusive and accessible 
• Communicate and promote vacancies 
• Offer an interview to disabled people 
• Anticipate and provide reasonable adjustments as required 
• Support any existing employee who acquires a disability or long term health 

condition, enabling them to stay in work, and 
• Undertake at least one activity that will make a difference for disabled people. 

 
To find out more about Disability Confident you can visit www.gov.uk/disability-
confident. 
 
Trade Union facilities 
The CCG acknowledges that it is to the mutual benefit of the CCG and its staff for 
them to be represented by Trade Unions / Staff Organisations and encourages its 
employees to belong to an appropriate staff organisation, although membership is 
not a condition of employment. 
 
The Recognition and Facilities Agreement (available to all staff on the Intranet) sets 
out the arrangements for consultation and negotiation on matters of common 
interest, with due regard for the ACAS Codes of Practice 
(http://www.acas.org.uk/index.aspx?articleid=1878). 
 
As a small organisation the CCG works with other Clinical Commissioning Groups 
through a Joint Staffing Committee where union representation from across Sussex 
meets with management in a constructive and collaborative way to ensure that, in 
the absence of any representation from within the CCG staff group, representatives 
of those unions are still involved in the consultation arrangements.  
 

http://www.gov.uk/disability-confident
http://www.gov.uk/disability-confident
http://www.acas.org.uk/index.aspx?articleid=1878
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The following information is published in accordance with the Statutory Instrument 
2017 No. 328, The Trade Union  (Facility Time Publication Requirements) 
Regulations 2017. 
 
The total number of employees who were relevant union officials during the relevant 
period (Table 1): 
 

Number of employees who were 
relevant union officials during the 
relevant period 

Full-time equivalent employee 
number 

Nil Nil 

 
Percentage of their working hours spent on facility time (Table 2): 
 

Percentage of time Number of employees 

0% Nil 

1-50% Nil 

51-99% Nil 

100% Nil 

 
Percentage of pay bill spent on facility time (Table 3): 
 
Total cost of facility time Nil 

Total pay bill  £5.423m 

Percentage of the total pay bill spent on facility time, 
calculated as: 
(total cost of facility time ÷ total paid facility time hours) x 
100 

0% 
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The number of hours, as a percentage of total paid facility time, spent by employees 
who were relevant union officials on paid trade union activities (Table 4): 
 
Time spent on paid trade union activities as a percentage of 
total paid facility time hours calculated as: 
(total hours spent on paid trade union activities by relevant 
union officials during the relevant period ÷ total paid facility 
time hours) x 100 

0% 

 
Whistleblowing 
The CCG has adopted the standard integrated policy on Whistleblowing as 
recommended in the Freedom to Speak Up review by Sir Robert Francis into 
whistleblowing in the NHS. The policy is available on the intranet for all staff to 
access. 
 
In accordance with the duty of candour, CCG senior managers and the governing 
body are committed to an open and honest culture. The CCG will look into what its 
staff say and staff will have access to any support needed. To protect staff who 
make disclosures, any person who victimises someone who has raised genuine 
concerns under this policy will be subject to disciplinary action.  
CCG local processes have been integrated into the policy and adhere to the 
principles of the policy. 
 
There are prominent contact details for: 
 

• CCG Freedom to Speak Up Guardian 
• National Freedom to Speak Up Guardian 
• Director with responsibility for Whistleblowing 
• Lay members with responsibility for Whistleblowing 
• CCG Caldicott Guardians for safeguarding patient information 
• Counter Fraud Manager, and 
• Staff Counselling Services; and Occupational Health. 

 
Expenditure on consultancy 
During the year the CCG spend on consultancy services was £266K. 
 
Off-payroll engagements  
Off-payroll engagements are defined as those at rates of more than £245 per day 
and lasting more than six months. In this category there have been a number of 
engagements with individuals undertaking interim roles for the CCG, outlined below. 
 
The majority of these roles are shared with NHS Eastbourne, Hailsham and Seaford 
CCG as part of the shared management arrangements. 
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Off-payroll engagements longer than 6 months 
For all off-payroll engagements as at 31 March 2019, for more than £245 per day and 
that last longer than six months:  
  Number 

Number of existing engagements as of 31 March 2019 1 

Of which, the number that have existed:  

for less than one year at the time of reporting 1 

for between one and two years at the time of reporting 0 

for between 2 and 3 years at the time of reporting 0 

for between 3 and 4 years at the time of reporting 0 

for 4 or more years at the time of reporting 0 
 
The CCG confirms that all existing off-payroll engagements have at some point been 
subject to a risk based assessment as to whether assurance is required that the 
individual is paying the right amount of tax and, where necessary, that assurance 
has been sought.  
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New off-payroll engagements 
Where the reformed public sector rules apply, entities must complete Table 2 for all 
new off-payroll engagements, or those that reached six months in duration, between 
1 April 2018 and 31 March 2019, for more than £245 per day and that last for longer 
than 6 months: 
  Number 

Number of new engagements, or those that reached six 
months in duration, between 1 April 2018 and 31 March 2019 2 

Of which:  

Number assessed as caught by IR35 0 

Number assessed as not caught by IR35 2 

  

Number engaged directly (via PSC contracted to department) 
and are on the departmental payroll 0 

Number of engagements reassessed for consistency / 
assurance purposes during the year 0 

Number of engagements that saw a change to IR35 status 
following the consistency review  0 

 
Off-payroll engagements / senior official engagements 
For any off-payroll engagements of Board members and / or senior officials with 
significant financial responsibility, between 01 April 2018 and 31 March 2019. 
 
Number of off-payroll engagements of board members, and/or senior 
officers with significant financial responsibility, during the financial year (1) 0 

Total no. of individuals on payroll and off-payroll that have been deemed 
“board members, and/or, senior officials with significant financial 
responsibility”, during the financial year. This figure should include both 
on payroll and off-payroll engagements (2). 

22 

 
Note: 

(1) There should only be a very small number of off-payroll engagements of 
board members and/or senior officials with significant financial responsibility, 
permitted only in exceptional circumstances and for no more than six months 

(2) As both on payroll and off-payroll engagements are included in the total 
figure, no entries here should be blank or zero. 
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Exit packages, including special (non-contractual) payments 
There have been no exit packages including special (non-contractual) payments or 
other departures in any of the following categories: 
 

• Voluntary redundancies including early retirement contractual costs 
• Mutually agreed resignations contractual costs 
• Early retirements in the efficiency of the service contractual cost; 
• Contractual payments in lieu of notice 
• Exit payments following Employment Tribunals or court orders, and 
• Non-contractual payments requiring HMT approval. 

 
Table 1: Exit Packages 
 

Exit package 
cost band (inc. 

any special 
payment 
element 

Number of 
compulsory 
redundancie

s 

Cost of 
compulsory 
redundancie

s 

Number of 
other 

departures 
agreed 

Cost of other 
departures 

agreed 

Total 
number of 

exit 
packages 

Total cost of 
exit 

packages 

Number of 
departures 

where 
special 

payments 
have been 

made 

Cost of 
special 

payment 
element 

included in 
exit 

packages 

 
WHOLE 

NUMBERS 
ONLY 

£s 
WHOLE 

NUMBERS 
ONLY 

£s 
WHOLE 

NUMBERS 
ONLY 

£s 
WHOLE 

NUMBERS 
ONLY 

£s 

Less than 
£10,000 2 7,553 0 0 2 7,553 0 0 

£10,000 - 
£25,000         

£25,001 - 
£50,000         

£50,001 - 
£100,000         

£100,001 - 
£150,000         

£150,001 
–£200,000         

>£200,000         

TOTALS 2 7,553 0 0 2 7,553 0 0 
 
Redundancy and other departure cost have been paid in accordance with the 
provisions of NHS Pension Scheme. Exit costs in this note are accounted for in full in 
the year of departure. Where NHS Hastings and Rother CCG has agreed early 
retirements, the additional costs are met by NHS Hastings and Rother CCG and not 
by the NHS Pensions Scheme. Ill-health retirement costs are met by the NHS 
Pensions Scheme and are not included in the table.  
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Table 2: Analysis of Other Departures 
  
 Agreements Total Value of 

agreements 

 Number £000s 

Voluntary redundancies 
including early retirement 
contractual costs 

0 0 

Mutually agreed 
resignations (MARS) 
contractual costs 

0 0 

Early retirements in the 
efficiency of the service 
contractual costs 

0 0 

Contractual payments in 
lieu of notice* 0 0 

Exit payments following 
Employment Tribunals or 
court orders 

0 0 

Non-contractual payments 
requiring HMT approval** 

0 
 

0 

TOTAL 0 0 
 
As a single exit package can be made up of several components each of which will 
be counted separately in this Note, the total number above will not necessarily match 
the total numbers in Note 4.3 which will be the number of individuals. 
 
*any non-contractual payments in lieu of notice are disclosed under “non-contracted 
payments requiring HMT approval” below.  
 
**includes any non-contractual severance payment made following judicial 
mediation, and X (list amounts) relating to non-contractual payments in lieu of notice.  
 
No non-contractual payments were made to individuals where the payment value 
was more than 12 months’ of their annual salary.  
 
The Remuneration Report includes disclosure of exit packages payable to 
individuals named in that Report.  
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Section 3:  Annual Accounts 
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Finance report 
 
Managing a challenging financial agenda 
 
Overall summary of the financial position  
NHS Hastings and Rother CCG delivered a surplus of £0.165m after Commissioner 
Sustainability Funding (CSF) in 2018/19. The key results are:   
 

• The CCG delivered its planned control total deficit of £12m. The CCG met the 
in-year requirements to receive the fully allotted £12m of additional CSF 
funding and reported a small surplus after CSF 

• Cash was managed within the resource limits available, and 
• The CCG, as a result of its many joint working arrangements, stayed within its 

running cost target of £4.064m, restricting costs to £4.044m.  
 

Finance report  
In 2018/19, the CCG set a financial plan in accordance with the NHS planning 
guidance published by NHS England and which demonstrated achievement of the 
notified control total of £12m deficit. It was recognised that a challenging efficiency 
programme would be required to successfully deliver the plan and the level of 
general contingency held at 0.5% (£3m) of resource limit would not mitigate all 
emerging risks.  
 
Given the assessed financial risk, the CCG was placed in financial turnaround by its 
Joint Management Team (JMT) and a formal governance and delivery framework 
implemented to monitor and manage the Financial Recovery Plan agreed by NHS 
England and agree mitigating actions where required. As part of this process a £9m 
savings target was set which represented 2.8% of Resource Limit. 
 
The CCG faced a number of financial risks in 2018/19 which needed to be effectively 
managed. The most significant of these were:  
 

• Agreeing the year end settlement on the contract with ESHT resulted in an 
over-performance of £1m against plan but removed the variability around the 
key risk to delivery of the control total and provided a degree of certainty 
within which to work 

• Particularly high cost placements and out of area placements put added 
pressure above plan on the mental health budget, and 

• Increased prescribing costs increased due to stock issues for some generic 
items 

 
Delegated Commissioning of GP Primary Care Services 
The CCG received an allocation of £27m for the commissioning of GP Primary Care 
Services. Expenditure against this allocation totalled £27.5m resulting in a £0.5m 
overspend. The main driver of the overspend was the continued impact into 2018/19 
of a practice closure in 2017/18. 
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Mental Health Investment Standard (MHIS) 
The CCG is required to demonstrate that it’s total spend on mental health services 
increased between 2017/18 and 2018/19 by at least the percentage increase in its 
allocation. This is called the Mental Health Investment Standard. The CCG met the 
MHIS, expenditure on mental health services increased by £1.040m. 
 
Running costs 
Each CCG is set a limit on how much it can spend on its administrative and 
management costs. The running costs allocation was £4.064m and we were able to 
manage our business within this limit with a running cost of £4.044m. The CCG 
manages its running cost allowance as efficiently as possible through increased joint 
working with other Sussex CCGs and Commissioning Support Units.  
 
Looking ahead  
The financial prospects for 2019/20 and subsequent years remain challenging, with 
significant savings targets to be met and rising demand for services, coupled with an 
ageing population with more complex health needs.  
 
The CCG has received an additional programme allocation of £18.7m (6%) in 
2019/20. This is its only source of additional funding to meet inflationary pressures in 
the services it commissions, fund anticipated growth due to demography, meet 
increased costs of clinical complexity and fund new clinical pathways or procedures. 
It is also recognised that investment is required to redress the imbalance between 
physical and mental health and between inpatient and community settings as 
detailed in the Long Term Plan. 
 
It is anticipated that in the medium term, the CCG will need to continue to identify 
improvements in effective and efficient clinical services to release funds for re-
investment in the transformation of services in the future. 
 
The CCG has produced a financial plan for 2019/20 in line with the guidance 
produced by NHS England. The CCG’s current plans deliver the deficit control total 
of £8.6m which after receipt of Commissioning Sustainability Funding (CSF) during 
the financial year, subject to the achievement of in year milestones, of £8.6 will 
deliver statutory break-even. The CCG will need to apply the same rigour to risk 
management as in previous years. The CCG is developing saving plans to meet this 
control total and will provide an updated System Financial Recovery Plan to NHSE 
by 30 June 2019. 
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Glossary 
 
3VA Council for Voluntary Services 
AAF Alliance Assurance Framework 
ACCA Association of Chartered Certified Accountants 
ADHD  Attention Deficit Hyperactivity Disorder 
AEO Accountable Emergency Officer 
AfC Agenda for Change 
AFC  Armed Forces Community 
AHC Annual Health Check 
ATB Alliance Turnaround Board 
BCF Better Care Fund 
BME Black and Minority Ethnic 
BSI  Blood Stream Infections 
BSUH  Brighton and Sussex University Hospitals NHS Trust 
CAMHS Child and Adolescent Mental Health Services 
CCA  Civil Contingencies Act 2004 
CCG Clinical Commissioning Group 
CEC  Clinically Effective Commissioning 
CEO Chief Executive Officer 
CEPN  Community Education Provider Networks 
CETR Care, Education and Treatment Review 
CETV Cash Equivalent Transfer Value 
CDI Clostridium Difficile Infection 
CHART Connecting Hastings and Rother Together 
COI Conflict of Interest 
CPA Care Programme Approach 
CQC Care Quality Commission 
CSU Commissioning Support Unit 
CTR  Care Treatment Review 
CYP Children and Young People 
DPIAs  Data Privacy Impact Assessments 
DQIP Data Quality Improvement Plan 
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DToC  Delayed Transfers of Care 
EBI Evidence Based Interventions 
E. Coli  Escherichia coli 
ED  Emergency Departments 
EHIA Equality and Health Inequalities Impact Assessment 
EMU Eastbourne Midwifery Unit 
EPRR Emergency Planning, Resilience, and Response 
ESBT East Sussex Better Together 
ESCIS East Sussex Community Information Service 
ESHT East Sussex Healthcare NHS Trust 
EU European Union 
EXPaCC East Sussex Parent Carer Council 
FFT Friends and Family Test 
FReM  Government Financial Reporting Manual 
FRP Financial Recovery Plan 
GDPR  General Data Protection Regulations 
HEE  Health Education England 
HFMA  Healthcare Financial Management Association 
HIUS  High Intensity User Service 
HOA Hastings Opportunity Area 
HOM Head of Midwifery 
HOSC Health Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
HPG Health Policy Group 
HSCC  Health and Social Care Connect 
IAF  Improvement and Assessment Framework 
ICDC  Integrated Community Diabetes Care 
ICS Integrated Care Systems 
IGSG Information Governance Steering Group 
JMT Joint Management Team 
KSS Kent, Surrey and Sussex 
LD Learning Disability 
LeDeR Learning Disabilities Mortality Review (LeDeR) 
LMC Local Medical Committee 
LMS Local Maternity System 
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MARS  Mutually agreed resignations 
MRSA Meticillin or Methicillin Resistant Staphylococcus Aureus 
MDT Multidisciplinary Team 
MLU  Midwife Led Unit 
MSK Musculoskeletal Service 
MTW   Maidstone and Tunbridge Wells NHS Trust 
NHSA NHS Act 2006 as amended 
OpEx/OPEX Operational Executive 
PPG  Patient Participation Groups 
PSC Patient Safety Collaborative 
QIPP Quality, Innovation, Productivity and Prevention 
QOF Quality and Outcomes Framework 
RAG Red Amber Green 
SARs Subject Access Requests 
SCAS  South Central Ambulance Service 
SCRs Summary Care Records 

SECAmb South East Coast Ambulance Service NHS Foundation 
Trust 

SEND  Special Education Needs and Disabilities 
SHMI  Summary Hospital Mortality Indicator 
SIP Strategic Investment Plan 
SLAM  Service Level Agreement 
SPFT  Sussex Partnership Foundation Trust 
SRO Senior Responsible Officer 
SSNAP Stroke Sentinel National Audit Programme 

STOMP Stopping Overmedication of People with a Learning 
Disability 

SUS Secondary User Service 
STP  Sustainability and Transformation Partnership 
TCP Transforming Care Partnership 
UTCs  Urgent Treatment Centres 
WTE  Whole Time Equivalent 
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Appendix A: 
Independent Auditors Report 
  



a

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF THE GOVERNING BODY OF NHS
HASTINGS AND ROTHER CLINICAL COMMISSIONING GROUP

Opinion on financial statements

We have audited the financiatstatements of NHS Hastings and Rother Commissioning Group (the
CCG) for the year ended 31 March 2019 which comprise the Statement of Comprehensive Net
Expenditure, the Statement of Financial Position, the Statement of Changes in Taxpayers' Equity,
the Statement of Cash Ftows and notes to the financial statements, including a summary of
significant accounting policies. The financial reporting framework that has been apptied in their
preparation is applicable law and lnternational Financial Reporting Standards (lFRSs) as adopted by
the European Union, and as interpreted and adapted by the 2018-19 Government Financial
Reporting Manual as contained in the Department of Heatth and Sociat Care's Group Accounting
Manual 2018-19.

ln our opinion the financial statements:

give a true and fair view of the financial position of the CCG as at 31 March 2019 and of its net
expenditure for the year then ended; and
have been property prepared in accordance with the Department of Heatth and Sociat Care's
Group Accounting Manual 2018-19; and
have been prepared in accordance with the Health and sociat care Act 2012.

Basis for opinion on financial statements

We conducted our audit in accordance with lnternational Standards on Auditing (UK) (lSAs (UK)) and
appticabte [aw. Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor's
responsibitities for the audit of the financial statements section of our report. We are independent
of the CCG in accordance with the ethical requirements that are retevant to our audit of the
financial statements in the UK, including the Financial Reporting Councit's Ethicat Standard, and we
have futfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements. We betieve
that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our
opinion.

Conclusions relating to going concern

We have nothing to report in respect of the following matters in relation to which the lSAs (UK)
require us to report to you where:

the Accountable Officer's use of the going concern basis of accounting in the preparation of the
financial statements is not appropriate; or

the Accountabte Officer has not disclosed in the financiat statements any identified materiat
uncertainties that may cast significant doubt about the CCG's abitity to continue to adopt the
going concern basis of accounting for a period of at teast twelve months from the date when
the financial statements are authorised for issue.

Other information

The Accountabte Officer is responsible for the other information. The other information comprises
the information inctuded in the annuat report, other than the financial statements and our
auditor's report thereon. Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other
information and, except to the extent otherwise expticitty stated in our report, we do not express
any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

ln connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibitity is to read the other
information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materiatly inconsistent with
the financial statements or our knowtedge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be
materiatty misstated. lf we identify such material inconsistencies or apparent material

a

a



misstatements. we are required to determine whether there is a materiat misstatement in the
financiat statements or a materiat misstatement of the other information. lf, based on the work we
have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we

are required to report that fact.

-r :- tL:- -^---)we nave nolnlng [() teP(JIt lll Lllls legcllu.

Opinion on regularity

ln our opinion, in atl material respects the expenditure and income recorded in the financial
statements have been apptied to the purposes intended by Parliament and the financial
transactions in the financiat statements conform to the authorities which govern them.

Opinion on information in the Remuneration and Staff Report

We have atso audited the information in the Remuneration and Staff Report that is described in

that report as having been audited.

ln our opinion the parts of the Remuneration and Staff Report to be audited have been properly
prepared in accordance with Department of Health and Sociat Care's Group Accounting Manual

201 8-1 9.
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Quaiiiieci conciusion on use oi resourees

On the basis of our work, having regard to the guidance issued by the Comptrotler & Auditor
General in November 2017, with the exception of the matter reported in the Basis for quatified

conctusion on use of resources section of our report, we are satisfied that, in atl significant
respects, the CCG has put in ptace proper arrangements to secure economy, efficiency and

effectiveness in its use of resources for the year ended 31 March 2019.

Basis for qualified conclusion on use of resources

The CCG is currentty under Legat Directions following a large deficit reported in 2017118.

As part of the Legal Directions, a financial recovery plan has been developed that requires

significant investment in schemes to achieve future savings and is reliant on continued support from

CJmmissioner Sustainabitity Funding. The CCG has set a deficit budget of 88.6 million f or 2019 /20
in order to access Commissioner Sustainabitity Funding of E8.6 million.

TheZOlgt2O budget inctudes significant Quality, lnnovation Productivity and Prevention (QIPP)

savings of L12.2 mittion. A targe part of the savings have been identified although there remains a

savings gap of E4.1 mittion. This witt be funded through the use of the investment and contingency
reseryes, leaving a savings gap of E1 mitlion.

The CCG continues to face chaltenges in finding the substantial savings needed to balance its
budget and reduce its reliance on Commission Sustainabitity Funding.

This is evidence of

Other matters

proper rega resource

We have nothing to report in respect of the fottowing other matters in relation which the Locat

Audit and Accountabitity Act 2014 requires us to report to you if:

o in our opinion the Governance statement does not compty with the guidance issued by NHS

England; or
. we refer a matter to the Secretary of State under section 30 of the Locat Audit and

Accountabitity Act 2014 because we have reason to believe that the CCG, or an officer of the



a

a

CCG, is about to make, or has made, a decision which involves or would involve the body
incurring untawful expenditure, or is about to take, or has begun to take a course of action
which, if fottowed to its conclusion, would be untawfut and tikety to cause a loss or deficiency;
or
we issue a report in the pubtic interest under section 24 of the Locat Audit and Accountabitity
Act2014; or
we make a written recommendation to the CCG under sectio n 24 of the Locat Audit and
Accountability Act 201 4.

Responsibilities of the Accountable Officer

As explained more fulty in the Statement of Accountable Officer's Responsibitities, the Accountable
Officer is responsibte for the preparation of the financiat statements and for being satisfied that
they give a true and fair view, and for such internat control as the Accountabte Oificer determines
is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

ln preparing the financial statements, the Accountabte Officer is responsibte for assessing the CCG's
abitity to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as appticabte, matters retated to goingloncern
and using the going concern basis of accounting untess the Accountabte Officer either inlends to
liquidate the CCG or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

As exptained in the Statement of Accountable Officer's Responsibitities, the Accountable Officer is
also responsibte for the propriety and regularity of the pubtic finances for which the Accountable
Officer is answerabte and for ensuring the CCG exercises its functions effectivety, efficientty and
economicaIty.

Auditor's responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements

ln respect of our audit of the financial statements our objectives are to obtain reasonable
assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from materiat misstatement,
whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor's report that inctudes our opinion.
Reasonabte assurance is a high [eve[ of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in
accordance with lSfu (UK) witt atways detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements
can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individualty or in the aggregate, they
could reasonabty be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on ihe-basis of 

-

these financial statements.

A further description of our responsibitities for the audit of the financial statements is tocated at
the Financial Reporting Counci['s website at: https://www.frc.orq.uk/auditorsresponsibitities. This
description forms part of our auditor's report.

Auditor's other responsibilities

ln addition to our audit of the financial statements we are required to obtain evidence sufficient to
give reasonable assurance that the expenditure and income recorded in the financiat statements
have been apptied to the purposes intended by Parliament and the financiat statements conform to
the authorities which govern them.

We are atso required under section 21(1)(c) of the Locat Audit and Accountabitity Act 2014 to be
satisfied that the CCG has made proper arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and
effectiveness in its use of resources. Section 21 (5Xb) of the Locat Audit and Accountablfity ActZOl4
requires that our report must not contain our opinion if we are satisfied that proper arrangements
are in ptace.

We are not required to consider, nor have we considered, whether a[[ aspects of the CCG's
arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources are
operating effectivety.



As set o-ut in the Matters on which we report by exceotion section of our report there are certain
other matters which we are required to report by exception.

Certificate

We ceriify that we have compteted 'uhe audit of 'Lhe accounts oi the CCG in accorciance wiih ihe
requirements of the Locat Audit and Accountabitity Act20'14 and the Code of Audit Practice issued

by the National Audit Office.

Use of our report

This report is made sotety to the Members of the Governing Body of NHS Hastings and Rother

CtinicaiCommissioning Group, as a body, in accordance with part 5 of the Local Audit and

Accountabitity Act 2014 and as set out in paragraph 43 of the Statement of Responsibitities of
Auditors and iudited Bodies pubtished by the Nationat Audit Office in Aprit 2015. Our audit work
has been undertaken so that we might state to the Members of the Governing Body those matters
we are required to state to them in an auditor's report and for no other purpose. To the futlest
extent permitted by [aw, we do not accept or assume responsibitity to anyone other than the CCG

and the Members of the Governing Body of the CCG, as a body, for our audit work, this report, or
for the opinions we have formed.

AAlt ,rO
) curv qzl

Leigh Lloyd-Thonnas
For and on behalf of BDO LLP, Statutory Auditor
London, UK

28 May 2019

BDO LLP is a timited tiabitity partnership registered in Engtand and Wates (with registered number
oc3051 27).
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NHS Hastings & Rother CCG - Annual Accounts 2018-19

Statement of Comprehensive Net Expenditure for the year ended

31 March 2019

2018-19 2017-18

Note £'000 £'000

Income from sale of goods and services 2 (2,953) (3,255)

Total operating income (2,953) (3,255)

Staff costs 4 5,423 5,053

Purchase of goods and services 5 320,436 318,073

Depreciation charges 5 32 19

Provision expense 5 (3) (51)

Other operating expenditure 5 290 345

Total operating expenditure 326,178 323,439

Total net expenditure for the year 323,225 320,184

The notes on pages 5 to 18 form part of this statement.

1
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NHS Hastings & Rother CCG - Annual Accounts 2018-19

Statement of Changes In Taxpayers Equity for the year ended

31 March 2019

General fund

£'000

Changes in taxpayers’ equity for 2018-19

Balance at 01 April 2018 (22,438)

Changes in NHS Clinical Commissioning Group 

taxpayers’ equity for 2018-19

Net operating expenditure for the financial year (323,225)

Net funding * 319,733

Balance at 31 March 2019 (25,930)

General fund

£'000

Changes in taxpayers’ equity for 2017-18

Balance at 01 April 2017 (21,739)

Changes in NHS Clinical Commissioning Group 

taxpayers’ equity for 2017-18

Net operating expenditure for the financial year (320,184)

Net funding * 319,485

Balance at 31 March 2018 (22,438)

* The Net funding represents the cash received from NHS England

The notes on pages 5 to 18 form part of this statement.
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Statement of Cash Flows for the year ended

31 March 2019

2018-19 2017-18

Note £'000 £'000

Cash Flows from Operating Activities

Net operating expenditure for the financial year (323,225) (320,184)

Depreciation 32 19

(Increase)/decrease in trade & other receivables 5,354 (4,720)

Increase/(decrease) in trade & other payables (1,719) 5,613

Provisions utilised (0) (125)

Decrease in provisions (3) (51)

Net Cash Outflow from Operating Activities (319,561) (319,448)

Cash Flows from Investing Activities

Payments for property, plant and equipment (50) (40)

Net Cash Outflow from Investing Activities (50) (40)

Net Cash Outflow before Financing (319,611) (319,488)

Cash Flows from Financing Activities

Grant in Aid Funding Received 319,733 319,485

Net Cash Inflow from Financing Activities 319,733 319,485

Net Increase / (Decrease) in Cash & Cash Equivalents 10 122 (3)

Cash & Cash Equivalents at the Beginning of the Year 103 106

Cash & Cash Equivalents at the End of the Year 225 103

The notes on pages 5 to 18 form part of this statement.
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Notes to the financial statements

1 Accounting Policies

NHS England has directed that the financial statements of clinical commissioning groups shall meet the accounting 

requirements of the  Group Accounting Manual issued by the Department of Health and Social Care. Consequently, 

the following financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the  Group Accounting Manual 2018-19 

issued by the Department of Health and Social Care. The accounting policies contained in the Group Accounting 

Manual follow International Financial Reporting Standards to the extent that they are meaningful and appropriate to 

clinical commissioning groups, as determined by HM Treasury, which is advised by the Financial Reporting Advisory 

Board.  Where the Group Accounting Manual permits a choice of accounting policy, the accounting policy which is 

judged to be most appropriate to the particular circumstances of the clinical commissioning group for the purpose of 

giving a true and fair view has been selected. The particular policies adopted by the clinical commissioning group 

are described below. They have been applied consistently in dealing with items considered material in relation to the 

accounts.

1.1 Going Concern

These accounts have been prepared on the going concern basis.

Public sector bodies are assumed to be going concerns where the continuation of the provision of a service in the 

future is anticipated, as evidenced by inclusion of financial provision for that service in published documents.

Where a clinical commissioning group ceases to exist, it considers whether or not its services will continue to be 

provided (using the same assets, by another public sector entity) in determining whether to use the concept of going 

concern for the final set of Financial Statements.  If services will continue to be provided the financial statements are 

prepared on the going concern basis.

1.2 Accounting Convention

These accounts have been prepared under the historical cost convention.

1.3 Critical Accounting Judgements & Key Sources of Estimation Uncertainty

In the application of the clinical commissioning group’s accounting policies, management is required to make 

judgements, estimates and assumptions about the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that are not readily 

apparent from other sources. The estimates and associated assumptions are based on historical experience and 

other factors that are considered to be relevant. Actual results may differ from those estimates and the estimates 

and underlying assumptions are continually reviewed. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in the 

period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that period or in the period of the revision and 

future periods if the revision affects both current and future periods.

1.4  Revenue

The transition to IFRS 15 has been completed by applying the Standard retrospectively recognising the cumulative 

effects at the date of initial application. The impact to this CCG was not material.

In the adoption of IFRS 15 a number of practical expedients offered in the Standard have been employed. These 

are as follows;

• The clinical commissioning group will not disclose information regarding performance obligations part of a contract 

that has an original expected duration of one year or less,

• The clinical commissioning group is to similarly not disclose information where revenue is recognised where the 

right to consideration corresponds directly with value of the performance completed to date.

• The FReM has mandated the exercise of the practical expedient requires the clinical commissioning group to 

reflect the aggregate effect of all contracts modified before the date of initial application.

Revenue in respect of services provided is recognised when (or as) performance obligations are satisfied by 

transferring promised services to the customer, and is measured at the amount of the transaction price allocated to 

that performance obligation.

Where income is received for a specific performance obligation that is to be satisfied in the following year, that 

income is deferred.

Government funding for activities is received from NHS England as cash support. This is drawn down directly into 

the bank account of the CCG and credited to the General Fund. It is not accounted for as revenue to the CCG.

Where income is received for a specific activity that is to be delivered in the following year, that income is deferred.

5
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Notes to the financial statements

1.5 Employee Benefits

1.5.1 Short-term Employee Benefits

Salaries, wages and employment-related payments, including payments arising from the apprenticeship levy, are 

recognised in the period in which the service is received from employees, including bonuses earned but not yet 

taken.

The cost of leave earned but not taken by employees at the end of the period is recognised in the financial 

statements to the extent that employees are permitted to carry forward leave into the following period.

1.5.2 Retirement Benefit Costs

Past and present employees are covered by the provisions of the NHS Pensions Schemes. These schemes are 

unfunded, defined benefit schemes that cover NHS employers, General Practices and other bodies allowed under 

the direction of the Secretary of State in England and Wales. The schemes are not designed to be run in a way that 

would enable NHS bodies to identify their share of the underlying scheme assets and liabilities. Therefore, the 

schemes are accounted for as though they were defined contribution schemes: the cost to the clinical 

commissioning group of participating in a scheme is taken as equal to the contributions payable to the scheme for 

the accounting period.

For early retirements other than those due to ill health the additional pension liabilities are not funded by the 

scheme. The full amount of the liability for the additional costs is charged to expenditure at the time the clinical 

commissioning group commits itself to the retirement, regardless of the method of payment.

1.6 Other Expenses

Other operating expenses are recognised when, and to the extent that, the goods or services have been received. 

They are measured at the fair value of the consideration payable.

Expenses and liabilities in respect of grants are recognised when the clinical commissioning group has a present 

legal or constructive obligation, which occurs when all of the conditions attached to the payment have been met.

1.7 Property, Plant & Equipment

1.7.1 Recognition

Property, plant and equipment is capitalised if:

·                It is held for use in delivering services or for administrative purposes;

·                It is probable that future economic benefits will flow to, or service potential will be supplied to the clinical 

commissioning group;

·                It is expected to be used for more than one financial year;

·                The cost of the item can be measured reliably; and,

·                The item has a cost of at least £5,000; or,

·                Collectively, a number of items have a cost of at least £5,000 and individually have a cost of more than 

£250, where the assets are functionally interdependent, they had broadly simultaneous purchase dates, are 

anticipated to have simultaneous disposal dates and are under single managerial control; or,

·                Items form part of the initial equipping and setting-up cost of a new building, ward or unit, irrespective of 

their individual or collective cost.

1.7.2 Measurement

All plant and equipment is measured initially at cost, representing the cost directly attributable to acquiring or 

constructing the asset and bringing it to the location and condition necessary for it to be capable of operating in the 

manner intended by management. 

IT equipment, transport equipment, furniture and fittings, and plant and machinery that are held for operational use 

are valued at depreciated historic cost where these assets have short useful economic lives or low values or both, 

as this is not considered to be materially different from current value in existing use.

An increase arising on revaluation is taken to the revaluation reserve except when it reverses an impairment for the 

same asset previously recognised in expenditure, in which case it is credited to expenditure to the extent of the 

decrease previously charged there. A revaluation decrease that does not result from a loss of economic value or 

service potential is recognised as an impairment charged to the revaluation reserve to the extent that there is a 

balance on the reserve for the asset and, thereafter, to expenditure. Impairment losses that arise from a clear 

consumption of economic benefit are taken to expenditure. Gains and losses recognised in the revaluation reserve 

are reported as other comprehensive income in the Statement of Comprehensive Net Expenditure.
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Notes to the financial statements

1.7.3 Subsequent Expenditure

Where subsequent expenditure enhances an asset beyond its original specification, the directly attributable cost is 

capitalised. Where subsequent expenditure restores the asset to its original specification, the expenditure is 

capitalised and any existing carrying value of the item replaced is written-out and charged to operating expenses.

1.8 Depreciation, Amortisation & Impairments

Depreciation and amortisation are charged to write off the costs or valuation of plant and equipment less any 

residual value, over their estimated useful lives, in a manner that reflects the consumption of economic benefits or 

service potential of the assets. The estimated useful life of an asset is the period over which the clinical 

commissioning group expects to obtain economic benefits or service potential from the asset. This is specific to the 

clinical commissioning group and may be shorter than the physical life of the asset itself. Estimated useful lives and 

residual values are reviewed each year end, with the effect of any changes recognised on a prospective basis. 

Assets held under finance leases are depreciated over their estimated useful lives.

At each reporting period end, the clinical commissioning group checks whether there is any indication that any of its 

plant and equipment assets have suffered an impairment loss. If there is indication of an impairment loss, the 

recoverable amount of the asset is estimated to determine whether there has been a loss and, if so, its amount. 

Intangible assets not yet available for use are tested for impairment annually.

1.9 Leases

Leases are classified as finance leases when substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership are transferred to 

the lessee. All other leases are classified as operating leases.

1.9.1 The Clinical Commissioning Group as Lessee

Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term. Lease 

incentives are recognised initially as a liability and subsequently as a reduction of rentals on a straight-line basis 

over the lease term.

Where a lease is for land and buildings, the land and building components are separated and individually assessed 

as to whether they are operating or finance leases.

1.10 Cash & Cash Equivalents

Cash is cash in hand and deposits with any financial institution repayable without penalty on notice of not more than 

24 hours. Cash equivalents are investments that mature in 3 months or less from the date of acquisition and that are 

readily convertible to known amounts of cash with insignificant risk of change in value.

In the Statement of Cash Flows, cash and cash equivalents are shown net of bank overdrafts that are repayable on 

demand and that form an integral part of the clinical commissioning group’s cash management.

1.11 Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the clinical commissioning group has a present legal or constructive obligation as a 

result of a past event, it is probable that the clinical commissioning group will be required to settle the obligation, and 

a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation. The amount recognised as a provision is the best 

estimate of the expenditure required to settle the obligation at the end of the reporting period, taking into account the 

risks and uncertainties.

1.12 Financial Assets

Financial assets are recognised when the clinical commissioning group becomes party to the financial instrument 

contract or, in the case of trade receivables, when the goods or services have been delivered. Financial assets are 

derecognised when the contractual rights have expired or the asset has been transferred.

The CCG's financial assets are all classified as finacual assets at amortised cost.

The classification is determined by the cash flow and business model characteristics of the financial assets and is 

determined at the time of initial recognition.
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Notes to the financial statements

1.12.1 Impairment

For financial assets measured at amortised and contract assets, the clinical commissioning group recognises a loss 

allowance representing the expected credit losses on the financial asset.

The clinical commissioning group adopts the simplified approach to impairment in accordance with IFRS 9, and 

measures the loss allowance for trade receivables and contract assets at an amount equal to lifetime expected 

credit losses.

HM Treasury has ruled that central government bodies may not recognise stage 1 or stage 2 impairments against 

other government departments, their executive agencies, the Bank of England, Exchequer Funds and Exchequer 

Funds assets where repayment is ensured by primary legislation.  The clinical commissioning group therefore does 

not recognise loss allowances for stage 1 or stage 2 impairments against these bodies.  Additionally DHSC provides 

a guarantee of last resort against the debts of its arm's lengths bodies and NHS bodies and the clinical 

commissioning group does not recognise allowances for stage 1 or stage 2 impairments against these bodies. 

For financial assets that have become credit impaired since initial recognition (stage 3), expected credit losses at 

the reporting date are measured as the difference between the asset's gross carrying amount and the present value 

of the estimated future cash flows discounted at the financial asset's original effective interest rate.  Any adjustment 

is recognised in profit or loss as an impairment gain or loss.

1.13 Financial Liabilities
Financial liabilities are recognised when the clinical commissioning group becomes party to the contractual 

provisions of the financial instrument or, in the case of trade payables, when the goods or services have been 

received. Financial liabilities are de-recognised when the liability has been discharged, that is, the liability has been 

paid or has expired.

1.14 Value Added Tax

Most of the activities of the clinical commissioning group are outside the scope of VAT and, in general, output tax 

does not apply and input tax on purchases is not recoverable. Irrecoverable VAT is charged to the relevant 

expenditure category or included in the capitalised purchase cost of fixed assets. Where output tax is charged or 

input VAT is recoverable, the amounts are stated net of VAT.

1.15 Accounting Standards That Have Been Issued But Have Not Yet Been Adopted

The DHSC GAM does not require the following IFRS Standards and Interpretations to be applied in 2018-19. These 

Standards are still subject to HM Treasury FReM adoption, with IFRS 16 being for implementation in 2020-21, and 

the government implementation date for IFRS 17 still subject to HM Treasury consideration.

● IFRS 16 Leases – Application required for accounting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2019, but not yet 

adopted by the FReM: early adoption is not therefore permitted.

● IFRS 17 Insurance Contracts – Application required for accounting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2021, 

but not yet adopted by the FReM: early adoption is not therefore permitted.

● IFRIC 23 Uncertainty over Income Tax Treatments – Application required for accounting periods beginning on or 

after 1 January 2019.

The application of the Standards as revised would not have a material impact on the accounts for 2018-19, were 

they applied in that year.

8
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2. Other Operating Revenue

2018-19 2017-18

Total Total

£'000 £'000

Income from sale of goods and services (contracts)

Non-patient care services to other bodies 2,528 2,664

Other Contract income 426 591

Total Income from sale of goods and services 2,953 3,255

3. Revenue

Disaggregation of Income - Income from sale of good and services (contracts)

Non-patient 

care services 

to other bodies

Other 

Contract 

income

£'000 £'000

Source of Revenue

NHS 2,450 73

Non NHS 77 353

Total 2,527 426

Timing of Revenue

Point in time 2,527 426

Total 2,527 426

4.1 Employee benefits 2018-19 2017-18

Total Total

£'000 £'000

Employee Benefits

Salaries and wages 4,470 4,115

Social security costs 412 414

Employer Contributions to NHS Pension scheme 523 515

Other pension costs 1 0

Apprenticeship Levy 10 9

Termination benefits 7 0

Gross employee benefits expenditure 5,423 5,053

4.2 Average number of people employed

2018-19 2017-18

Total Total

Number Number

Total 114 106

Administration revenue is revenue received that is not directly attributable to the provision of healthcare or 

healthcare services.

Revenue in this note does not include cash received from NHS England, which is drawn down directly into the 

bank account of the CCG and credited to the General Fund.

The CCG operates one segment in respect of commissioning healthcare services.

Revenue is totally from the supply of services. The clinical commissioning group receives no revenue from 

the sale of goods.
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4. Employee benefits and staff numbers (cont.)

4.3 Pension costs

Past and present employees are covered by the provisions of the two NHS Pension Schemes.  Details of the 

benefits payable and rules of the Schemes can be found on the NHS Pensions website at 

www.nhsbsa.nhs.uk/pensions.  Both are unfunded defined benefit schemes that cover NHS employers, GP 

practices and other bodies, allowed under the direction of the Secretary of State for Health in England and 

Wales. They are not designed to be run in a way that would enable NHS bodies to identify their share of the 

underlying scheme assets and liabilities. Therefore, each scheme is accounted for as if it were a defined 

contribution scheme: the cost to the NHS body of participating in each scheme is taken as equal to the 

In order that the defined benefit obligations recognised in the financial statements do not differ materially from 

those that would be determined at the reporting date by a formal actuarial valuation, the FReM requires that “the 

period between formal valuations shall be four years, with approximate assessments in intervening years”. An 

4.3.1 Accounting valuation

A valuation of scheme liability is carried out annually by the scheme actuary (currently the Government Actuary’s 

Department) as at the end of the reporting period. This utilises an actuarial assessment for the previous 

accounting period in conjunction with updated membership and financial data for the current reporting period, and 

is accepted as providing suitably robust figures for financial reporting purposes. The valuation of the scheme 

liability as at 31 March 2019, is based on valuation data as 31 March 2018, updated to 31 March 2019 with 

summary global member and accounting data. In undertaking this actuarial assessment, the methodology 

prescribed in IAS 19, relevant FReM interpretations, and the discount rate prescribed by HM Treasury have also 

The latest assessment of the liabilities of the scheme is contained in the report of the scheme actuary, which 

forms part of the annual NHS Pension Scheme Accounts. These accounts can be viewed on the NHS Pensions 

website and are published annually. Copies can also be obtained from The Stationery Office.

4.3.2 Full actuarial (funding) valuation

The purpose of this valuation is to assess the level of liability in respect of the benefits due under the schemes 

(taking into account recent demographic experience), and to recommend contribution rates payable by 

employees and employers. 

The latest actuarial valuation undertaken for the NHS Pension Scheme was completed as at 31 March 2016. The 

results of this valuation set the employer contribution rate payable from April 2019. The Department of Health and 

Social Care have recently laid Scheme Regulations confirming that the employer contribution rate will increase to 

20.6% of pensionable pay from this date. 

The 2016 funding valuation was also expected to test the cost of the Scheme relative to the employer cost cap 

set following the 2012 valuation. Following a judgment from the Court of Appeal in December 2018 Government 

announced a pause to that part of the valuation process pending conclusion of the continuing legal process. 

For 2018-19, Hastings & Rother CCG's gross employers’ contributions of £857,216 were payable to the NHS

Pensions Scheme (2017-18: £853,049) at the rate of 14.38% of pensionable pay. The costs net of and including

recharges are shown in the NHS pension line of note 4.1. 
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5. Operating expenses

2018-19 2017-18

Total Total

£'000 £'000

Purchase of goods and services

Services from other CCGs and NHS England 1,296 1,174

Services from foundation trusts 50,402 48,720

Services from other NHS trusts 155,214 149,231

Purchase of healthcare from non-NHS bodies 31,074 34,502

Purchase of social care 569 894

Prescribing costs 33,937 36,215

General Ophthalmic services 59 57

GPMS/APMS and PCTMS 32,503 32,132

Supplies and services – clinical 8 2

Supplies and services – general 11,258 12,313

Consultancy services 1,230 693

Establishment 554 510

Transport 46 89

Premises 1,701 777

Audit fees * 48 40

Other professional fees 237 177

Legal fees 35 383

Education, training and conferences 265 164

 Total Purchase of goods and services 320,436 318,073

Depreciation charges

Depreciation 32 19

Total Depreciation charges 32 19

Provision expense

Provisions (3) (51)

Total Provision expense (3) (51)

Other Operating Expenditure

Chair and Non Executive Members 290 345

Total Other Operating Expenditure 290 345

Total operating expenditure 320,755 318,386

The CCG contract with external auditors BDO includes the term that BDO's aggregate liability for all 

services of whatever nature whether in contract, tort or otherwise, shall not exceed £1million.

* Audit Fees excluding VAT are £36,000 for 2018/19.
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6. Better Payment Practice Code

Measure of compliance 2018-19 2018-19 2017-18 2017-18

Number £'000 Number £'000

Non-NHS Payables

Total Non-NHS Trade invoices paid in the Year 15,878 98,884 18,028 107,435

Total Non-NHS Trade Invoices paid within target 15,679 96,515 17,900 104,786

Percentage of Non-NHS Trade invoices paid within target 98.7% 97.6% 99.3% 97.5%

NHS Payables

Total NHS Trade Invoices Paid in the Year 2,735 215,121 2,709 204,910

Total NHS Trade Invoices Paid within target 2,719 214,783 2,688 204,470

Percentage of NHS Trade Invoices paid within target 99.4% 99.8% 99.2% 99.8%

7. Operating Leases

7.1 As lessee

7.1.1 Payments recognised as an Expense 2018-19 2017-18

Buildings Buildings

£'000 £'000

Payments recognised as an expense

Minimum lease payments 1,584 589

7.1.2 Future minimum lease payments 2018-19 2017-18

Restated

Buildings Buildings

£'000 £'000

Payable:

No later than one year 99 127

Between one and five years 153 147

After five years 0 0

Total 252 274

The Better Payment Practice Code has a target for CCGs to aim to pay all invoices by the due date or within 30 days 

of receipt of a valid invoice, whichever is later. Compliance is achieved if at least 95% of all invoices are paid within 

30 days or by the due date.

Hastings & Rother CCG occupies property owned and managed by NHS Property Services Ltd. Whilst our 

arrangements with NHS Property Services Ltd fall within the definition of operating leases, the rental charge for future 

years, including void spaces, has not yet been agreed. Consequently, this note includes only the annual amount of 

rent and does not include future minimum lease payments for these arrangements beyond one year.
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8. Property, plant and equipment

2018-19

Plant & 

machinery

Information 

technology Total 

£'000 £'000 £'000

Cost or valuation at 01 April 2018 148 482 630

Additions purchased 0 50 50

Cost/Valuation at 31 March 2019 148 532 680

Depreciation 01 April 2018 148 413 561

Charged during the year 0 32 32

Depreciation at 31 March 2019 148 445 593

Net Book Value at 31 March 2019 0 86 86

Purchased 0 86 86

Asset financing:

Owned 0 86 86

2017-18

Plant & 

machinery

Information 

technology Total 
£'000 £'000 £'000

Cost or valuation at 01 April 2017 148 442 590

Additions purchased 0 40 40

Cost/Valuation at 31 March 2018 148 482 630

Depreciation 01 April 2017 148 394 542

Charged during the year 0 19 19

Depreciation at 31 March 2018 148 413 561

Net Book Value at 31 March 2018 0 69 69

Purchased 0 69 69

Asset financing:

Owned 0 69 69

8.1 Economic lives

Information technology 1 3

Minimum 

Life (years)

Maximum 

Life (Years)
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9.  Trade and other receivables 31 March 2019 31 March 2018

£'000 £'000

NHS receivables: Revenue 3,630 7,812

NHS prepayments 667 665

NHS accrued income 495 332

Non-NHS and Other WGA receivables: Revenue 932 2,133

Non-NHS and Other WGA prepayments 695 418

Non-NHS and Other WGA accrued income 114 543

VAT 18 3

Other receivables and accruals 2 0

Total Trade & other receivables 6,553 11,906

9.1 Receivables past their due date but not impaired 31 March 2019 31 March 2018

£'000 £'000

By up to three months 641 5,219

By three to six months 164 532

By more than six months 735 187

Total 1,540 5,938

10. Cash and cash equivalents

2018-19 2017-18

£'000 £'000

Balance at 01 April 2018 103 106

Net change in year 122 (3)

Balance at 31 March 2019 225 103

Cash with the Government Banking Service 225 102

£473,519 of the amount above has subsequently been recovered post the statement of financial 

position date.
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31 March 2019 31 March 2018

£'000 £'000

NHS payables: Revenue 3,303 3,175

NHS accruals 6,012 7,292

Non-NHS and Other WGA payables: Revenue 3,445 1,571

Non-NHS and Other WGA accruals 19,394 21,732

Non-NHS and Other WGA deferred income 32 8

Social security costs 106 102

Tax 95 87

Other payables and accruals 314 454

Total Trade & Other Payables 32,701 34,421

12.   Provisions

31 March 2019 31 March 2018

£'000 £'000

Legal claims 0 3

Continuing care 93 93

Total 93 95

Continuing 

Care Legal claims Total

£'000 £'000 £'000

Balance at 01 April 2018 93 3 95

Reversed unused 0 (3) (3)

Balance at 31 March 2019 93 0 93

Expected timing of cash flows:

Within one year 93 0 93

11. Trade and other payables

Other payables include £230,792 outstanding pension contributions at 31 March 2019 (£352,247 at 31 

March 2018).

The Continuing care provision relates to 322 individual claims received whilst the CCG has been in operation. 92 of 

these cases required no further action either on request of the family or through no response. The remaining 230 cases 

have all been assessed of which 53 have been found eligible for Continuing Healthcare. We have now settled all eligible 

cases, with any over provision being reversed as unused. The only provision remaining is for those cases found not 

eligible where there is a possibility of appeal. All amounts are based on a weighted share split between the 3 East 

Sussex CCGs.

Under the Accounts Direction issued by NHS England on 12 February 2014, NHS England is responsible for accounting 

for liabilities relating to NHS Continuing Healthcare claims relating to periods of care before establishment of the clinical 

commissioning group. However, the legal liability remains with the CCG. The total value of legacy NHS Continuing 

Healthcare provisions accounted for by NHS England on behalf of this CCG at 31 March 2019 is £0.6m.

15



NHS Hastings & Rother CCG - Annual Accounts 2018-19

13. Financial instruments

13.1 Financial risk management

13.1.1 Credit risk

13.1.2 Liquidity risk

13.2 Financial assets

31 March 2019 31 March 2018

Financial Assets 

measured at 

amortised cost

Financial Assets 

measured at 

amortised cost

£'000 £'000

Trade and other receivables with NHSE bodies 3,980 7,586

Trade and other receivables with other DHSC group bodies 144 559

Trade and other receivables with external bodies 1,046 2,676

Other financial assets 2 -

Cash and cash equivalents 225 102

Total 5,399 10,923

13.3 Financial liabilities

31 March 2019 31 March 2018
Financial 

Liabilities 

measured at 

amortised cost

Financial 

Liabilities 

measured at 

amortised cost

£'000 £'000

Trade and other payables with NHSE bodies 2,621 370

Trade and other payables with other DHSC group bodies 6,693 10,096

Trade and other payables with external bodies 22,840 23,303

Other financial liabilities 314 454

Total 32,468 34,223

Due to the short-term nature of the financial instruments, the carrying value approximates their fair value.

Because the majority of the NHS clinical commissioning group and revenue comes parliamentary funding, NHS clinical 

commissioning group has low exposure to credit risk. The maximum exposures as at the end of the financial year are in 

receivables from customers, as disclosed in the trade and other receivables note.

NHS clinical commissioning group is required to operate within revenue and capital resource limits, which are financed 

from resources voted annually by Parliament. The NHS clinical commissioning group draws down cash to cover 

expenditure, as the need arises. The NHS clinical commissioning group is not, therefore, exposed to significant liquidity 

risks.

Financial reporting standard IFRS 7 requires disclosure of the role that financial instruments have had during the period 

in creating or changing the risks a body faces in undertaking its activities.

Because NHS clinical commissioning group is financed through parliamentary funding, it is not exposed to the degree of 

financial risk faced by business entities. Also, financial instruments play a much more limited role in creating or changing 

risk than would be typical of listed companies, to which the financial reporting standards mainly apply. The clinical 

commissioning group has limited powers to borrow or invest surplus funds and financial assets and liabilities are 

generated by day-to-day operational activities rather than being held to change the risks facing the clinical commissioning 

group in undertaking its activities.

Treasury management operations are carried out by the finance department, within parameters defined formally within 

the NHS clinical commissioning group standing financial instructions and policies agreed by the Governing Body. 

Treasury activity is subject to review by the NHS clinical commissioning group and internal auditors.
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14. Related party transactions

Payments 

to Related 

Party

Amounts 

owed to 

Related 

Party

Receipts 

from 

Related 

Party

Amounts 

due from 

Related 

Party

Payments to 

Related 

Party

Amounts 

owed to 

Related 

Party

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Dr Milan Radia (GP Member) - Integrated Family Healthcare
958 143

Dr Milan Radia (GP Member) - Partner Beaconsfield Surgery
2,102 3 2,604 239

Dr David Warden (CCG Chair) - Partner Collington and 

Ninfield Surgery 1,477 1 2,664 261

Dr David Warden (CCG Chair) - Integrated Community Care 

(ICC) Gp at a member of Federation of practices 240 15 236 21

Dr Rob McNeilly (GP Member) - Member of Rother 

Healthcare Federation 69 17 76 3

Dr Rob McNeilly (GP Member) - Partner Robertsbridge 

(Oldwood) Surgery 1,078  (1) 1,762 151

Dr Binodh Bhaskaran (GP Member) GP at Little Common 

Surgery 3,207  6,265 571

Linda Parker (GP Member) - Beaconsfield Surgey
2,102 3  

Rose Durban (Governing Body Lay member) - Interim 

Director of Children's services at Surrey County Council until 

30/4/18  32 (34) 

Dr Craig Namvar (GP Member) - Principal GP Hastings Old 

Town Surgery 3,311 271

Dr Craig Namvar (GP Member) - Shareholder of Integrated 

Family Healthcare Ltd 278

Dr Susan Rae (GP Member) - Partner Silver Springs Medical 

practice 1,839 164

Brighton & Sussex University Hospitals NHS Trust South East Coast Ambulance Service NHS Foundation Trust

East Sussex Healthcare NHS Trust Sussex Community NHS Foundation Trust

Maidstone & Tunbridge Wells NHS Trust Sussex Partnership NHS Foundation Trust

Guy's & St Thomas' NHS Foundation Trust Queen Victoria Hospital NHS Foundation Trust

Kent Community Health NHS Foundation Trust King's College Hospital NHS Foundation Trust

East Kent Hospital NHS Foundation Trust NHS South, Central & West Commissioning Support Unit

South Central Ambulance NHS Foundation Trust University College London Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust

East Sussex County Council NHS Pension Scheme

NHS Property Services Ltd

The Department of Health is regarded as a related party. During the year the clinical commissioning group has had a significant number of 

material transactions with entities for which the Department is regarded as the parent Department. The NHS organisations listed below are 

those where transactions over the year 2018/19 have exceeded £500,000:

In addition, the clinical commissioning group has had a number of material transactions with other government departments and other central 

and local government bodies. Transactions with other bodies over the year which have exceeded £500,000:

2017/182018/19

Details of related party transactions with individuals are as follows:

During the year none of the Department of Health Ministers or parties related to any of them, has undertaken any material transactions with 

the clinical commissioning group. The table below records related party transactions with organisations where Governing Body members of 

the CCG have declared an interest.

A related party is someone who has significant influence over the CCG or is a member of the key management personnel of the CCG. This 

note provides details of any significant transactions that related parties, or their relations or any bodies that they may control, have undertaken 

with the CCG (shown above) and any outstanding balances with them. All transactions recorded between the CCG and the organisations with 

which the Governing Body members are associated have been undertaken at arms-length using national tariff or local tariff where national 

tariff does not apply.
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15. Financial performance targets

NHS Clinical Commissioning Group have a number of financial duties under the NHS Act 2006 (as amended).

NHS Clinical Commissioning Group performance against those duties was as follows:

2018-19 2018-19 2017-18 2017-18

Target Performance Target Performance

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Expenditure not to exceed income 326,344 326,178 313,297 323,439

Capital resource use does not exceed the amount specified 

in Directions 50 50 50 40

Revenue resource use does not exceed the amount 

specified in Directions 323,390 323,225 310,042 320,184

Capital resource use on specified matter(s) does not exceed 

the amount specified in Directions 0 0 0 0

Revenue resource use on specified matter(s) does not 

exceed the amount specified in Directions 0 0 0 0

Revenue administration resource use does not exceed the 

amount specified in Directions 4,064 4,044 4,030 4,027

The CCG has recorded an underspend of £166k against its in year revenue resource limit target for 2018-19 (£10.1m 

overspend for 2017-18). This included receipt of £12m of Commissioner Sustainability Funding.
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